
-1- 

 

 
 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 

 
AGENDA 

 
November 20, 2023 

 
 

 All documents for public review are on file in the Planning Department located in 
City Hall at 303 East “B” St., Ontario, CA  91764 and on the city’s website at 

ontarioca.gov/Agendas/DAB  
 

MEETING WILL BE HELD AT 1:30 PM IN ONTARIO CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
LOCATED AT 303 East “B” St. 

  
Scott Ochoa, City Manager 
Scott Murphy, Executive Director, Community Development Agency 
Jennifer McLain Hiramoto, Economic Development Director 
James Caro, Building Official 
Rudy Zeledon, Planning Director  
Khoi Do, City Engineer 
Chief Michael Lorenz, Police Department 
Fire Marshal Paul Ehrman, Fire Department 
Scott Burton, Utilities General Manager 
Angela Magana, Community Improvement Manager 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Citizens wishing to address the Development Advisory Board on any matter that is not on the agenda 
may do so at this time.  Please state your name and address clearly for the record and limit your remarks 
to five minutes. 

 
Please note that while the Development Advisory Board values your comments, the members cannot 
respond nor take action until such time as the matter may appear on the forthcoming agenda. 
 
AGENDA ITEMS 
 



-2-

For each of the items listed below the public will be provided an opportunity to speak. After a staff report is 
provided, the chairperson will open the public hearing. At that time the applicant will be allowed five (5) minutes 
to make a presentation on the case. Members of the public will then be allowed five (5) minutes each to speak. 
The Development Advisory Board may ask the speakers questions relative to the case and the testimony provided. 
The question period will not count against your time limit. After all persons have spoken, the applicant will be 
allowed three minutes to summarize or rebut any public testimony. The chairperson will then close the public 
hearing portion of the hearing and deliberate the matter. 

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 

A. MINUTES APPROVAL

Development Advisory Board Minutes of October 16, 2023, approved as written.

PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

B. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE
NO. PDEV23-004: A public hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct a 2,900 square-
foot drive-thru restaurant (Farmer Boys) on 0.83 acres of land, located at 950 North Haven Avenue,
within the Commercial land use district of the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific
Plan. The environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in conjunction with an
Amendment to the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan, for which an Addendum
to the Ontario Center Specific Plan Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No.
198941009) was adopted by the City Council on April 19, 2022. This application introduces no
new significant environmental impacts. The proposed project is located within the Airport
Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with
the policies and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APN:
0210-531-23) submitted by HHI / Farmer Boys.

1. CEQA Determination

No action necessary – use of previous Addendum to an EIR

2. File No. PDEV23-004  (Development Plan)

Motion to Approve / Deny

C. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE
NO. PDEV23-023: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct a 42,500-square-foot
addition, 5,500-square-foot interior remodel and extensive exterior façade improvement to an
existing commercial building on 19.23 acres of land located at 4105 East Inland Empire Boulevard,
within the Garden Commercial land use district land use district of The Ontario Center Specific
Plan. The environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in conjunction with The
Ontario Center Environmental Impact Report - No. 88-2 (State Clearinghouse No. 1989041009),
certified by the City Council on March 19, 1991. This application introduces no new significant
environmental impacts. The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of
Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and
criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APN: 0210-205-12)
submitted by Steve La Bruna, Rightt Structures, Inc.

1. CEQA Determination

No action necessary – use of previous EIR



 
 

-3- 

2. File No. PDEV23-023 (Development Plan)  
 

Motion to Approve / Deny 
 

D. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 
NO. PDEV21-011: A public hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct 9 work/live units 
that consists of 252 square feet of ground floor commercial and 1,892 square feet of residential on 
the upper 2 levels of a mixed-use development on 0.48 acres of land within LUA-2N (Arts District- 
North) of the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed Use) zoning district located at 413 West Emporia Avenue. 
The project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-fill Development Projects) of the CEQA 
Guidelines. The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of 
the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APN: 1049-059-03) submitted 
by JWDA-MS Architects. Planning Commission action is required.  

 
1. CEQA Determination    

 
No action necessary – Exempt:  CEQA Guidelines Section § 15332  
       

2. File No. PDEV21-011  (Development Plan)  
 
        Motion to recommend Approval/Denial 
 
E. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV22-033: A hearing to consider a Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-033) to construct 
77 multiple-family dwellings, on 1.41-acres of land, for property located at 1749 E. Fourth Street 
within the HDR-45 (High Density Residential - 25.1 to 45.0 du/ac) zoning district. The project is 
categorically exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-Fill Development Project) of the CEQA Guidelines.  The 
proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and 
was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario International 
Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APNs: 108-551-01, 108-551-34 and 108-551-35) 
submitted by Mike Ascione - Ambitus-Ontario 1LP. Planning Commission action is required. 

  
1. CEQA Determination    

 
No action necessary – Exempt:  CEQA Guidelines Section § 15332  
       

2. File No. PDEV22-033  (Development Plan)  
 
        Motion to recommend Approval/Denial 
 
F. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV23-013: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct one industrial building 
totaling 534,373 square feet on 23.88 acres of land located on the west side of Mill Creek Avenue 
approximately 300 feet south of Chino Avenue within Planning Area 2C (Light Industrial District) 
of the Rich Haven Specific Plan. The environmental impacts of this project were previously 
reviewed in conjunction with the Rich Haven Specific Plan Amendment (File No. PSPA22-001), 
for which an Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2022100425) was certified 
by the City Council on June 20, 2023. This application introduces no new significant environmental 
impacts. The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International 
Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario 
International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. (APN: 218-161-18). submitted by Brookcal 



 
 

-4- 

Ontario LLC. Planning Commission  action is required. 
 

1. CEQA Determination    
 
No action necessary – use of previous EIR 
       

2. File No. PDEV23-013  (Development Plan)  
 
        Motion to recommend Approval/Denial 
 
G. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV23-015: A hearing to consider a Development Plan (File No. PDEV23-015) to construct 
one industrial building totaling 1,165,630 square feet on 49.47 acres of land located at 1945 East 
Merrill Avenue, on the northwest corner of Merrill Avenue and Carpenter Avenue, within the 
Industrial land use district of the Merrill Commerce Center Specific Plan. The environmental 
impacts of this project were previously reviewed in conjunction with the Merrill Commerce Center 
Specific Plan, for which an Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2019049079) 
was certified by the City Council on February 2, 2021. This application introduces no new 
significant environmental impacts. The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence 
Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies 
and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. The project site is 
also located within the Airport Influence area of Chino Airport and was evaluated and found to be 
consistent with the policies and criteria of the Chino Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APNs: 
1054-511-01 & 1054-511-02) submitted by Prologis LP. Planning Commission action is 
required. 

  
1. CEQA Determination    

 
No action necessary – use of previous EIR 
       

2. File No. PDEV23-015  (Development Plan)  
 
        Motion to recommend Approval/Denial 
 
H. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV23-038: A hearing to consider a Development Plan Modification (File No. PDEV23-
038) to File No. PDEV22-014, to increase the height of Building B from 5 to 6 stories, increase 
building square footage from 221,730 to 387,598 square feet, and increase the unit count from 112 
to 201 units, located on 2.37 acres of land located at 4000 Ontario Center Parkway, within the 
Mixed-Use land use district of the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan. The 
environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in conjunction with an Amendment 
to the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan (File No. PSPA21-001), for which and 
Addendum to the Ontario Center Specific Plan Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse 
No. 198941009) was adopted by the City Council on April 19, 2022. This application introduces 
no new significant environmental impacts. The proposed project is located within the Airport 
Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with 
the policies and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APNs: 
0210-205-01) submitted by Adept Development. Planning Commission action is required. 

 
1. CEQA Determination    

 
No action necessary - use of previous Addendum to an EIR 
 

      





CITY OF ONTARIO 

Development Advisory Board 

Minutes 

October 16, 2023 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 

Rudy Zeledon, Chairman, Planning Department 
Khoi Do, Engineering Department 
David Bucholtz, Community Improvement 
Charity Hernandez, Economic Development Agency 
Paul Ehrman, Fire Department  
Christy Stevens, Municipal Utilities Company  
Heather Lugo, Police Department  

BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT 

James Caro, Building Department 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT  

Gwen Berendsen, Planning Department 
Diane Ayala, Planning Department 
Jamie Richardson, Planning Department 
Raymond Lee, Engineering Department 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

No person from the public wished to speak. 

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 

A. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Motion to approve the minutes of the October 2, 2023 meeting of
the Development Advisory Board was made by Mr. Do; seconded by Ms. Hernandez; and approved
unanimously by those present (7-0).

PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

B. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT, TENTATIVE TRACT MAP, AND DEVELOPMNET
PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE NOS. PMTT22-024 (TTM 20487) AND PDEV22-037: A public
hearing to consider Tentative Tract Map No. 20487 (File No. PMTT22-024) to subdivide
approximately 33.05-acres of land into 5 numbered lots for clubhouse/recreation area, and
residential and commercial land uses  in conjunction with a Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-
037) to construct 508 apartment units located at the southwest corner of Archibald Avenue and
Ontario Ranch Road, within Planning Areas 17, 18 and 19 of the Parkside Specific Plan. An
Addendum to the Parkside Specific Plan (File No. PSP03-002) Environmental Impact Report
(SCH# 2004011008) certified by the City Council on September 5, 2006, was prepared. This

Item A - 1 of 3



Development Advisory Board Minutes 
October 16, 2023 
 

Application introduces no new significant environmental impacts. The proposed project is located 
within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to 
be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use 
Compatibility Plan. The project site is also located within the Airport Influence area of Chino 
Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Chino 
Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APNs: 0218-231-10, 0218-231-11, 0218-231-15, 0218-231-
16, 0218-231-31, 0218-231-13, 0218-231-23, 0218-231-24, 0218-231-32, 0218-231-34, 0218-231-
36, 0218-231-42, 0218-231-47, 0218-231-48 and a portion of 0218-073-06; submitted by SC 
Ontario Development Company, LLC. Planning Commission action is required. 

 
Mr. Zeledon opened the public hearing. 
 
Sage McCleve with SC Ontario Development Company, LLC was present.  
 
Mr. Zeledon asked if he had reviewed and accepted the Conditions of Approval. 
 
Mr. McCleve stated he agreed to the COA’s, but was still working with Fire regarding conditions 4.9, 4.10 
which would be stricken and the language for 4.6. 
 
Senior Deputy Fire Chief Ehrman agreed that they would strike Fire conditions 4.9 and 4.10 and the 
language for 4.6 would address the different fire alarm types per project types.  
 
As there was no one wishing to speak on this item, Mr. Zeledon closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion to recommend approval of an Addendum and File Nos. PMTT22-024 and PDEV22-037, subject 
to conditions, was made by Mr. Ehrman; seconded by Ms. Lugo; and approved unanimously by those 
present (7-0). 
 
C. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMNET PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV22-029: A hearing to consider a Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-029) to construct 
a park on approximately 16 acres of land generally located east of the Cucamonga Creek Channel, 
west of Archibald Avenue and adjacent to East Grand Park Street and East Griffith Court, within 
Planning Area 21 of the Parkside Specific Plan. An Addendum to the Parkside Specific Plan (File 
No. PSP03-002) Environmental Impact Report (SCH# 2004011008) certified by the City Council 
on September 5, 2006, was prepared. This Application introduces no new significant environmental 
impacts. The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International 
Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario 
International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. The project site is also located within the 
Airport Influence area of Chino Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the 
policies and criteria of the Chino Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APNs 0218-063-06 and a 
portion of 0218-063-07); submitted by SC Ontario Development Company, LLC. Planning 
Commission action is required. 

 
Mr. Zeledon opened the public hearing. 
 
Sage McCleve with SC Ontario Development Company, LLC was present and agreed to the Conditions of 
Approval as written. 
 
As there was no one wishing to speak on this item, Mr. Zeledon closed the public hearing. 
 

Item A - 2 of 3



Item A - 3 of 3



Page 1 of 22 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV23-004 

DESCRIPTION: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct a 2,900 
square-foot drive-thru restaurant (Farmer Boys) on 0.83 acre of land, located at 950 North 
Haven Avenue, within the Commercial land use district of the Piemonte Overlay of the 
Ontario Center Specific Plan. (APN: 0210-531-23); submitted by HHI / Farmer Boys. 

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

HHI / FARMER BOYS, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has filed an 
application requesting approval of a Development Plan, File No. PDEV23-004, as 
described in the subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" or 
"Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 0.83 acres of land located at 950 North 
Haven Avenue and is depicted in Exhibit A: Project Location Map, attached. Existing land 
uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning designations, and specific plan land uses on 
and surrounding the Project site are as follows: 

Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Site: Vacant Mixed Use -  Ontario 
Center 

Piemonte Overlay of 
the Ontario Center 

Specific Plan 
Commercial 

North: 

City of 
Rancho Cucamonga: 

Offices, Vacant & 
Industrial 

City of 
Rancho Cucamonga: 
Industrial Park (0.40 – 

0.60 FAR) 

City of 
Rancho Cucamonga: 
Industrial Park (0.40 – 

0.60 FAR) 

N/A 

South: Vacant & Offices Mixed Use -  Ontario 
Center 

Ontario Center Specific 
Plan 

Urban Commercial 
(Piemonte Overlay of 

the Ontario Center SP) 

East: Multiple-Family 
Residential 

Mixed Use -  Ontario 
Center 

Piemonte Overlay of 
the Ontario Center 

Specific Plan 
Urban Residential 

West: Office & Multiple-Family 
Residential 

Mixed Use -  Ontario 
Center 

Piemonte Overlay of 
Ontario Center Specific 
Plan and R.H. Wagner 

Properties Specific Plan 

Garden Commercial  
and Urban Residential 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

November 20, 2023 

Item B - 1 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 22 

PROJECT ANALYSIS:  
 
(1) Background — On June 15, 2020, the Development Advisory Board approved the 
Development Plan, File No. PDEV17-016, to construct a neighborhood shopping center 
(The Collection) located on the southeast corner of Haven Avenue and Fourth Street. The 
project approval consisted of six buildings totaling 85,583 square feet that included a 
restaurant pad with a drive-thru facility. 
 
On January 19, 2022, the Development Advisory Board approved a Development Plan, 
File No. PDEV21-013 to revise the previously approved Development Plan, File No. 
PDEV17-016. The Development Plan revision increased the total shopping center square 
footage from 85,583 to 101,163 square feet, while maintaining the six buildings and a 
restaurant pad with a drive-thru. The site plan for the shopping center included the 
following: one 55,000-square-foot market (Stater Bros. Market) with an attached 9,950-
square-foot wing of multi-tenant shops, a 4,088-square-foot convenience store (7-Eleven) 
with fuel sales, and four stand-alone multi-tenant pad buildings totaling 31,690 square 
feet (Pads 2, 3, 5, and 6), and a stand-alone restaurant pad with drive-thru facility (Pad 
4). 
 
On February 16, 2023, the Applicant submitted a Development Plan application (File No. 
PDEV23-004) to construct a 2,900 square-foot drive-thru restaurant (Farmer Boys) on Pad 
4 of the shopping center. 
 
(2) Site Design/Building Layout — The proposed Farmer Boys will occupy an 0.83-acre 
site (Pad 4) at The Collection shopping center. The fast-food restaurant building is located 
within the northwest quadrant of the shopping center, oriented in an east-west 
configuration, with the front entrance facing north toward the parking lot and the drive-
thru pick-up window facing south (see Exhibit B: Site Plan, attached). 
 
The building is setback approximately 20 feet from the west property line (Haven 
Avenue), approximately 485 feet from the south property line (Concours Street), 
approximately 430 feet from the east property line, and approximately 215 feet from the 
north property line (Fourth Street). Parking for employees and customers has been 
provided immediately to the north and east of the building. 
 
The entrance to the drive-thru is located at the northwest corner of the building and will 
circulate from north to south, turning toward an east direction and terminating along the 
southern building elevation. The Project provides drive-thru lane stacking for 6 vehicles. 
 
The building’s main entrance is located on the north elevation of the building facing the 
parking lot and a second entrance, facing west, located near the southwest corner of 
the building. Walkways will be located along the west, north, and east portions of the 
building, providing pedestrian connections to the main entrance. The drive-thru order 
menu board is located to the west of the building and the pick-up window is located on 
the south elevation of the building. The floor plan has been designed with the dining area 
occupying the western half of the building and the kitchen/employee area/bathroom 

Item B - 2 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 22 

occupying the eastern half of the building (see Exhibit C: Floor Plan, attached). Outdoor 
seating will be provided immediately west of the proposed building and occupies an 
area that is approximately 600 square feet in size, facing Haven Avenue. 
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — The Project site is located within a commercial shopping 
center located on the southeast corner of Haven Avenue and Fourth Street that is 
currently under construction. The Development Plan (File No. PDEV21-013) facilitated the 
construction of internal private streets, common drive aisles and street improvements 
along Haven Avenue, Fourth Street, and Concours Street. 
 
Vehicular circulation throughout the shopping center is provided by a series of two-way 
drive aisles that provide access to all proposed buildings and throughout all parking fields. 
A drive aisle that runs north-south along the shopping center’s east property line provides 
delivery truck access to the major tenant building. 
 
Pedestrian circulation is provided throughout the shopping center site, which connects 
each building within the development. Additionally, a number of pedestrian pathways 
have been provided that connect to the shopping center’s perimeter along Fourth 
Street, Haven Avenue, and Concours Street, which will encourage and promote 
pedestrian mobility through the site. 
 
Primary access to the Project site is from Haven Avenue, via a shared driveway which is 
provided mid-block, between Fourth Street and Concours Street, and will be limited to 
right in/right out. There are two additional vehicular access points on the northern portion 
(Fourth Street) and southern portion (Concours Street) of the shopping center. The 
northern access of the shopping center is from Fourth Street by a signalized full access 
driveway. The southern access of the shopping center is from Concours Street by a full 
access driveway that aligns with the driveway across the street and is shared with the 
adjoining property to the east. 
 
(4) Parking — As shown in the Parking Summary Table, below, the Project is required 
to provide a minimum of 21 off-street parking spaces pursuant to the off-street parking 
standards specified in the City’s Development Code. The Project proposes to provide a 
total of 47 off-street parking spaces, exceeding the minimum off-street parking 
requirements, as shown in the table below. In addition, the minimum off-street parking 
requirement for the shopping center is 532 spaces. A total of 592 parking spaces have 
been provided, providing an excess of 60 parking spaces overall. 
 

Parking Summary Table 

Type of Use Building 
Area (in SF) Parking Ratio Spaces 

Required Spaces Provided 

Fast Food Restaurants 

2,900 SF 
 13.3 spaces per 1,000 SF of GFA. 39 47 

145 LF of 
drive-thru lane 

One space for each 24 lineal feet 
of drive-thru lane behind the 

pickup window (credit) 
-6 0 

Item B - 3 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 22 

Parking Summary Table 

Type of Use Building 
Area (in SF) Parking Ratio Spaces 

Required Spaces Provided 

TOTAL   33 47 

 
(5) Architecture — A contemporary building design has been proposed to provide 
consistency with the previously approved shopping center, incorporating stucco exterior 
walls in combination with various accent walls clad in stone veneer and metal siding 
having a wood appearance, Greenscreen trellis panels, prefabricated metal canopies, 
color blocking, clear vision glazing set in a clear anodized storefront system, and 
decorative accent lights. The Applicant has proposed a development that embodies 
the type of high-quality architecture promoted by the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario 
Center Specific Plan and the Development Code’s design guidelines for commercial 
developments. This is exemplified through the Project’s use of: 
 
 Significant articulation in the building footprint, which correspond to vertical 

changes in the planes of exterior walls; 
 Main entrance defined by enhanced architectural elements; 
 A mix of exterior finishes/materials and architectural detailing, including the 

incorporation of stucco walls in combination with the liberal use of cultured stone 
veneers, decorative metal panels, and color blocking used to define changes in 
wall planes; 

 Varied building massing, incorporating multiple changes in plane in exterior 
building walls; and 

 Varied roof elements/forms, incorporating significant changes in roof and parapet 
lines. 

 
(6) Landscaping — The landscape improvements for the Project were approved in 
conjunction with the approved Development Plan (File No. PDEV21-013) for the shopping 
center. The approved shopping center landscape plan included substantial landscaping 
the full length of the Fourth Street, Haven Avenue, and Concours Street frontages, 
throughout off-street parking areas, and throughout stormwater retention areas, for an 
overall landscape coverage of 22.6 percent (120,634 square feet). A variety of accent 
and shade trees in 15 gallon, 24-inch, 36-inch, and 48-inch box sizes were included to 
enhance the shopping center. Decorative paving and lighting at vehicular entries, 
pedestrian walkways, and other key locations throughout the shopping center are 
provided. 
 
(7) Signage — All project signage is required to comply with sign regulations provided 
in Ontario Development Code Division 8.1. Prior to the issuance of a Building Permit for 
the installation of any new on-site signage, the Applicant is required to submit Sign Plans 
for Planning Department review and approval. 
 
(8) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available to serve 
the Project. Furthermore, the Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan ("PWQMP"), 

Item B - 4 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 22 

which establishes the Project's compliance with storm water discharge/water quality 
requirements, was approved through the previously approved Development Plan (File 
No. PDEV21-013). The PWQMP included site design measures that capture runoff and 
pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and maximizes low impact 
development ("LID") best management practices ("BMPs"), such as retention and 
infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes the use of 
vegetated swales and detention basins, and underground infiltration systems designed 
to accept runoff from building roofs, parking lots, and Project driveways. Any overflow 
drainage will be conveyed to the public street by way of parkway drains and culverts. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: The subject application was advertised as a hearing in at least one 
newspaper of general circulation in the City of Ontario (the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin 
newspaper). 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Decision, Planning Department staff has 
not received any written or verbal communications from the owners of properties 
surrounding the project site or from the public in general, regarding the subject 
application. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the decision-making body for the Project, the Development Advisory 
Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. 

Item B - 5 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 22 

COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Maintain the Current High Level of Public Safety 
 Operate in a Businesslike Manner 
 Pursue City's Goals and Objectives by Working with Other Governmental 

Agencies 
 Focus Resources in Ontario's Commercial and Residential Neighborhoods 
 Invest in the City's Infrastructure (Water, Streets, Sewers, Parks, Storm Drains 

and Public Facilities) 
 Encourage, Provide or Support Enhanced Recreational, Educational, Cultural 

and Healthy City Programs, Policies and Activities 
 Ensure the Development of a Well Planned, Balanced, and Self-Sustaining 

Community in the New Model Colony 
 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 

 
Land Use Element: 

 

Item B - 6 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 22 

 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 
price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

Item B - 7 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 22 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-1.2 Place Types. We establish Place Types in urban, mixed use, and 
transit-oriented areas to foster the City's identity as a premier community and require new 
development within each Place Type to incorporate prescribed urban patterns, forms, 
and placemaking priorities. 
 

 CD-1.3 Existing Neighborhoods. We require the existing character of viable 
residential and non-residential neighborhoods be preserved, protected, and enhanced. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 

Item B - 8 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 22 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 
physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Surface parking: Shade trees, pervious surfaces, urban run-off capture 
and infiltration, and pedestrian paths to guide users through the parking field; 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 

• Garage parking: providing access to single-family residential garages 
through alley access, recessing garages from the frontage to emphasize front doors or 
active living spaces. 
 

 CD-2.11 Entry Statements. We encourage the inclusion of amenities, 
signage, and landscaping at the entry to neighborhoods, commercial centers, mixed 
use areas, industrial developments, and public places that reinforce them as uniquely 
identifiable places. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented Place Types: Vibrant urban 
environments that are organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit areas, 
public plazas, and linkages between and within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all hours. 
 

 CD-3.2 Comfortable, Human-Scale Public Realm. We require that public 
spaces, including streets, parks, and plazas on both public and private property be 

Item B - 9 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 22 

designed to maximize safety, comfort and aesthetics and connect to the citywide 
pedestrian, vehicular, and bicycle networks. 
 

 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 
commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

 CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure. We collaborate with developers and 
property owners to facilitate development that realizes the envisioned character and 
functionality of the Place Type through the use of green and shared infrastructure within 
each Place Type. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The project is consistent with the Housing Element of 
the Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not 
one of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 
(Housing Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
 
 

Item B - 10 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 22 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in 
conjunction with an Amendment to the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific 
Plan, for which an Addendum to the Ontario Center Specific Plan Environmental Impact 
Report (State Clearinghouse No. 198941009) was adopted by the City Council on April 
19, 2022; and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the Certified EIR, which concluded that implementation of the Project could result in a 
number of significant effects on the environment and identified mitigation measures that 
would reduce each of those significant effects to a less-than-significant level; and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the previous EIR Addendum, which concluded that implementation of the Project could 
result in a number of significant effects on the environment and identified mitigation 
measures that would reduce each of those significant effects to a less-than-significant 
level; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City's "Local Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental 
assessment in situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately 
analyzed; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and act on the subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 

Item B - 11 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 22 

criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 20, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a 
hearing on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the decision-making 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation. Based upon the facts and 
information contained in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation, the 
DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in conjunction 
with an Amendment to the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan, for 
which an Addendum to the Ontario Center Specific Plan Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 198941009) was adopted by the City Council on April 19, 2022. 
 
(2) The previous Certified EIR contains a complete and accurate reporting of the 
environmental impacts associated with the Project; and 
 
(3) The previous Certified EIR was completed in compliance with CEQA and the 
Guidelines promulgated thereunder, and the City of Ontario Local CEQA Guidelines; and 
 
(4) The previous Certified EIR reflects the independent judgment of the Planning 
Commission; and 
 
(5) The proposed Project will introduce no new significant environmental impacts 
beyond those previously analyzed in the previous Certified EIR, and all mitigation 
measures previously adopted with the Certified EIR, are incorporated herein by this 
reference. 
 

Item B - 12 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 22 

SECTION 2: Subsequent or Supplemental Environmental Review Not Required. 
Based on the information presented to the DAB, and the specific findings set forth in 
Section 1, above, the DAB finds that the preparation of a subsequent or supplemental 
Certified EIR is not required for the Project, as the Project: 
 
(1) Does not constitute substantial changes to the Certified EIR that will require major 
revisions to the Certified EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; 
and 
 
(2) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(3) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(4) Does not contain new information of substantial importance that was not known 
and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time 
the Certified EIR was certified/adopted, that shows any of the following: 
 

(a) The Project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the 
Certified EIR; or 

 
(b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe 

than shown in the Certified EIR; or 
 
(c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible 

would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
of the Project, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or 

 
(d) Mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those 

analyzed in the Certified EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
on the environment, but which the City declined to adopt. 
 

SECTION 3: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the decision-making body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 

Item B - 13 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 22 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 and 3, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the 
Mixed Use - Ontario Center land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the 
Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan. The development standards and 
conditions under which the proposed Project will be constructed and maintained, is 
consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General 
Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan; and 
 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 
Project has been designed consistent with the applicable requirements of the City of 
Ontario Development Code and the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific 
Plan, including standards relative to the particular land use proposed (drive-thru fast-food 
restaurant), as-well-as building intensity, building, and parking setbacks, building height, 
number of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-site and off-site landscaping, and 
fences, walls, and obstructions; and 
 
(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure that: 
[i] the purposes of the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan are 
maintained; [ii] the Project will not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; 
[iii] the Project will not result in any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will 
be in harmony with the area in which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full 
conformity with the Vision, City Council Priorities and Policy Plan components of The 
Ontario Plan, and the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan; and 
 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Piemonte Overlay of the 
Ontario Center Specific Plan that are applicable to the proposed Project, including 
building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, amount of off-street 
parking and loading spaces, parking lot dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle 
parking, on-site landscaping, and fences and walls, as-well-as those development 
standards and guidelines specifically related to the particular land use being proposed 

Item B - 14 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 22 

(drive-thru fast-food restaurant). As a result of this review, the Development Advisory 
Board has determined that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the 
conditions of approval, will be consistent with the development standards and guidelines 
described in the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby APPROVES the 
Application subject to each and every condition set forth in the Conditions of Approval 
included as Attachment A of this Decision and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify, 
and hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any 
claim, action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or 
employees to attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall 
promptly notify the applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of 
Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of November 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 

Item B - 15 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 22 

 
Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 

 

Item B - 16 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 22 

Exhibit B: SITE PLAN 

 

Item B - 17 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 22 

Exhibit C: FLOOR PLAN 

 

Item B - 18 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 22 

Exhibit D: ELEVATIONS 

 

Item B - 19 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 22 

Exhibit D: ELEVATIONS 

 

Item B - 20 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 22 

Exhibit E: LANDSCAPE PLAN 
  

Item B - 21 of 81



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-004 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 22 of 22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item B - 22 of 81



 

Page 1 of 4 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
Date Prepared: 11/8/2023 
 
File No: PDEV23-004 
 
Related Files: PDEV21-013 
 
Project Description: A Development Plan to construct a 2,900 square-foot drive-thru restaurant 
(Farmer Boys) on 0.83 acres of land, located at 950 North Haven Avenue, within the Commercial 
land use district of the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan. (APN: 0210-531-23); 
submitted by HHI / Farmer Boys. 
 
Prepared By: Jeanie Irene Aguilo, Associate Planner 

Phone: 909.395.2418 (direct) 
Email: jaguilo@ontarioca.gov 

 
 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 
 
1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 
 
2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 
 

2.1 Time Limits. 
 

(a) Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years following 
the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and construction is 
commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has been approved 
by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time limits specified 
herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, for the 
performance of specific conditions or improvements. 
 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

 
(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency, 

including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 
and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 

Item B - 23 of 81



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: Click here to enter file # 
 
 

Page 2 of 4 

 
(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 

plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for project, which shall be maintained on site during project 
construction. 
 

2.3 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department; 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 
 

2.4 Walls and Fences. All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements 
of Ontario Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 
 

2.5 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and 
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). 
 

(b) All drive approaches shall be provided with an enhanced pavement 
treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the approach apron, into the site, 
to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space. 

 
(c) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 

parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

 
(d) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 

shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

 

Item B - 24 of 81



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: Click here to enter file # 
 
 

Page 3 of 4 

(e) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 
by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 

 
(f) Bicycle parking facilities, including bicycle racks, lockers, and other secure 

facilities, shall be provided in conjunction with development projects pursuant to current 
regulations contained in CALGreen (CAC Title 24, Part 11). Final design and placement of bicycle 
parking facilities shall be subject to Planning Department review and approval. 
 

2.6 Site Lighting. 
 

(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security 
lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.08 (Special Residential Building 
Provisions) and Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial Building Provisions), designed to 
confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall be lighted from sunset until sunrise, 
daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 
 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity, 
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 
 

2.7 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 
 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning 
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated so as to be consistent with the 
building architecture. 
 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks, 
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 
 

2.8 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 
 

2.9 Signs. All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations). 
 

2.10 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code 
Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 
 

2.11 Environmental Requirements.  
 

(a) If human remains are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 
 

Item B - 25 of 81



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: Click here to enter file # 
 
 

Page 4 of 4 

(b) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 
 

2.12 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

2.13 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of 
Determination (“NOD”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be 
paid by check, made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded 
to the San Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable 
environmental forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (“CEQA”). Failure to provide said fee within the time specified will result in the extension of the 
statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 180 days. 

 
(b) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 

building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 

 
2.14 Final Occupancy. The Project Architect of record will certify that construction of 

each building site and the exterior elevations of each structure shall be completed in compliance 
with the approved plans. Any deviation to approved plans shall require a resubmittal to the 
Planning Department for review and approval prior to construction. The Occupancy Release 
Request Form/Architect Certificate of Compliance shall be provided prior to final occupancy. 
After the receipt of this Certification, the Planning Department will conduct a final site and exterior 
elevations inspection. The Owner’s Representative and Contractor shall be present. 
 

2.15 Additional Requirements. 
 

(a) All applicable conditions of approval of the related Development Plan (File 
No. PDEV21-013) shall apply to this project. 

Item B - 26 of 81



Item B - 27 of 81



OMUC Utilities Engineering Condition of Approval for PDEV23-004 
Page 1 of 2 

S:\Engineering\Land Development\Project Files\PDEV\2023\PDEV23-004\Comments from OMUC\2nd Comments - approved\PDEV23-004 DPR#3 
(#9519) UE COA.docx 

 

 CITY OF ONTARIO 
 MEMORANDUM   

 

DATE: September 18, 2023 

  
TO: Jeanie Irene T. Aguilo, Planning Department   
 Angela Truong, Engineering Department 
  
FROM: Peter Tran, Utilities Engineering 
  
  

SUBJECT: DPR #3 – Conditions of Approval (COA) - Utilties Comments(#9519)   
  
PROJECT NO.: PDEV23-004 

 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION 
A Development Plan to construct a 2,900 square-foot drive-thru restaurant (Farmer Boys) on 0.83 acres of land, located at 950 
North Haven Avenue, within the Commercial land use district of the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan (APN: 
0210-531-23). Related Files: PDEV21-013 and PDEV17-016.

 

OMUC UTILITIES ENGINEERING DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: The Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) Utilities Engineering Division 
recommends this application for approval subject to the Conditions of Approval outlined below and compliance with the 
City’s Design Development Guidelines, Specifications Design Criteria, and City Standards. The Applicant shall be 
responsible for the compliance with and the completion of all the following applicable Conditions of Approval prior to the 
following milestones and subject to compliance with City’s Design Development Guidelines, Specifications Design 
Criteria, and City Standards: 
 

1. Standard Conditions of Approval: Project shall comply with the requirements as set forth in the Amendment to the 
Standard Conditions of Approval for New Development Projects adopted by the City Council (Resolution No. 2017-
027) on April 18, 2017, or as amended or superseded by Council Resolution; as well as the project-specific 
conditions/requirements as outlined below. 
 

Prior to Issuance of Any Permits (Grading, Building, Demolition and Encroachment), unless other 
timeline milestones are specified by individual conditions below, the Applicant Shall:  

General Conditions (Section 2.A, Other conditions): The Applicant shall comply with the following: 

2. Final Utilities Systems Map (USM): Submit a Final Utilities Systems Map (FUSM) as part of the precise grading plan 
submittal that meets all the City’s USM requirements. These requirements include to show and label all existing and 
proposed utilities (including all appurtenances such as backflow devices, DCDAs, etc.), sizes, points of connection, 
and any easements. The final utility design shall comply with all Division of Drinking Water (CCR §64572) Separation 
Requirements. See Utility Systems Map (USM) Requirements document for details. 

a. The proposed utilities, utility alignments, and Public Rights-of-Way/Public Utility Easements shown on the 
Conceptual Utilities Systems Map (CUSM) and other Entitlement documents are not considered final and 
shall be revised during Final Design to meet all City Design Guidelines, Standards, City Requirements, and all 
of the Conditions of Approval contained in this document.  

EXHIBIT A - OMUC Conditions of Approval

Item B - 28 of 81



OMUC Utilities Engineering Condition of Approval for PDEV23-004 
Page 2 of 2 

S:\Engineering\Land Development\Project Files\PDEV\2023\PDEV23-004\Comments from OMUC\2nd Comments - approved\PDEV23-004 DPR#3 
(#9519) UE COA.docx 

3. Inherited Requirements and Conditions of Approval: This project is subject to all the Requirements and Conditions of 
Approval from the Ontario Center Specific Plan (PSP-16-003), File No. PDEV17-016 – Decision No. DAB20-028.  

Sanitary Sewer Conditions (Section 2.C): The Applicant shall comply with the following: 

4. Sanitary Sewer Mains Improvements:  

a. N/A. 

5. Private Onsite Sewer System and Plumbing: The Onsite Sewer System shall be privately maintained by the property 
owner and shall meet the following requirements: 

a. For wastewater flows for non-residential uses: 

i. The Onsite sewer system and building plumbing shall be designed in such a way that the sanitary 
domestic wastewater flows leave the building separately from non-sanitary wastewater flows 
(industrial, process, or kitchen, etc.) and the line for non-sanitary wastewater flows can be upgraded 
in the future to have pretreatment equipment and devices on it, as required by a Wastewater 
Discharge Permit. 

ii. Each building and each connection from the Onsite Sewer System to the Public Sewer System shall 
have an onsite monitoring manhole prior to the point of connection with the Public Sewer System.  

b. Private Onsite Sewer and Storm Water Quality Improvements: No storm water quality improvements 
(infiltration, detention, retention, bioswale, etc) shall be installed above or with 5 feet of any Private Onsite 
Sewer pipes. 

6. Wastewater Discharge: For Non-Residential Uses: each Occupant of the building, or units, as applicable, shall apply 
for a Wastewater Discharge Permit for their Establishment, and shall comply with all the requirements of their 
Wastewater Discharge Permit. Requirements of Wastewater Discharge Permit may include, but not limited to include 
installing a monitoring manhole, clarifier, interceptor, or other wastewater pretreatment equipment. 

a. Grease Interceptor: Construct one grease interceptor for the proposed fastfood restaurant.    

Potable Water Conditions (Section 2.D): The Applicant shall comply with the following: 

7. Potable Water Main Improvements: N/A 

 

 

Item B - 29 of 81



MAY-10-2006 16 01 FRDM ENGINEERING ADMIN 909-395-2121 TD 909 395 2288 P 002 016 --- --J

a

ONTARIo

ENGlNEERIN
lDEPARTMENT CONDITIONS
OFAPPROY ALo

DEVELOPMENT PARCEL MAPo TRACT MAP PLAN
D

FOR CONDOMINIUM PURPOSES DEVELOPMENT

PLANNO AND

OR TENTATIVE

MAPFILE NO PM 17550 D

ORIGINAL REVISED 227 06 CITY

PROJECT ENGINEER PHONE DEAN AWILLIAMS ASSOCIATE-

ENGINEER 909 395 2135 7-
CHUCK MERCIER SENIOR
PLANNER 909 395 2425

FEBRUARY 15 2006

CITY PROJECT PLANNER

DATE

REVIEWED BY

PIEMONTE ONTARIO CENTER 32

PARCEL MIXED USE SUBDIVISION

WITHIN THE ONTARIO CENTER

SPECIFIC PLAN
BOUNDED BY FOURTH ST ON
NORTH MILLIKEN AVE ON EAST

CONCOURS ON SOUTH AND

VEN AVE ON WEST

ATT NIDEVElOPMENT
o PAN I VINE CA

- l- zg

Db

DatePROJECT NAME

DESCRIPTION

LOCATION

APPLICANT APPROVED BY l--
U

Jb Date Last Revised

12006

Item B - 30 of 81



909-395-2121 TO 909 395 2288 P 003 016 MAY 10-200616 01 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN PARCEL MAP NO

17550 rROJ ENGR D
Wit1j o m DATEFcblJ

ty 272006 i C J

I

l

f
ONLY APPLICABLE

CONDITIONS

ARE CHECKED THE APPLICANT AND OR APPLICANT S REPRESENTATIVE SHALL BE

RESPONSIBLE FOR THE COMPLETION OF ALL APPLICABl E CONDITIONS PRIORTO

FINAl MAP RECORDATION ISSUANCE of CONSTRUCTION PERMITS AND OROCCUPANCY

AS SPECIFIED IN THIS REPORT IZI102

1 03IZI

1 04

gI 1 05

IZI 1 06

IZI 1 07

IZI 1 0B

18I 1 09

8J 1 10

Dedicate the fallowing

right-of-way in locations listedbelow 1175feet on

portion of frontages oftent ltiV8 p rceI12 and tentatve rcels 2122and 30 for construction of proposed

Event CenterWay Public streetArAmendment toOntario Center Specific Plan and

325 feet half width altho west en ranco portIon oftentative parcel 12 See TentatIve

Parcel Map No 17550IComer PL radius required

at Intersectionof Conco rsand proposed Ewnt CenterWay ast and west ond9 Dedicate or

reserve thefollowing

pJblic utility easementsand emergencyaccesa easements 0 1Fullwidth Public Utility
easemonts for water recycled waterandsewer shall bededicated to theCity 01

Ontariowl hln the private streets Inthe s bdlvislon currently designated as StreetsIIAIIB

1Cand 011 of the Plemonte at Ontario Conter Project Amendment to the Ontario Center
Specific Plan February 20062105ft

sidewalk and ullllty easements on proposed Event Center Way north sldoof street only public Slreet A

Soe Tentative Parcel Map No 17550 Restrict vehicular access as follows

01Access to parcels 1lhru
9 onthe south side of Fourth Street east af Haven Avenue shall be limited toone

1 rightlnlrlghtout drive approach located wl hln the easterlymost 200 feetof parcol

6The parcelS In that quadrant shan have the necessary rae lprocal accee rights

ZAccesstoparcels 1

thru 9on the east side 01 Haven Avenue shall belimIted to one 1right In right out drive

approach located approximately 500 to650 feetsouth of the centerline of Fourth Street or

as approvod by theCity Engineer3 Th Developer Applicant shall
deed restrict all parcels fronting Concours Haven Avenue andor Fourth St

etfrom taking any additionalwhicular acce from said frontage roads andthose specific

acc eS8 points private Street AIIfBjand tiC Identified In
tho Plemon et

Ontario Center Prolect Amendrnenttothe Ontario Center Speclflc Plan February 2006and

these conditions ofapproval Va cate thefollowing street
Ofeasement 01The entrance Intersection to

what wa formerly proposed aDuesenburg OriveepproxlmatelY 750 foot eastof

the centerllnll ofHaven Avenue adjacent totentative pllrcels9and10 uniess

thIs entry is to beutllil edas an approach toa private driveor street Vacatod right of way

shouldrvertlo tentative parcel 10 Provide and recorda reciprocal

use agreement to assure common Ingress and egre sand jolot 0 maintenance of all common access
parkingareas and drives providea copyofI

roposed Covenants Condition9 and Restrlctlonas applicable tothe project to the 0 City Engineer to be reviewed
and approved by tho City Attorney Tiee CCR s sMII ensure among other things common ingress and

egress joint maintenance ofall common ac eS5 parking srea51 utilRies end drives as applicable

tothe project Prepareafully executed Subdivision

Agreement on City approved format and forms with 0 accompanying gecurityas required or complete
all publiC Improvements ProvideaMonumentation bondi

ecash depositin an amount calculated by tl eCitis approved cost 0 estimate spreadsheet available lor download
onthe City s webslle www cl onta do ce usJ or asspoclfied in writing by the

applicant Registered Englnp or or Lieen edLandSurveyor of Record and approved by the City Engineer

whichever Is greater Provideapreliminary title report

not older than30 days0This subdivision Is within 1M
existing assessment districts as listed below An application for 0reapportionment of assessment together with

paymal llofa reapportionment processingfee mlJst beLLtRc Vi

Cd120 06po go2orl5

Item B - 31 of 81



909-395-2121 TO l09 395 2288 -L P

004
016 MAY-10-2006 1601 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN ----PARCL

MAP NO SSO PROJ ENGR
DWilliAm DATE FcbnUlry
21 2006 i 8J

111 o 1

12 o 1

13 i 8J

114 GENERAL 2

01

0 2

02 0 2

03 8J 2

04 0 2

05 XI 2

06 207 XI

2

08 L st

Revised ----

----- F

--

IIireapportionment ofassessment together with paymant01a reapportionment processing fae
must be filed for each assessment district pHor to final map approval Contact Mark lassler In
theGeneral Services Department at 909 395-2124 regarding thisrequirement Community Facilities District
No 5Zone

A Tha property owner shall be responsible for all costs associated with the annual operation and
0mintenance 01 the streetlighting traffic signal lacillties and appurtenances that serve this
property ThIs property shall beannexed toaStmet Llghllng Maintenance Assessment DistrictA Consent
and Waiver to Annaxallonagreo ment exeouled by all the record owner s 01 the property together
with payment 01anannexation processing fee of 2500 00 must be flied w htho City prior to the

Issuance of a Building Permit or Final Subdivision Map Lot Une Adjustment approval whichever OCcurs
flrst Contact Mark lassler In the General Services Department at 909 395-2124 regarding this

requiremont

NMC Developmants Prior to Clly Council approval of any Final Map or if no subdivision map Is

required then prior to Issuance of any penm s a Community Facilities District CFO shall be
established pursuant to the Mello-Roos Community Facllllles District Actof 1982 The CFD shall be eslabllshed
upon the subject property toprovide funding lorvarious City services An ennual special lax
shall be levied upon each pame or lot In an amount to be determined The special tax will be collecto

dalong with annual property taxesTho Cityshall be the sole and exclusive lead agency In the formation
of the CFD contact MarlLa lerIn the General Services Departmentat909 395-2124 Well Site

ACity well site Is required as pert of this project Unless otherwise approved by the 0 Enginoering Dapartment
said slle shall cons stof a minimum 10 000 squam feet 01 land area Applicant shall

show the location of the well site as well 85 easements for access water malns1 and drain lines

If required on the sito plan The locallon of the well site should be discussed wlth the Utilities Departmo

nt prlorto preparlng aFinal parcellTract Map Other Conditions

01 The
Developer Applicant shall raservea3D foot wide Ingress gres easementoverthe Target

slta tentatlva parcel 31or othar mOans ofaccoss In favor of the City of Ontario for

access tothewell site currentl under constructionadJaconttotentative parcel 31

as Identlfled on the tentative parcel map Contact Mr Uday Shah at tha Public Works

Agonc at 909395-2657 for peclflc detells Record Parcel Map

No 17550 pursuant to the Subdivision Map Actand in accordance with City Code0 Provide a duplicate
photo mylarofthe recorded map to theCity Engineer s office TheSUbject site

isa recognized parcel per0The 9ubject parcel

may bean unrecognl ed parcel andwill require asubdivision map to beprocessed 0 unle99a deed
can be supplied showingtheoxiSltence ofthe parcel prior to the data af The project will

require a subdivision map to be procossed and this devalopment plan shall only0 proceed to the
Dl3velopment Advisory Board DABconcurrently with the required subdivision map This project requires

a Certl cate of Compliance with Record ofSurvey Lot Line Adjustment 0 DedicatIon of Easement
to be processed All required plans

and studios shall be prepared by a Registered Professional EngineerIntheState of 0 Calilornia and submitted
tothe City Engineer for review and approval Provide acopy

of proposed Covenants Conditions and Restrlcllons asapplicable tothe project to the0 City Engineer to
be reviewed and approved bytheCity Attorney These CCR s shall ensure among othertl1lng5

common ingressand egress Joint maintenance of all common access parking areas utilitIes and drives

as applicable to the project For all work

within publiC right-ol-way the applicant shall obtain an Encroachment Peoml Prior 10 Issuallceof thispermit all

public Improvement plans which Include bllt are not limited 10street wator S9wer storm drain

recycled water lighting signing and striping etc shall be1121 06 Pllge 3

of15o

Item B - 32 of 81



909-395-2121 TO 909 395 2288 P 005 016 MAY-10-2006 1602 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN PARCBL MAP NO 17550

PROlNOR D
WilliamDA tEFeblU8ry 27

2006gJ209 181

2 10 gJ

2 11 o

2 12 2

13 o 2

14 181

2 15 t8

J 2 16

f2J2 17 --

-- --

-

-

-----
-

-- -----I

c--1Pjto revlewQd and approved by the City EngnrAll associated
fesand securities shall be balled upon completed Engineering Cost
Estimate forms pproved by the Englnearlng Departmanl Forms are availablefor download from theCity swebsKe

al www cl ontarlo IJulIn lieuofconstructing the required public Improvements an agreement
and se urity in an amount 0 acceptable to the City Engineer may be submitted
to guamntee proper construction of 1M public Improvements Allsecurity must beacceptable toCity
Attorneysoffice pursuant to Govemment Code

Section 611499 and CllysSubdivision Ordinance Applicanl shall pay all applicable Developmanllmpact
Fees OIF to the Building Department 0 All exlstlng stmet and property monuments within or abuWng
thisproJecl Bileshall be preserved0consistent with 0 81414Ifduring construction

of onslte or offslte Improvements monuments are damaged or destroyed the applicant shall relaln a licensed

land surveyor or civil engineer to reset those monuments per City s Standards and filethe

necessary

Information with the County Recorders office Detailed on-sKe utility information shall beshown on the grading
plan which includes bulls notllmiled 0tolocation of monitoring manholes backnow prevention devices

exact location of Jaterals etc The grading plan willnot be approvedby theEngineering Department

until this detailed ullllly

Informallon Is included ontheplans The applicant shall submit electronic files ieCAD fileon disc of
project related off-s improvement 0 plans These electronic files shall ocompany original mylars

orImprovement plans 10 be approved signedby the City Engineer Improvement plans will notbe approved

byIhe City Engineer If

not accompanied by CADfiles Estimated

sewer
and water

feeso IRIAIRIBCOLLECTED BY BUILDING

Capital Capacity Reimbursement

Account Fee Water Meter Fee
2-DOMESTIC @

325each 2 -IRRIGATION@ 325 eachConstruction Water Fee Basedon

Usage IRI C15DD DEPOSIT The efees will
be collected by the Building Depertment Fee shall bebased
onmeter size and quantity purchased Water Meter sizes shallbe

based on the peak water demand Submit asolis geology repert to the project engineer for review
and approval In accordancewith0 Government Code Section 66-4 345as

reqlJired bytheCity Engineer Other Agency Permit Approval Priorto Issuanceof
construction permits from the Engineering Department thisproject will require

a

permit

from tile
following agenciesooCaltranso

San Bernardino County Road DepartmentoSan ernerdlno County

Flood
Central DistrictS CFCD DFEMA oCucamonga Valley Water District

C lWD for SewerlWater service

DAnny CorpsofEngineer ACOE o

Califomla Department ofFish Game 8JCity

Dust Abatement Distrlcl BuildIng Department C8 OJSTrenching Permit If any trenches

are ovor5 ftdeep8JOther AgenCy

Inland EmpIre Utilities
Agency IEUA Other Conditions o tnllt Rc

iroed1I2006PR4o15

Item B - 33 of 81



PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS
Refer to altachedExhibit A for Plan Check Submltml Requirements
2 20 Design p rClly Standards fUll pUblic Improvements in accordance with CIIY Code Standards and

SpecificatIons andlor approved speclnc plan for tha area Suoh public improvements may include but
not be limited to the followln

FOURTHsTREET t HAVEN AVENUE ii CONCOURS1

IZI Curl Guttarl Crb Gutter Culll IMtilt i i i

o New ftfrom i D New It from J tJ S jj l li i
CIL - CII -No 1 mJ I il

lrJJI D Repla dainaQe 0Replace
damaged

IjTI Eipi c iTii d 1
I C Oi 1 C G H iCI dl IH j

1 IZI Remove existing0Remove existing ia1 mbe cilitlril1if driReplace retiirilU6 Relocate It cilnstillcliohliifiliite tiJ
11drtve approaches From CIl - QiI

WOIii

I i - 11r -1 1 yf l - oJ r
t4 I t DAC pavairient 0 AC pavement ffi

c

Jh iXI J
O I-

Il1 i Replac
ine nl II 0Replacemenl LJJRi ipla i

I1lihl 1J H io Widen --- 1 if1 1l11 0 Widen-add l rtliCTwid
iniii Nft ii ralong fronta e tncl along frontage Incl
atdntagenbiI JT pavemt ti-aiJ 160ns

pavamltran

mons Lojm p 1 lit
Uii jr8Jpee Drtve App achir8Jpce Drive Approech iI Cd

fJrl Oal hl Ii o New gJNew
jg NliW I-Io Replacement 0Replacement PRPI i Iij

int1 1 IZI Sidewalk IZI
SidewalkSidewall HI VI

IVIN 1 1
New NawW

Ii1 11o Replacemeht0Replacement g Rllp liocolmnl

ill iIZIHendleap Rall1P r8J Handicap Ramp lt8 ci I
rlF PilIVI IVI New t I f i

j W I New i f i

liIi o RePlaceme t 0Replaoementi ieprilbe r il

lJriI1 gJ Pkwy Tr1 gJ Pkwy Trees ljgJip1iTi r
1j 1111 Landscapl 1ii w rtlg Landscapingwi Irrlgianlleeariill

iII jrt 9iO Raised La1d
sc apedI

VIRAised LandSCAped h 11 l dla

jpC I LJ

1
t

I o

M
7 9

IZI
M t 7 J

-
tLl rl 1 i D Infill rn 1I jlITJ I

fll
iii iir D

I
lVRi J l

I
i ti l k

Relocate Relocate i i I

f -l iI 181 l i
vd l o

ii
Intervals as

needodlI 1 I WAloIServlcil
Y

I i ii
rTlIi J W j Malrl

1 r U I 81 i
I

rBici ld61
I sowerselce iIrt1IL b J

M ln I11 1 Ll tElraJ c

nnlojiii

Recyclewa t
iBrvlcB lElr aiCJI

alril MAY-10-2005 1502FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN 909-395-2121

P A CEL MAP NO r 7550
P OJ ENOR D William
DATE FcbruiJty 27 2006

1 See Recycled Waler Item No 2 54

181 Fire Hyd 30l ft
Intervals as needett

8J Fire Hyd 300 ft
intervals as needed

8j Water Service

o Main

IEI Lateral Conn ctlon

D Sawer Service

o Main

o Lateral

I2I RecyClo Water Service

IEI Maln COnnactlon
o Lateral

D WaturService

o Main

o Lateral

o Sewer SelIce

o Main

o Laleral

Recycle WOlter Service

gJ Main Crossl 9

o Lateral

LaMR vtsed 110106

10 909 395 2288
-

I

iieA

SPageS of

IS P 005

015o

Item B - 34 of 81



MAY-10-2006 16 02 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN PARCffi MAP

NO 17550 PROI
ENOR D William DA fE
Febl Ulry 272006 tI

oStorm

orilin oMeln

1 o
C

tchBil91I1 IZI Traf
le SlomIFaelllt oNew
y gJ

Modification

o Relocation

o Traffic

slgnln andHl
Slr1plng o

sus
Stop and otTIJi ri llltIo

Undergroiliid

rhdl UtllltiB8 1

o Removal

ofoOlherRaq

d ImrI-- -

EVENT CENTeRWA l f

Curb GUllot i i

gJ NeFJII ii
Improvoment both Mo of I

stre I

U Replace daagil4
C G

o Remove existing
Relocate -It

From CIl

-gJ AC

povament gJ N
constructio fullwidth of

streeto Widen -add I

Italong frontageI

riel pavomt Iran

lOn181pce DriveAppro
iich
gJNewo

Replacement gJSld

walk gJ

Newo
Replaoement gJHendlcBp

Ramp gJ

Newo
Replacement IZI Pkwy

Treesl Landscaping

wilrrlg oRaised
Landscaped Madlan

wllrrlg IZI Sllt

Lights gJNew InstallatIon

both Bld9

ofstreeto

Relocatei 8JFII ll Hyd 3DD

flLast RevIsed 1120

06 909-395-2121 TO 909 395 2288 P 007 016 ----
---

--------L

-lo
Storm Draino

MainoCatoh Basin

o Trame

Signal Facilities

o New

o ModlficallonoRelocation

gJ
Trame Signing And Stripingo
Bus

Stop andlor Turn-
out

o Underground Overhaad

Utilities o Removalof o Other R

qd

Imp s

CENTER AVENUE Curt Gutter
o

New Itfrom
ell o

Replace damagedC
G D
Remove existing

Relocate -flFrom

CIL-o
AC Pavement o Replacement o

Widen-add l
Itelong

frontage inol paveml transitions
o PCC

Drive ApproBch
o New

o Replaoemont

o Sidewalk
oNewo

Replacement o
Handicap Ramp

o Newo
Replacement o

Pkwy Trees Landscaping wllrrlg
oRBI

ed Landscaped Median
wllmg o

Street Lights

Dln 11o Relocate o

Fire

Hyd 3DD ft J Di Si Dr
ih

I 1 1 1 bJ II11 1I
WI MafTT

r
I

IIt I
L i L -

n n ih i itii iT
fI MI

r i l New

l1 1 I I

lMd jlki
1 I

i DR1 tl Iij1
1

CSlg nlng Bnd trlplAgij
j p lIlor 1

lrn o t nlq drn
u rou

dO
rh

d IIItltltles id em Yllilof rJ Iother R

q

dlri ps

--I i MILllKEN
V

ENUE curb ir I3 tt
I 0 I I

i-I IJJ New
Jf I J I

C I lt

11 Ii I l l

If1 1i 1
Ill

iLl Rp ce
afflegcs G
oReme

isting RerOOte it Frorri t t 0

ACP vei t 1il

i Ej Ri PI
l 1 i
- VJld r d JJ I 1

1I1l qgn I

FI i PeYe fllJ1
11loli I i

f ti Tr Tl EJpcc Drlve1ApprollcN I i
dmN H

1iJ Y
li 10 b p ij oI

I 11 r

0 1
I1 I

l dSld

IiI t i i I -

I
u New i- i l

ipll 0
ii

Y ij
1R p lacall1

I OCHandliiap
RiiiripiD

New iDRep
em nr JI PkWy

Tro eW-
Landseaplng wllii 1gloj OLRISI5Nid

La sril

BdI UedlAn

wtlr

lgo Stret
Ughwi OlnlI0

RatiDFlreHyOOftrtCiQfl5

Item B - 35 of 81



MAY-10-2006 16 03 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN PARCEL MAP

NO 17550 PROJ ENGR
DWU m DATE Pchru

Y27 2006 y2

21

2 22

o 2

23 o2

24 o 2

25 2 26

Intervals on

biJthadof street f
l Water Se

ic II r Main 1
Latetallboth ldil
of stret

8j Sewer

Servlce gIMain

gI Lateml

gI Recycle

Wat senilcio IVI
Mainy

161 LatemlbothiJ

i1- street
1 t -

I 1

Storm Drilln

181 Main

o Catch BSI
I8l Tlllffic Slgnll c I I INew ConcourilJ
I8l MOdlflCatlO Co lIraf
o Relocatl6n
I8l Traffic Signing an

Striping
181 Bu Slop and lirturri-outo

Undergroundb8 hd UlIlllles
o

Removal ofD

Other Reqd 1I1lp s I
r 909-395-21

1 Intorvals asneeded

oWater Service

o Maino

Laleral o
Sewer Service

o Maino

Laterel 8J

Recycle Water

Service gJMaino

Lateral o
Stann Drain

o Main o

Catch Basin

o Traffic Signal

Facilities oNewo

Modification o
Relocationo
Traffic Signing

and StripingoBus

Stop
and or Turn- out oUnderground

Overhead

UtilitiesoRemoval
of

o Other Req

d Imps TO 909 395

2288 P 008 016 J lr

-lntIlM

ii

iiIl 1Ml11 1j ir

c ii
i

r Lj- i IrrJW oi
sioNId i ti il I I r -
I 1

1 j
tt JMalnit iri H i m
J 1 I I Jl1iJLam 1 I l t l i I i i

i j I 1r 3 ti ii 1 1
j t

JlSj t 8riiit 1 1 I
ffij

MJln F
1

I l - i I l 1

j 1 c -I I
- I t l

-i
i

1 I i r i
JIia e IKOC i aer l

lI I
-

lh I 1 I nq I
I Oii -

-

1 1 1 1

I I I l h 1 -

1 rti l rl i tr iji

i M
L Yi1i l 1

I H
lil LJMaiAIJ I 1 -rafIr

l I icatc I

I B3il1il b J I
11

p jg i
jli lA N j I ftiJ Q

w i f
It l II

d I I t IMOdl1lCBuan IIjI
I-i -
I ii -j Ralodlllkln I7 l
V

ittJ irrajjli -Sig
l g

d TI Strl

ItIi I- png
-

-

I

DIIs StQindJr fUrl t-
I t Jl

jnd lrllr i i d idlWrh id

1 Y d Wvatq rI t i lii
i t2JbtlI8 R Hi ji 1p S l

11IJv YiIi

-I1SPECIFIC NOTES FOR IMPROVEMENTS LISTED IN ITEM220

Improvements conslruclOd tn proposed Event Center Way shallbe

constructed onthe northsideof

the street only unless othQlWlse noted As necessary tocomplete rurnainlng improvements Provlda all utility services to
each parcel InCluding sanitysewers one 1 minimum water service 0electric power gas talephone

and cableTV Ifapplicable All utilities are to be underground The following existing street being cut
for new service or being finished with curb and gutter may 0 require an asphalt

concrete overlay or slurry sealas determined bythe

City Engineer HeAvenue Concours Fourth Street Mllllkon Avenue and Center Avenue
The following exlsling streets pavement sections are substandard and will require 0 This propertyIwithin the 0
water 0 ewer service area 01 the Cucqmonga Valley Water District 0 CVWO Applicant 511all

make arrangements wl1I1 CVWD for those services and

provide the City with proofthat all CVWO fee have been paid Overhead utilities shall be under-grounded or in-lieu lees paid
Inaccordence withTitle 7 oftheCity s0MunicIpal Code Ordinance No

2804Said Improvements shall becompteted prior to BuildingPermit iS5lJ3r lCe and all costs associatllld

with said
Improvements shallbesolely borne bythoapplicant Other condition1

DoveloporlAppllcanl

shallcoordinate with SouthernCalifornia Edison Co to ensure

oLllltRcvilcd12006PDAc7ofI5

Item B - 36 of 81



909-395-2121 TO 909 395 228 P 009 016 MAY-10-2006 1603 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN PAll CEL MAP NO

17550PROJ ENOR D Wmi
mDATE Fobn y n

2006 eJls 23that

no

transformol

8

vaults or cabinetsof ony typo lrlllnatalled above groundonproposedEIonts Center

Way AnyInlldvert lntlnst lllatlon willbe requiradtll bo remolld and placed

undergroundat noosttothe City unless otherwlSD approl Dd bythoCityEnglnoer

Stroot improvoments maybe
completedInonJunctlon wltlt propO Qd dovelopment phase alongConcours and
Haven AIDnUe onil A1llmprowmonts hereinconditioned holl

beIn occordance with the Plemonteat Ont lrloCenter Project

Amendmentto thD Ontario Center Spe lflc Plan February 2008 oA Sewer
2

30
A 12-lnch
sewer line is avallablo for connection by this project InConcours BarcodelCheck When Comploto

11 Ref

Sowepi

b
Q

0 PUBLIC WORKS UTILITIESi 8I

231i

8I2 32 i

8I2 33 IZI

234 i8I

2 35 No

sewerline Is available

lor direct connection from the central corDof the subdivision The closest 0 lineIsapproximately 45D feet
away Applicants Engineer shell propere Improvement plens for sewer main extensions toprovide0
4minimum grade East-west streets shall have a minimum grade of 05 unless otherwise approved by

the City Engineer Applicant shall use existing laterals whenever

provided for connection tothe publicsewer system0On-site monitoring facilities shallbe Installed
for all commercial or Industrial units and shall be0 constructed In accordance with City Standard Drawing
Nos2008 through 2011 and shown on the Grading Plen for this project The project

siteIswithin a deficient

public sewer system area Applican shall submit eKpectec peak0 loading values totheCityalong with
sewer model results for the Impact totheexisting sewer system Based onthe results ofthemodel

a sewer upgrade may be required by the Cityother Conditions 1 Peveloper Appllcant shall construct

aminimum

B lnhsewer main as part of the full construction of proposed Event Center Way 2

Pel eloper Applicant ahall constructa
minimum B-Inchsewer main Ineach of the prll ate streets designated as St at A

andStreetCfrom the northerlyproperty line of the site connecting tothe main In

proposed EI ent Center Way and aminimum B- Inch sowsr main In the prll ate Street

9alao from the northerly propertyline Fourth Street connecting to proposed Event Center Way 3

Peveloper Applicant shall constructeminimum B-Inch
sewer mainInthe private StreetD fron private Street All to prltoStreet

liB andfrom prj tstt e@otcto prlv llStreet tlB 4 Sewersystem deflcl ncles ofthe

existing public

sewer system downstIBsm ofthe subdll lslon as Identlflsd by the sewer study by

AKMEngineers shall bocorrected by theOevBloper Appllcant tothe satisfaction of theCity
EngIneer priortoIs uance of first certificate of occlJpancy 5All of the above

conditioned sewer mains shall

be oubUc and so maintained6Allof the sewer Improl smonlS conditionedIn

shall be In accordence with thePlemonte at Ontnrio Center Project Amendment totlte Ontario

Cenler Specific Plan February 2D06o8J BWater240An

18-lnch water

line

is
a lallable
for connection by this project In Fourth Street anda 16-inch water line Isavailable for connoctlon In Concours Ref Weter Plan Dwg

Barcode lo241o2 42 IZI 2 43 o

No

water lineis

available fordirect

connoction Applicants

Engineer

hall prepare an Improvement0plan forewater main extension A main upgrading will be
required In order to provldo for

the required fireflow for this development0Applicant should contact the City of Ontario Fire DepartmentIora
Gearhart at909 395-2579 to0 Investigate possiblo alternellves to reduw the required fire fiow and locate on-site
flre hydranls as required L l-t Rcvi q120 06 Pl Igt8f

f

IS

Item B - 37 of 81



P 010 016MAY-10-2006 16 03 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN 909-395-2121 TO 909 395 2288 ---- --- ----

----------
P AReEL MAP NO
17550 PROJ 6NOR O

Willi DAmCb
27 2006 C Recycled Water250A recycled water main currenlly exists In the vicinity of thl project The

applicant 16 required to doslgn and aanstruct an onslta irrigation systam or ather authorized use
for this project Using pipes sprlnklers and ather flIUng speclflcaliy suited for recycled waterLa PIJrple pipes
flttlngsec per all applicable standards including City Ordlnence No 2689 -

Chapter 6C-Recycle waterueDepartment

of Health OHS and building plumbing codes A recycled water main does not exist in the vicinity of this project but
is planned for thenear futureDThe applicant athislher cost hall connect to therocycled
water main far approved usas when available In the Vicinity of the project The applicant Is required to
design end construct anonsne IrrI atlon systom or other authorlzeause for this project using
pipesl sprlnklels and other fittings specffiCBlly suited for recycled water Iepurple plpas fillings
etc per all applicable standands InCluding City Ondlnence No 2689 - Chapter 8e -

Recycle water use

Department of H

lthOHS andbuilding

plumbingcode 8J2

44 J 8J

2

45 J 8J

2 46

gJ2 47 81

o 2

512 52 I

8J2 53 254 l8J

2
55

LltRevl 1120 06 --111-Ollslto fire hydra nmara tobeInstalledatthe following locations At300

I oot Intervals typlClllly Backflow preventIon
devices will berequired fer 1 All commercial

industrial service laterals2Allon-sllefiresy tms3Any
business where any hazardQus substances maybe
stored Orused

4Fer ellrcycled water connections 5Irrlgalion Systems Applicant shallUse existing
laterals whenever

provided forconnection to the public waler syslem other Condftions 1Devaloper Appllcant Shall construct a
minimum 12lnch water ma n In each of the private streets designated asStreets
AI-8 etl andUP See seYlOr main alignments In Item No 235
abov North-south mains private Streets A andC

shall connect tosaid 18-lnch main In Fourth Street 2Developer Applicant shall construct aminimum
12-lnch water main aspartof the full construction of proposed Event
CentGr Way Connections shall bemQdo iiIIt Concours and narthsouth mains private Strests A
and C East-west water main Inprivate Street01 shall canneetto mill

In private StreetsrAII and e3DeveloperApplicants proposelto constructamlnlmum1Oo
nchnorth-south p lllwater main at the west endofthe site shall have
pUblic connectionsto

mains In Fourth Street and ConcolJrs4Allof the abov condltlonud water mains shall
bo public and 0 malntainod excepting the

one spacifisd In Item3abovs5Allof tha water Improvements condltlanud herein
shall beIn accordance with thePlemonte at Ontario Center ProJect Amendment

to the

Ontario
Center

Specific
Plan

February

2006 ooooDAill9ie connecUon is required torrecycled water useInlhe Immedla le vicinity
of public street Mght-of- D way The Applicant shall protect the Cltyspotable water supply from
crossconnection as per geCtion 6-ll 720 of City s Ondlnance no2689 Plens for connection in tho public rlght-of-way

andcroGS connection device will be submittedtothe Engineering Department for review

and approval Onslte plumbing forall recycled water uses shall meel all appllCllble standards Including DHS
and0building plumbin9 codes On91OO plans will need to be revidand approved by both
theBulldln9 Department and the Public
Works Agency Priorto Issu mceof theconSitruction permIt for recycled water connections toarecycled water main u
e0applicant shall prepare and submtt a Depanrnont ofHealth Services DHS report for
sample please contact Mr Uday Shah at909 395-2657 of our Public Works Department for the Citysreview
and approval The City will only Issue construction and or building pennlts after approving the
DHS

report Other Condlllons
0 1DlIvoloper AppliC81ot shall construct Rocycled Water main line minimum 12-lnch

extension In Milliken Avenue from Inland Empire Utility Agency s IEUA s regional line
at Fourth Stroot to the existing dry line in Concours In ConcDurs amInimum 8 lnch

PilfiC 90flS

Item B - 38 of 81



P 011 016MAY-10-2006 16 03 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN 09-395-2121 TO 09 395 2288 --IPARCEL

MAP

NO 17550 P ItOJ
ENGR DWilliAms DATE Febm
uy 272006 10

DSolid

Wast9 i1 - --
J

2 56 Applicant shall ensure that site complies with City refuse collection si ndards

Contact Joo PortolesSolid Waste Manager et S09 395-2552 for further information regarding this requirement

IZI

m

ln from the existing dry line west of Ferrari Lene toproposed eventCenter Way where
the size shall InDreaSe tominimum 12-lnch melncontinUing west cros lnHaven Avonue
to Conter Avenull theninCenter Avenueaminimum 12 fnch main connecllng to
IjUA reglonelllne In Fourth Street 2Ot

veloper Appllcantshdconstructaminimum 8-lnch main os pari ofthe full construction of proposed
Event Cenler Way IInd In private Street Aft from proposad EWlnts Conter Way
toFourlh Street private StreetCfrom propo d Event CenblrWay toprivate
Street 0 then west to connact In prll ilteStreet AThe 8o nch main Inprivate Street A
shallb utilized to service the median In Fourth Street In thefuiure 3 oeve operJAppllcont

shall provide sarvlces for connecting tho proposed Ontario EvetCenter to the
Recycled Watrsystam 4Flllrfleld Aperlment

complex currently under construction ontheellB side of Ouesonburg Drive hes
beenprevlously conditioned 10 constructaminimum8nch main from tholr
sitetoconneDt to tile main proposed In Concours Developer Applicantofthisproject
Penaltonl Development shall PllY reimburse the developer ofthe complx for

thecost of tha construction of themain fronting tentetive parcels 14and15of this subdivision
prlor toany permit Issuance for said parco Is5Allrecyclad

water Improvements conditioned hereinshallbeIn accordance wIth the Piemonbl at Ontario
Center prolact Amendment to the OntarloC nter Specific PlanFbruary 2008

8Note With
the ptlon of tentative parcols ofthis sUbdtvlslon elt undoveloped properties fronting the

recycled water main constructed asecondition horeln shall asacondItion of approval

altho time of their proposad development be requlrmtoplIy reimburse to Panattonl
Dvelopmenl one-hlllf 12 of Ihe cost of tha main along their frontagaIlI

r
I I f

LJ 1
D TRAFFIC

TRANSPORTATION

2

60
Any drtve
approaches or construction of other Improvements In the Caltrans rlgI1t- lf way shall beapproved by Caltrans as

totype sizeand location of the proposed Improvemento The applicant shaltprovide the City w11l1

acopy ofthe Caltrans penmit prior to Issuance ofEncroachment ParmltDD261

o

2 62 IZI

2 63 The

applicant is required

tosubmit a focused treffic impact stUdy The study shalt address eny or all of0the following Issues aa
required by the City Traffic Transportatlon Manager parking onand olf ite clrculetion and orbultd

out end future y ers traffic level of service LOS and Impact atlnterseotlons selecled by the City

Tne applicant shalt ConslJ1

lel all mltlgallon orpay falr nare coslS Identlnea Inme report as required by the City TralTicITransportation Man

gar When appropriate the traffic study shall also Identify Umelines for construction of requlr
d traffic mitigation andother public improvoments for phased or master planned developments The applicant

Is required

tosubmit a County of San Bernardino Congestion Menagement Plan Traffic0Impact Analysis CMP- TIA
In accordance with the lelest edition of the CMP document and to the sallsfactlon of the City

Trafficrrransportatlon Manager end the San Bernardino Association of Governments SanBAG The applicant

shall constJ1 lctall mitigation orpay fair-shere costs identified intl19 report and asrequired

by theCity TrafflcfTransportatlon Manager Other Conditions 01Dev

loper Appllcant sholl
complele thedesIgn and constructionoftho median and landscaping on Havon Avenue from

ConCQurs to Fourth Street 2Developer Applicant shall complel

l thadesign and constructionof streelllghling Inhe median double lights and east

side ofHN In Avenue slngla lightsfromConCOUI to Fourth Stroot 3 OeveloperlAppllcantshalldesign

and construct
trefllc signal modifications attheIntenmctlon9ofMercedes Lane

andproposod eVBnts Corder Way Cleveland Avenue ilnd FourthS1 reetand

the main proposed Target drive app achaod Fourth Street 4 D loperIAppllcant shall construct

full width street Improvements onproposed Event Center Way from Mercms

Laneal Conco rsto the drive approach appro lmately 700 LntRcvi lecl InOlO6

PafCC10 oft5

Item B - 39 of 81



P 012 016MAY-10-2006 16 04 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN 909-395-2121 TO 909 395 2288 -- ----------- -PARCEL

MAP NO 17550 PROJ
ENGR D Williams DATE
Fbro Y 27 2006 l

jt
It

5

D01l1 loprfAppllcBnt shall design And constl lcta new lrafflc signal system at the Intersection
ofproposad EventCenter Way and Concours aligned with the eKlstlng drive
approach approximately 700 feat west of Ferrari Lane G

Dalfelop rAppllcenl shall provld roclprocalaccassrights for tenlatlve parcels 11and 12
as well as other tentallvepal Cllls50 rI qulrlng saId rlghfto ensure adequale vehicular
andpedestrian clrclllatlon withintheproJect Soo Item No1 03 3 11

The devolopmant project On the somh sideofConcoursatthe firstdri approach eMtof
Haven Avenue willbe requlrod 10constructanew trafflc Ignal at thai location Dalfeloper
Appllcantofthis proJect Pana nllleYelopment shall provld amaintenance

and construcllon easementfor said traffic signal and also dll9 gn and complete
the necessary traffic signal modlflClltlonllonthe north sideof the Intersection
when conlltructlon onthe north Sid commenc ee8

Developer ApPlicant shall completaall other tl linllportatlonlIligatlon measures identified

Inthe final approved adoptedPlemonteatOntario Center Project Amendment
tothe Ontario Specific Plan February 20069

Developer Applicantshall design and constructanew traffic signal system atIhe Intemectlon
ofConcours andthe flmt drhte approach east of Deusenburg Drive llllgned

with the ElKletlng drive epproach onthe south side of Concou DRAINAGE

HYDROLOGY Check WhDn Co

plate2
70 A l1ydrology study and drainage analysis prepared end signed bya Clllil Engineer registered in the 0 State

of Callfomla inaccordance wfththe San Bernardino County Hydrology Manual and the City of Ontario
s Standards and Guidelines Isrequired The applicant s Engineer should contact tha Engineering

Department for speclflc details to be included Intile report Additional drainage facilities may

berequired asaresult of the finding of this study Since

no adequate drainage facility exists downstream to accept additional runoffadetention basin of 0 appropri
te sil eshall be designed and constructed perCity Standard9 Show Its location and size onthe

GradlnglDrainage Plan On sile drainage to be diverted onlo Clly streets 911all not exceed predevelopment

flows Other

Condmons1
Developar Appllcantshall conelructaminimum 36-lnch private typical RCP storm drain line

In each of private StreetA and 9 A minimum 42 inchRep storm drain sholl be

constructed In private Street C2IIA

Street main shall be routed to the proposed Ich maln constructed as partof the full

improvement ofproposed Event Center Way thento the exisllng 72 inchme In In Concours

J3

Street and CStreet mains shallbe routed 10 tho propoaed 42-lnch proposed meln constructed as
partof the full Improvement of proposel Evont Center Way then eastorlyto discharge

Into thEoitlng 72 lnch portion of themeln In Concaurs 4The storm

drain mains constructod In tho laidpriv te Straats nAPIBand e and laterals tributary to

Ihem shallall be part of a privata systom dlscherglng Into tileCitypublic system and
assuch IIhall be privately maintained by the Property Owners Association Dnlv the

orooosed main In orooosed Event Center Way andIhaexlstlno sv tom In

Concours and Duosonbora DrallallbDubllclV awned and malntalulil5Tile proposed
Storm Drain systemas propoaed is I nlatlve and maybemodified upon thg findings of

thestudy currently in progrQss todfiltorminQ actual sizlngof mainsand alternative routing of

discharge from tentative parcelsGAllof
Ihe above conditions shall beinaccordance with the approved adopted PlemonteatOntario Center

Project Amendmenl to the Ontario Specific plan February 2006 STORMWATER QUALITY INPDESl

CheckWhonLa tRcvis

d1120 06 Pogc t1 of 15 o 271

i 8J 2

72o 2 73

i 8J 2

74Any drainage above

hlslorlcal flow routed ontoadjacent properly must bedirected to a recorded privata 0 drainage easement Applicant
must provideacopyoftl10 rocorded document iletterof acceptance of drainagein
aformat acceptable to theCity to the Engineering Department priortoapproval of the Grading Plan Proposed

slle portlon

ofsite falls within SFHA Special Flood Hazard Area as Indicated on the FIRM0 FlOOd Insurance Rate
Maps and Is subjected toflOOding Ina100 year frequency storm This site plan will be subject
to the provisions of the National Flood Insurance program and comply wfth the Cltys Flond DamagA PrGvp-ntian

Ordin mcA 2409o

Item B - 40 of 81



909-395-2121 TO 909 395 2288 P 013 016 MRY-10-2006 1604 FROM ENGINEERING RDMIN PARCEL MAP NO 17550

P ROJ ENOR D
Williams DATE PcbnUlry 27 2DM

2812 82

gI 2

83 o

2 84 2

81 It -

fl 8

f ediment

ControlPlan

shall specifically Idenllfy the Best Management Practices BMPs thetwill be mplemented on this
project during construction to reduce the discharge af sediment and ather pollutants Inta the
CIty sstorm drain system Please direct all questions anthe Erosion and Sediment Control Plan to
Mr Steve Wilson at 909 395-2389 Or MS YvonneElliott at 909 395-2143 An electronic copy ofthe Clty

sErasion and Sediment Control Plan Requirements Is available upon requestto Mr Steve Wilson
atswil onllclon a rl4qI Priorto theapproval of

the Grading Plan and issuence of Grading Permits with the exception ofa0MGrading Plan a completed
Water Quelnv Ma 9l ment Plan WQMP shall besubmitted 10 and approved by the Englneerlng

Department The WQMP hallbe submitted on the San Bernardino County Stormwaler Program s modal
fQrmandshall iderltyall PQst--CQnslructlQn Ite Design Source Control andTreatment Control Best Managoment

Pracllces E1MPs thatwill be rporated Into lhe development project In order to minimize

the adverse effects on receiving wate Please direct all questions Qn the WOMP to Mr

Steve Wilson at 909 395-2389 An electronic py of the WQMP standard form Is available on-Ine at www
swrcb ca aov rwacb8 sbaermltIWQMPAttachments 060104 Final

doc An electronic copy oflecompanion Guidance document for preparation af the WQMP

I also available at www swrcb ca Qov rwacb8lsbaermltIWOMPGuidance060104 Final doc

All projects that developane1acre or

more of total land aree or which are part of a larger phased 0 development that will disturb Btleast oneacre of
land are required toobtain coverage under the State Wator Rosources Control BardsGeneral Permit

Far Storm Waler DIharges Associated With Con tructlon Activity Proof of filingaNQtice

Qf Intent NOI with the Slate for coverage under this permit Is required prior to approval ofthe

grading plan and issuance of grading permits The applicant shall submitacopyofthe Wa le
Dlschergers Idenllfication Number WOlD far coverage under the General CoMtructlon Permit to the Englneertng Depertment Mare

detailed lofQrmatlon regarding the General Permn applicable fee InformatiQn andthe necessal

farms to complete the NOI are ave lableby calling 916 341-5537 or on theweb

at www swrcb ca QQv stormwtr An electronic copy of theNOI form and Instructions Iavailable by request from Steve

Wilson at llwllsonfiilcl onlario caus SWPPP Plan-Allprojects thaIdevelop one 1

acreor mare ofloralland area or which are part 01a0larger phased development that will disturb at leaat
ana acreofland arlrequired to prepare aStorm Water PellfullonPrevention Plan SWPPP and submll a

copy of tileplan to rhe Clly of Ontario Enginearing Department lor review A copy of the

adopted SWPPP shall be maintained in the constnJctlon s leoffice atal timas

during constnJclionand U a SiteSuperintendent snaIl usetheplan to fraln all COlIstnJction sire contractors and supervisr y

personnal in construction slle Best Management Pracflcespriortostarting workon the slle
401 404 Permits Development andlor conotruction work that

will permanently or temporartly affect0any surface water body Iaka creek open drainage
cllannel etc may require a 404 Permit from the Army COilS of En jlneers andlor a

401 WaterQuality Certlftcetlon fromthe santa Ana Regional Wmer Quality Control Beard RWQCB The groups ofwater

bOdies classlfted in these requirements are perennial and ephemornl ftow only durlng rain conditions

Poor to permit Issuance a copy of the applicable permit and or certification for this preJecl

must be submitted to theproject engineerIfa permit and or certification arenot required a

letter tatlngsuch from the Army Corps of En91neers and the Regional Water Qualny ConlIol Board RWQCB muet

be submitted Conlact Information Army Corp af engineers 909 794-7704 or805 585-2147

RWQCB 909 762-4990 or 909 782-3234 Other Conditions01DeveloperlAppllcanlshall confirm the decision to utillto the tentatively

proposed Slorm Drain
Water Quality proJect wlde clarlflerllnflltratlon BMP System or individual parcel clarlfierl

underground InfiltratIon BMP system oracombInation thereQf prlortoDAB approval

SPECIAL DISTRICTS Check Whon complete 290The subject site Iswithin

thebelow
pecal

distrIOl

S Speclel assessmoot or special taxes are levied0 annually on this property and areIncluded ontho annual properly tax
billthat is issued by theCounty For further InformatIon contact Mark Lassler in tho General ServIces department Jt
g09 3952141Community Facilities District5ZoneA2 Tfl ttRcvi

1120106 Pge12If JS

Item B - 41 of 81



909-395-2121 TO 909 395 2288 -----
-----

-- n P014 016 MAY-10-2006 16 04 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN

PARCEL MAP NO 17550
PROENOR 0 Willillm

DATE feb n 2006

o 2 92

o 2 93

o 2 94

o 2 95

I

s

f

-2 91 The property owner shall be responsible for all costs associated with the annual operation
and mlnlenance of the streetlightlng lraffic signal facilities andappurlenances that serve thisproperly ThiS property shall be annexed toaStreet lighting Maintenance Assessment OlstMctAConsentand WaivertoAnnexatIon agreement executed by all the record owner s of the property together
with payment ofanannexation procesSing fee of 2500 00must be flied with the Cy prior to theissuance of a Building Penml or Final Subdivision MapILof Line Adjustment approval WhicheVer OCCurs
first Contact Mark Lassler in the Geneml Services Department at 909 395-2124 regarding thl
requirement

o

Prior fa approval of the IInal subdivision map andlor lot line edjustment referred to In Secflon 1 of this 0report An application for reapportionment of assessments and processing fee shall be filed for each of
the fOllowing Assessment Districts

Contact Mark ssler In the General Services Department at 909 395-2124 regarding this requirement
The

sUbjet projet lies within the following spacial drainage Impat c onelfeedistrict and Is0 requ
rrdto pay the applicable fee as estimated belowprior tothe Issuen ofbuilding pannio

Special Drainage Impact ZonaIEstimated

Fee AC x 11 Ooolac-

o Spec1 Drainage Impact ZoneI

Estim8ed Fee AC J 2 696 29oc

-
2124 Contact Mark Lessler In theGeneral Services Department at 909

395- to obtain theexact fee

amount NMC Developments Prior toCity Council approval ofany Final Map or ifnosubdivision map

Is required then prlar toIssuance ofany permitsaCommunity Facilities District CFD shall
beestablished pursuant to theMello-Roos Community Facilities District Act of 1982 The CFD shall be

establiShed upon the subject property to provide funding for various City services An annual speCial
tax shall be levied upon each parcel or 101 In an amount to be determined The special tax will be
collected along witl1 annual property texes The City shall be the sole and exclusive lead agency n the

foJ1t1ation of the CFD Contact Mark Lassler In the General Services Department a 909 395-2124 Other

Conditionso IZI

3 01 8J

3 02 a

PRlor-no CERTIFICATEOF OCCUPANCY 8J3

03 gJ 3

04 All remaining

feesl deposits requiredbythe Engineering Department mustbepaid In full 0All requirements
Including construction of improvements coveredin Section 2 must be compl ed to 0 the atlsJil
c oJl of the City Engineer The Applicant

s Engineer shall submit aset of MYLAR Record as-buill Drawings for off-site 0 Improvements to accurately reflect
the constructed Improvements This set of Record Drawings renectlng all Change orders
during construction mustbe submittedto the City viaCity s InspectiOn prior to scheduling offinal
Inspection for acceptance of tho improvements Please note that no final inspeclfon will be scheduled

end subsequentlY no release of securities posted for Iheproject Ifay wfll take place unless MYLAR

Record As-bUm Drawtngs satisfactory to Ihe Glty are submitted The applicant shall recordan

approved Water Quatny Managemomt Plan and Stormweter BMP0Transfer Access ndMa ntenance
Agreement with the San BemarrJ no County Recorder onastandard City form An electronic

copy of this document isavailable upon request from Mr Steve Wilson at swllsonlWcl ontt rio
c us I2

J
3 05All

monumentsshall be set as shown on the final map and all cllnterllne ties shell be submitted tlthe0LAst Rcvie1 20
06 Pl1RCf3 of15

Item B - 42 of 81



MAY-10-2006 16 05 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN 909-395-2121 TO 909 395 2288 P 015 016 PARCEL MAP NO 17

OPROJ ENOR D Williams

DATE Febnm y 27

2006 Egl eerl g

Department Any monuments damaged asresultof construction shall beresettothe City ssatisfadion t8J

3 06 Other

Conditions 1 SQU SQW Item No 2 35 4o Ll t RcvifiCd

120 06ge 140flS

Item B - 43 of 81



MAY-10-2005 15 05 FROM ENGINEERING ADMIN 909-395-2121 TO 909 395 2288 P 015 016 PARCEL MAP NO 17550

PROI ENORD WHIl
ms DATE Fobrus Y 27

OQ6 0IEXHIBIT A ENGINEERING
SERVICES

DMSION First

PlanCheek Submittal
Checklist Ifonyofthe checked

items bel oware missing your submittal willbe returned un-checked until all required itemsa submitted Project Number PDEV w

dJor

FirstIl

on Check Submittal and orparcel Mop1

75508J ACOPY OFTHIS

CHECK LIST MUST BE SUBMlTTED WITHTHE FIRST PLAN CHECK8JCheeksforPlan

Check fees Engineering NPDES See Item No2 85 18J1 Copy of Engineering

COSI Estito te On Cityforms with Engineer sWet Signnture and Stamp g Copy ofoptlroved Conditions of

Approval 18I4Sets ofGmding Plan

g 4 SelliofOff-site

Street Improvement Plans with StrOet Cross-Sections 8J4 Set of Off- ite Water

Plans 4 Selli ofOff ite Sewer Plans81

4 Sels ofOff- iteStorm

Drain Plan g4Set ofSlreet LiglJt Plansg

4 Sets of Signing Striping Plans

8J 4 Sels ofTraffic Signal Plans

81 3 Copies ofWater Quality Man

1gement Plan WQMPIZI3 Copiesof Hydrology Drainage

StudySe Item No270gSoils Geology Report o Olher In

addition tothoe

items checked

above the following item shllbuhmitted for subdivisions Check forFi nal Mop Proce ing

fee8J 3Sets ofFinal Map2 Copies

ofproliminary Title Report within last

30 daysg2Copies ofClosure Coles I8l

1 Set of Supporting Docs referenced

ml1p recorded doc1 men suchal deeds lot lineadjustmcnts ea lilemeotB et o Other psc 15oflS Lust

Revised 1120

06

Item B - 44 of 81



EXIllBIT C

PLEDGE OF TAX INCREMENT FUNDS

Parcel Map No 17550

As evidence ofunderstanding the provisions contained in this Agreement and of the Agency s intent to

comply with same the Agency has submitted the below described Security in the amounts required by this

Agreement and has affixed the appropriate signatures thereto

PLEDGE OF TAX INCREMENT FUNDS

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT Three Million Nine Hundred One Thousand Four Hundred Fifty-One and

941100 Dollars3 901451 94Page

1

Item B - 45 of 81



Item B - 46 of 81



Item B - 47 of 81



Item B - 48 of 81



Item B - 49 of 81



Item B - 50 of 81



Item B - 51 of 81



Item B - 52 of 81



Item B - 53 of 81



Item B - 54 of 81



Item B - 55 of 81



Item B - 56 of 81



Item B - 57 of 81



Item B - 58 of 81



Item B - 59 of 81



Item B - 60 of 81



Item B - 61 of 81



Item B - 62 of 81



Item B - 63 of 81



Item B - 64 of 81



Item B - 65 of 81



Item B - 66 of 81



Item B - 67 of 81



Item B - 68 of 81



Item B - 69 of 81



Item B - 70 of 81



Item B - 71 of 81



Item B - 72 of 81



CITY OF ONTARIO 
LANDSCAPE PLANNING DIVISION 

303 East “B” Street, Ontario, CA 91764 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Sign Off 

 
04/03/23 

Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Architect Date 

Reviewer’s Name:  
Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Architect 

Phone: 
(909) 395-2615 

 D.A.B. File No.:                                           
PDEV23-004 

Case Planner: 
Jeanie Aguilo 

Project Name and Location:  
Farmer Boys 
950 North Haven Avenue 
Applicant/Representative: 
Lewis Retail Centers Santos Lacuesta slacuesta@farmerboys.com  
3800 Orange Street, Suite 250 
Riverside, CA 92501 
 
 
 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated 2/22/2023) meet the Standard Conditions for New 
Development and have been approved considering that the following conditions 
below be met upon submittal of the landscape construction documents. 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated) have not been approved. Corrections noted below are 
required before Preliminary Landscape Plan approval. 

A RESPONSE SHEET IS REQUIRED WITH RESUBMITTAL OR PLANS WILL BE RETURNED AS 
INCOMPLETE. 
Landscape construction plans with plan check number may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 
DIGITAL SUBMITTALS MUST BE 10MB OR LESS.  
Civil/ Site Plans 
1. Grading Plan has been approved by the Landscape Planning Division as part of the overall 

site plan B202104233.  
 
Landscape Plans 
2. Landscape Plan is part of the overall site plan Approved Landscape Plan B202105977, 5973, 

5972, 5968. 
3. After a project’s entitlement approval, the applicant shall pay all applicable fees for landscape 

plan check and inspections at a rate established by resolution of the City Council. Landscape 
construction plans with building permit number for plan check may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 

Item B - 73 of 81

mailto:slacuesta@farmerboys.com
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
TO:  Jeanie Irene Aguilo, Associate Planner 
  Planning Department 
 
FROM:  Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 
  Fire Department 
 
DATE:  March 6, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: PDEV23-004 - A Development Plan to construct a 2,900 square-foot drive-

thru restaurant (Farmer Boys) on 0.83 acres of land, located at 950 North 
Haven Avenue, within the Commercial land use district of the Piemonte 
Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan (APN: 210-531-23). Related 
Files: PDEV21-013 and PDEV17-016.  

 
 

   The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time.  

   Standard Conditions of Approval apply, as stated below. 

 
 
SITE AND BUILDING FEATURES: 
 

A. 2019 CBC Type of Construction:  Type V-B 
 

B. Type of Roof Materials:  Ordinary 
 

C. Ground Floor Area(s):  2,900 Sq. Ft.  
 

D. Number of Stories:  1 
 

E. Total Square Footage:  2,900 Sq. Ft.  
 

F. 2019 CBC Occupancy Classification(s):  M 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item B - 74 of 81



 

2 of 4  

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 

1.0 GENERAL 
 

  1.1 The following are the Ontario Fire Department (“Fire Department”) requirements for this 
development project, based on the current edition of the California Fire Code (CFC), and the 
current versions of the Fire Prevention Standards (“Standards.”) It is recommended that the 
applicant or developer transmit a copy of these requirements to the on-site contractor(s) and 
that all questions or concerns be directed to the Bureau of Fire Prevention, at (909) 395-2029. 
For copies of Ontario Fire Department Standards please access the City of Ontario web site at 
www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention.  

 
  1.2 These Fire Department conditions of approval are to be included on any and all construction 

drawings.  
 
2.0 FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 
 

  2.1 Fire Department vehicle access roadways shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all portions of 
the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved. Roadways 
shall be paved with an all-weather surface and shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24) ft. wide. 
See Standard #B-004.   

 
  2.2 In order to allow for adequate turning radius for emergency fire apparatus, all turns shall be 

designed to meet the minimum twenty five feet (25’) inside and forty-five feet (45’) outside 
turning radius per Standard #B-005.   

 
  2.3 Fire Department access roadways that exceed one hundred and fifty feet (150’) in length shall 

have an approved turn-around per Standard #B-002.   
 

  2.4 Access drive aisles which cross property lines shall be provided with CC&Rs, access 
easements, or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected 
properties, and copies of same shall be provided at the time of building plan check. 

 
  2.5 "No Parking-Fire Lane" signs and /or red painted curbs with lettering are required to be instal-

led in interior access roadways, in locations where vehicle parking would obstruct the 
minimum clear width requirement. Installation shall be per Standard #B-001.  

 
  2.7 Any time PRIOR to on-site combustible construction and/or storage, a minimum twenty-four 

(24) ft. wide circulating all weather access roads shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all 
portions of the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved by 
fire department and other emergency services. 
 

3.0 WATER SUPPLY 
 

  3.1 The required fire flow per Fire Department standards, based on the 2019 California Fire Code, 
Appendix B, is 1500  gallons per minute (g.p.m.) for 2 hours at a minimum of 20 pounds per 
square inch (p.s.i.) residual operating pressure. 

 

Item B - 75 of 81

http://www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention


 

3 of 4  

 

  3.2 Off-site (public) fire hydrants are required to be installed on all frontage streets, at a minimum 
spacing of three hundred foot (300’) apart, per Engineering Department specifications.  
 

  3.4 The water supply, including water mains and fire hydrants, shall be tested and approved by the 
Engineering Department and Fire Department prior to combustible construction to assure 
availability and reliability for firefighting purposes.  

 
4.0 FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS 
 

  4.2 Underground fire mains which cross property lines shall be provided with CC & R, easements, 
or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected properties, and 
copies of same shall be provided at the time of fire department plan check. The shared use of 
private fire mains or fire pumps is allowable only between immediately adjacent properties 
and shall not cross any public street. 

 
  4.4 Wood frame buildings that are to be sprinkled shall have these systems in service (but not 

necessarily finaled) before the building is enclosed.  
 

  4.7 Portable fire extinguishers are required to be installed prior to occupancy per Standard #C-001.  
Please contact the Fire Prevention Bureau to determine the exact number, type and placement 
required. 

 
  4.8 A fixed fire extinguishing system is required for the protection of hood, duct, plenum and 

cooking surfaces.  This system must comply with National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 
Standards 17A and 96. An application with detailed plans shall be submitted, and a 
construction permit shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work being done.  
   

5.0 BUILDING CONSTRUCTION FEATURES 
 

  5.1 The developer/general contractor is to be responsible for reasonable periodic cleanup of the 
development during construction to avoid hazardous accumulations of combustible trash and 
debris both on and off the site. 

 
  5.2 Approved numbers or addresses shall be placed on all new and existing buildings in such a 

position as to be plainly visible and legible from the street or road fronting the property.  Multi-
tenant or building projects shall have addresses and/or suite numbers provided on the rear of 
the building.  Address numbers shall contrast with their background. See Section 9-1 6.06 of 
the Ontario Municipal Code and Standards #H-003 and #H-002.  

 
  5.6 Knox ® brand key-box(es) shall be installed in location(s) acceptable to the Fire Department. 

All Knox boxes shall be monitored for tamper by the building fire alarm system. See Standard 
#H-001 for specific requirements. 

 
  5.7  Placards shall be installed in acceptable locations on buildings that store, use or handle 

hazardous materials in excess of the quantities specified in the CFC. Placards shall meet the 
requirements of National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 704.  

 
 

Item B - 76 of 81



 

4 of 4  

 

6.0 OTHER SPECIAL USES 
 

  6.1 The storage, use, dispensing, or handling of any hazardous materials shall be approved by the 
Fire Department, and adequate fire protection features shall be required.  If hazardous materials 
are proposed, a Fire Department Hazardous Materials Information Packet, including 
Disclosure Form and Information Worksheet, shall be completed and submitted with Material 
Safety Data Sheets to the Fire Department along with building construction plans. 

Item B - 77 of 81



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Jeanie Irene Aguilo, Associate Planner 
 
FROM:  Heather Lugo, CSO, C.E.T. - Police Department 
 
DATE:  March 1, 2023  
 
SUBJECT: PDEV23-004 – A DEVELOPMENT PLAN TO CONSTRUCT A 2,900 

SQUARE FEET DRIVE -THRU RESTAURANT (FARMER BOYS) 
LOCATED AT 950 NORTH HAVEN AVE., WITHIN THE 
COMMERCIAL LAND USE DISTRICT OF THE ONTARI CENTER 
SPECIFIC PLAN (PIEMONTE OVERLAY) (APN(s): 210-531-23. 
RELATED FILES(s): PDEV17-016 

 
 
The “Standard Conditions of Approval” contained in Resolution No. 2017-027 apply. The 
applicant shall read and be thoroughly familiar with these conditions, including but not limited to, 
the requirements listed below. 
 

• Required lighting for all walkways, driveways, doorways, parking areas, and other areas 
used by the public shall be provided and operate on photosensor. Photometrics shall be 
provided to the Police Department. Photometrics shall include the types of fixtures 
proposed and demonstrate that such fixtures meet the vandal-resistant requirement. 
Planned landscaping shall not obstruct lighting. 

 
• The Applicant shall comply with all construction site security requirements as stated in the 

Standard Conditions. 
 

• The applicant will be responsible for keeping the grounds of the business clean from debris 
and litter. 
 

• The Applicant shall install a video surveillance system on the site. Cameras shall cover at 
a minimum all entry doors, all cash registers, and at least one camera shall capture any 
vehicle utilizing the drive thru. Cameras shall be positioned to maximize the coverage of 
patrons and vehicles in these areas. Cameras shall record at least 15 frames per second and 
at a minimum of 720p of resolution. Recordings shall be stored for a minimum of 30 days 
and made available upon request to any member of the Ontario Police Department. 
 

• Graffiti abatement by the business owner/licensee, or management shall be immediate and 
on-going on the premises, but in no event shall graffiti be allowed unabated on the premises 

Item B - 78 of 81



for more than 72 hours. Abatement shall take the form of removal or shall be 
covered/painted over with a color reasonably matching the color of the existing building, 
structure, or other surface being abated.  Additionally, the business owner/licensee, or 
management shall notify the City within 24 hours at (909) 395-2626 (graffiti hotline) of 
any graffiti elsewhere on the property not under the business owner/licensee’s or 
management control so that it may be abated by the property owner and/or the City’s 
graffiti team.  
 

• Trash enclosure shall be fully secured by locks and screens/grates to reduce crime and 
encampment opportunities for homeless persons. 
 
 

The Applicant is invited to contact Heather Lugo at (909) 408-1074 with any questions or concerns 
regarding these conditions.    
 
 

Item B - 79 of 81



CITY OF ONTARIO
MEMORANDUM

TO: Scott Murphy, Community Development Director (Copy of memo only)

Rudy Zeledon, Planning Director (Copy of memo only)

Diane Ayala, Advanced Planning Division (Copy of memo only)

Charity Hernandez, Economic Development

James Caro, Building Department

Raymond Lee, Engineering Department

Jamie Richardson, Landscape Planning Division

Dennis Mejia, Municipal Utility Company

Heather Lugo, Police Department

Paul Erhman, Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal

Jay Bautista, Traffic/Transportation Manager

Lorena Mejia, Airport Planning

Jeff Tang, Engineering/NPDES

Angela Magana, Community Improvement (Copy of memo only)

Jimmy Chang, IPA Department

Blaine Ishii, Integrated Waste

FROM: Jeanie Irene Aguilo, Associate Planner

DATE: February 22, 2023

SUBJECT: FILE #:  PDEV23-004 Finance Acct#:     

The following project has been submitted for review.  Please send one (1) copy and email one (1) copy of 

your DAB report to the Planning Department by .

Note: Only DAB action is required

Both DAB and Planning Commission actions are required

Only Planning Commission action is required

DAB, Planning Commission and City Council actions are required

Only Zoning Administrator action is required

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  A Development Plan to construct a 2,900 square-foot drive-thru restaurant on 

0.826 acres of land located at 950 North Haven Avenue, within the Commercial land use district of the 

Ontario Center Specific Plan (Piemonte Overlay) (APN(s): 210-531-23). Related File(s): PDEV17-016.

The conditions contained in the attached report must be met prior to scheduling for 

Development Advisory Board.

The plan does not adequately address the departmental concerns.

Standard Conditions of Approval apply

Report attached (1 copy and email 1 copy)

No comments

The plan does adequately address the departmental concerns at this time.

Department Signature Title Date

X

2/23/23Comm Imp SupervisorCommunity Improvement
Item B - 80 of 81



AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

Site Acreage:

ONT-IAC Project Review:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone Avigation Easement 
Dedication

Real Estate Transaction

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PDEV21-013 & PDEV23-004

SEC of Haven Ave and 4th Street

Multiple parcels

Vacant

Commercial Shopping Center - 6 buildings totaling 85,583 SF and 2,900 SF drive-thru
restaurant (Farmer Boys)    

13.46

n/a

ONT

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) and was
evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP)
for ONT.

✔

✔

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Jeanie Aguilo

11/10/23

2021-022 Rev.3 

n/a

42 FT

70 FT

✔

Item B - 81 of 81



Page 1 of 25 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV23-023 

DESCRIPTION: A  hearing to consider a Development Plan (File No. PDEV23-023) to 
construct a 42,500-square-foot addition, 5,500-square-foot interior remodel and exterior 
façade improvements to an existing commercial building (Mathis Home Furniture) on 
19.23 acres of land located at 4105 East Inland Empire Boulevard, within the Garden 
Commercial land use district of the Ontario Center Specific Plan (APN: 0210-205-12); 
submitted by Steve La Bruna, Rightt Structures, Inc.  

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

STEVE LA BRUNA, RIGHTT STRUCTURES, INC, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") 
has filed an application requesting approval of a Development Plan, File No. PDEV23-
023, as described in the subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" 
or "Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 19.23 acres of land located at 4105 East 
Inland Empire Boulevard and is depicted in Exhibit A: Project Location Map, attached. 
Existing land uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning designations, and specific plan 
land uses on and surrounding the Project site are as follows: 

Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Site: Retail Store Mixed Use – Ontario 
Center 

The Ontario Center 
Specific Plan 

Garden Commercial 

North: Toyota Arena Mixed Use – Ontario 
Center 

The Ontario Center 
Specific Plan 

Urban Commercial 

South: Automobile Sales 
(CarMax) 

Mixed Use – Ontario 
Center 

The Ontario Center 
Specific Plan 

Garden Commercial 

East: Retail & Offices Mixed Use – Ontario 
Center 

The Ontario Center 
Specific Plan 

Garden Commercial 

West: Park (Founders 
Garden) 

Mixed Use – Ontario 
Center 

The Ontario Center 
Specific Plan 

Open Space 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

November 20, 2023 

Item C - 1 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 25 

PROJECT ANALYSIS:  
 
(1) Background — In February 2006, the Development Advisory Board approved the 
construction of a 426,400-square foot retail furniture store (Mathis Home Furniture) on the 
Project site. The building was subsequently completed in September 2007. 
 
On June 5, 2017, the Development Advisory Board approved a 49,912-square-foot 
expansion at the northeasterly corner of the existing retail furniture store, increasing the 
area and capacity of the store’s warehouse facilities. Expansion construction was 
completed in 2019. 
 
The Applicant is requesting approval to construct a 42,500-square-foot addition, 5,500-
square-foot interior remodel and extensive exterior façade improvement to the existing 
476,318-square-foot retail commercial building, for a total building area of 518,818 square 
feet, having a floor area ratio (FAR) of 0.62 and lot coverage of 44 percent. 
 
(2) Site Design/Building Layout — The overall site layout will remain substantially 
unchanged. The south facing elevation includes additions, interior remodeling to 
reconfigure and rebrand the existing building façade into six separate areas. The 
improvements include a two-story addition of a new Design Studio and the remodel of 
the Main Showroom’s (New Mathis Home) exterior façade located at the southwesterly 
corner of the existing building. To the east of the Main Showroom the façade of the 
existing restaurant will be improved to provide a pronounced entrance from the exterior 
of the building that will also include outdoor seating. Also adjacent to the restaurant is a 
two-story addition that will replace the existing customer pickup area located on the 
south side of the building, at the approximate center of the overall building façade, that 
will accommodate an Outlet Center with an integrated video screen/media wall that 
will require a separate approval. The remaining southeast portion of the building will 
include a new customer pick-area and façade improvement that will be branded as 
Mathis University, consisting of business offices and meeting spaces for employee training 
and administrative office use. The remainder of the building used as a customer service 
center, furniture store, and warehouse area, will remain untouched (see Exhibit B—Site 
Plan, attached). 
 
In addition to the proposed building improvements, the Applicant is proposing 
improvements to the off-street parking and pedestrian areas immediately in front of the 
building, including the removal of 161 off-street parking spaces, the addition of well-
defined pedestrian pathways from the parking lot, enhanced paving within drive aisles 
and pedestrian walkways, added planter islands within the parking lot and along drive 
aisles, and enhanced landscape areas adjacent to the building. 
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — The Project site has a total of six existing points of 
vehicular access, as follows: 
 
 One signalized primary access from Inland Empire Boulevard; 

Item C - 2 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 25 

 Two secondary passenger vehicle accesses from Inland Empire Boulevard, which 
are limited to right-in and right-out movements only, due to the existing 
landscaped center median in Inland Empire Boulevard; 

 One truck access from Ferrari Lane; and 
 Two secondary passenger vehicle accesses from Concours Street, which are 

limited to right-in and right-out movements only, due to the existing landscaped 
center median in Concours Street.  

 The southeast portion of the building will include a new dedicated customer pick-
area with ingress and egress from the internal main access road.  

 
(4) Parking — The Project has provided off-street parking pursuant to the “Furniture 
and Home Furnishings Stores” and “Warehousing and Distribution” parking standards 
specified in the Development Code. The number of off-street parking spaces provided 
exceeds the minimum parking requirement for the Project. The off-street parking 
calculations for the Project are summarized in the table below: 
 

Table 1: Off-Street Parking Summary 

Type of Use Building 
Area Parking Ratio Spaces 

Required 
Spaces 

Provided 

Existing Building: 

 Furniture and Home Furnishings 
Store 160,000 2.5 spaces for each 1,000 SF of 

GFA 400 400 

 Warehouse/Office/Restaurant 
Area 316,318 One 0.5 space for each 1,000 SF  158 205 

SUBTOTAL 476,318  558 605 

Proposed Building Addition: 

 Furniture and Home Furnishings 
Store Expansion 10,500 2.5 spaces for each 1,000 SF of 

GFA 26  

 Warehouse/Outlet Expansion 32,000 One 0.5 space for each 1,000 SF 
of GFA  6  

TOTAL 504,318  590 605 

 
(5) Architecture — The proposed building expansion and exterior remodel 
incorporates natural Travertine stone, Alucobond aluminum composite wall panels in 
gold and bronze finishes, smooth stucco, and extensive glazing with clear anodized 
aluminum mullions, corten steel, a wall glass mural tile, and a video screen media wall 
that will require a separate approval (see Exhibit C—Exterior Elevations, attached). The 
mechanical equipment will be roof-mounted and obscured from public view by 
perforated Alucobond aluminum composite equipment screens, consistent with the 
building architecture. 
 
The proposed project illustrates the type of high-quality architecture promoted by the 
Development Code. This is exemplified through the use of: (i) significant articulation in the 
building footprint; (ii) articulation in the building parapet/roof line; (iii) a mix of exterior 

Item C - 3 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 25 

materials, finishes and fixtures; (iv) incorporation of base and top treatments, materials, 
and recessed wall areas; and (v) the building changes are designed to be compatible 
with the existing architectural detailing. 
 
(6) Landscaping — The project provides landscaping along the street frontages, the 
perimeter of the site, and throughout the parking lot. The Development Code requires 
that the Project provide a minimum of 10 percent landscape coverage and 15 percent 
has been provided. Moreover, a combination of 24-, 36-, and 48-inch box accent and 
shade trees will be provided throughout the project site, in addition to a variety of shrubs 
and groundcovers that are low water usage and drought tolerant. The proposed on-site 
and off-site landscape improvements will assist in creating a walkable, safe area for 
pedestrians (see Exhibit D—Landscape Plan, attached). 
 
(7) Signage — All project signage is required to comply with sign regulations provided 
in Ontario Development Code Division 8.1. Prior to the issuance of a Building Permit for 
the installation of any new on-site signage, the Applicant is required to submit Sign Plans 
for Planning Department review and approval. The proposed integrated video 
screen/media wall and content will require separate approval.  
 
(8) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available to serve 
the Project. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality 
Management Plan (“PWQMP”), which establishes the Project’s compliance with storm 
water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures 
that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and 
maximizes low impact development (“LID”) best management practices (“BMPs”), such 
as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes 
the use of on-site infiltration swales within landscaped areas. Any overflow drainage will 
be conveyed to the public street by way of parkway drains and culverts. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: The subject application was advertised as a hearing in at least one 
newspaper of general circulation in the City of Ontario (the Inland Valley Daily Bulletin 
newspaper). 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Decision, Planning Department staff has 
not received any written or verbal communications from the owners of properties 
surrounding the project site or from the public in general, regarding the subject 
application. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 

Item C - 4 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 25 

Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the decision-making body for the Project, the Development Advisory 
Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Maintain the Current High Level of Public Safety 
 Operate in a Businesslike Manner 
 Pursue City's Goals and Objectives by Working with Other Governmental 

Agencies 
 Focus Resources in Ontario's Commercial and Residential Neighborhoods 
 Invest in the City's Infrastructure (Water, Streets, Sewers, Parks, Storm Drains 

and Public Facilities) 
 Encourage, Provide or Support Enhanced Recreational, Educational, Cultural 

and Healthy City Programs, Policies and Activities 
 Ensure the Development of a Well Planned, Balanced, and Self-Sustaining 

Community in the New Model Colony 
 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 

Item C - 5 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 25 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 
 

Land Use Element: 
 

 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 
price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

Item C - 6 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 25 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-1.2 Place Types. We establish Place Types in urban, mixed use, and 
transit-oriented areas to foster the City's identity as a premier community and require new 
development within each Place Type to incorporate prescribed urban patterns, forms, 
and placemaking priorities. 
 

 CD-1.3 Existing Neighborhoods. We require the existing character of viable 
residential and non-residential neighborhoods be preserved, protected, and enhanced. 
 

Item C - 7 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 25 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.2 Neighborhood Design. We create distinct residential neighborhoods 
that promote a sense of community and identity by emphasizing access, connectivity, 
livability, and social interaction through such elements as: 
 

• A pattern of smaller, walkable blocks that promote activity, safety, and 
access to nearby amenities and services; 

• Varied parcel sizes and lot configurations to accommodate a diversity 
of housing types; 

• Traffic calming measures to slow traffic and promote walkability while 
maintaining acceptable traffic flows and emergency evacuation access; 

• Floor plans that encourage views onto the street and de-emphasize the 
visual and physical dominance of garages (introducing the front porch as the "outdoor 
living room"), as appropriate; and 

• Landscaped parkways, with sidewalks separated from the curb and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, and aesthetics for all users. 
 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 
physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 

Item C - 8 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 25 

structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Surface parking: Shade trees, pervious surfaces, urban run-off capture 
and infiltration, and pedestrian paths to guide users through the parking field; 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 

• Garage parking: providing access to single-family residential garages 
through alley access, recessing garages from the frontage to emphasize front doors or 
active living spaces. 
 

 CD-2.11 Entry Statements. We encourage the inclusion of amenities, 
signage, and landscaping at the entry to neighborhoods, commercial centers, mixed 
use areas, industrial developments, and public places that reinforce them as uniquely 
identifiable places. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented Place Types: Vibrant urban 
environments that are organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit areas, 
public plazas, and linkages between and within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all hours. 
 

 CD-3.2 Comfortable, Human-Scale Public Realm. We require that public 
spaces, including streets, parks, and plazas on both public and private property be 
designed to maximize safety, comfort and aesthetics and connect to the citywide 
pedestrian, vehicular, and bicycle networks. 
 

 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 

Item C - 9 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 25 

commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

 CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure. We collaborate with developers and 
property owners to facilitate development that realizes the envisioned character and 
functionality of the Place Type through the use of green and shared infrastructure within 
each Place Type. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The project is consistent with the Housing Element of 
the Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not 
one of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 
(Housing Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 

 
 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 
 

WHEREAS, The Ontario Center Environmental Impact Report – EIR No. 88-2 (State 
Clearinghouse No. 1989041009) was certified by the City Council on March 19, 1991 

Item C - 10 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 25 

(hereinafter referred to as "Certified EIR"), in which development and use of the Project 
site was discussed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the Certified EIR, which concluded that implementation of the Project could result in a 
number of significant effects on the environment and identified mitigation measures that 
would reduce each of those significant effects to a less-than-significant level; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City's "Local Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental 
assessment in situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately 
analyzed; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and act on the subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 20, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a 
hearing on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 

Item C - 11 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 25 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the decision-making  
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation. Based upon the facts and 
information contained in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation, the 
DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The environmental impacts of this Project were previously analyzed in conjunction 
with The Ontario Center Environmental Impact Report – EIR No. 88-2 (State Clearinghouse 
No. 1989041009), certified by the City Council on March 19, 1991; and 
 
(2) The previous Certified EIR contains a complete and accurate reporting of the 
environmental impacts associated with the Project; and 
 
(3) The previous Certified EIR was completed in compliance with CEQA and the 
Guidelines promulgated thereunder, and the City of Ontario Local CEQA Guidelines; and 
 
(4) The previous Certified EIR reflects the independent judgment of the Planning 
Commission; and 
 
(5) The proposed Project will introduce no new significant environmental impacts 
beyond those previously analyzed in the previous Certified EIR, and all mitigation 
measures previously adopted with the Certified EIR, are incorporated herein by this 
reference. 
 

SECTION 2: Subsequent or Supplemental Environmental Review Not Required. 
Based on the information presented to the DAB, and the specific findings set forth in 
Section 1, above, the DAB finds that the preparation of a subsequent or supplemental 
Certified EIR is not required for the Project, as the Project: 
 
(1) Does not constitute substantial changes to the Certified EIR that will require major 
revisions to the Certified EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; 
and 
 
(2) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(3) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 

Item C - 12 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 25 

due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(4) Does not contain new information of substantial importance that was not known 
and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time 
the Certified EIR was certified/adopted, that shows any of the following: 
 

(a) The Project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the 
Certified EIR; or 

 
(b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe 

than shown in the Certified EIR; or 
 
(c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible 

would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
of the Project, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or 

 
(d) Mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those 

analyzed in the Certified EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
on the environment, but which the City declined to adopt. 
 

SECTION 3: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the decision-making body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 and 3, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the 
Mixed Use – Ontario Center land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the 
Garden Commercial land use designation of The Ontario Center Specific Plan. The 
development standards and conditions under which the proposed Project will be 
constructed and maintained, is consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of 
the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The 
Ontario Plan; and 
 

Item C - 13 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 25 

(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 
Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario 
Development Code and the Garden Commercial land use designation of The Ontario 
Center Specific Plan, including standards relative to the particular land use proposed 
(Furniture Store and Warehouse), as-well-as building intensity, building and parking 
setbacks, building height, number of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-site and 
off-site landscaping, and fences, walls and obstructions; and 
 
(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure that: 
[i] the purposes of The Ontario Center Specific Plan are maintained; [ii] the Project will 
not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; [iii] the Project will not result in 
any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will be in harmony with the area in 
which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full conformity with the Vision, City Council 
Priorities and Policy Plan components of The Ontario Plan, and The Ontario Center 
Specific Plan; and 
 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of The Ontario Center Specific Plan 
that are applicable to the proposed Project, including building intensity, building and 
parking setbacks, building height, amount of off-street parking and loading spaces, 
parking lot dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle parking, on-site landscaping, 
and fences and walls, as-well-as those development standards and guidelines 
specifically related to the particular land use being proposed (Furniture Store and 
Warehouse). As a result of this review, the Development Advisory Board has determined 
that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will 
be consistent with the development standards and guidelines described in The Ontario 
Center Specific Plan. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby APPROVES the 
Application subject to each and every condition set forth in the Conditions of Approval 
included as Attachment A of this Decision and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, 
action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to 
attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the 

Item C - 14 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 25 

applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall 
cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of November 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

 

Item C - 15 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 25 

Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 
  
 

PROJECT SITE 

Item C - 16 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 25 

Exhibit B: SITE PLAN 
 

 

Item C - 17 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 25 

Exhibit C: ELEVATIONS 
 

 

Item C - 18 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 25 

Exhibit C: ELEVATIONS CONTINUED 
 

 

Item C - 19 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 25 

Exhibit C: ELEVATIONS CONTINUED 
 

 

Item C - 20 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 25 

Exhibit C: ELEVATIONS CONTINUED 
 

 

Item C - 21 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 22 of 25 

Exhibit C: ELEVATIONS CONTINUED 
 

 

Item C - 22 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 23 of 25 

Exhibit C: ELEVATIONS CONTINUED 
 

 

Item C - 23 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 24 of 25 

Exhibit D: LANDSCAPE PLAN 
 

  

Item C - 24 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-023 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 25 of 25 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item C - 25 of 38



 

Page 1 of 4 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
Date Prepared: 11/20/2023 
 
File No: PDEV23-023 
 
Related Files: N/A 
 
Project Description: A Development Plan (File No. PDEV23-023) to construct a 42,500-square-
foot addition, 5,500-square-foot interior remodel and extensive exterior façade improvement to 
an existing commercial building (Mathis Home Furniture) on 19.23 acres of land located at 4105 
East Inland Empire Boulevard, within the Garden Commercial land use district of the Ontario 
Center Specific Plan. (APN: 0210-205-12); submitted by Steve La Bruna, Rightt Structures, Inc. 
 
Prepared By: Lorena Mejia, Senior Planner 

Phone: 909.395.2276 (direct) 
Email: lmejia@ontarioca.gov 

 
 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 
 
1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 
 
2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 
 

2.1 Time Limits. 
 

(a) Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years following 
the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and construction is 
commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has been approved 
by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time limits specified 
herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, for the 
performance of specific conditions or improvements. 
 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

 
(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency, 

including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 

Item C - 26 of 38



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-023 
 
 

Page 2 of 4 

and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 
 

(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 
plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for project, which shall be maintained on site during project 
construction. 
 

2.3 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department; 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 
 

2.4 Walls and Fences. All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements 
of Ontario Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 
 

2.5 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and 
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). 
 

(b) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 
parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

 
(c) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 

shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

 
(d) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 

by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 

Item C - 27 of 38



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-023 

Page 3 of 4 

2.6 Site Lighting. 

(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security
lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.08 (Special Residential Building 
Provisions) and Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial Building Provisions), designed to 
confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall be lighted from sunset until sunrise, 
daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity,
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 

2.7 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated so as to be consistent with the 
building architecture. 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks,
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 

2.8 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 

2.9 Signs.  

(a) All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations) and the Ontario Center Specific Plan. 

(b) The proposed integrated video screen/media wall sign shall require 
separate approval from the Planning Department.  

2.10 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code 
Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 

2.11 Environmental Requirements. 

(a) If human remains are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 

(b) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 

Item C - 28 of 38



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-023 
 
 

Page 4 of 4 

2.12 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

2.13 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of 
Determination (“NOD”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be 
paid by check, made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded 
to the San Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable 
environmental forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (“CEQA”). Failure to provide said fee within the time specified will result in the extension of the 
statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 180 days. 

 
(b) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 

building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 

 
 

Item C - 29 of 38



AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

Site Acreage:

ONT-IAC Project Review:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone Avigation Easement 
Dedication

Real Estate Transaction

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PDEV23-023

4105 East Inland Empire Blvd.

210-205-12

Commercial Building (Mathis Brothers)

Development Plan to construct a 42,500-square-foot addition to a commercial 
building (Mathis Brothers)

19.23

n/a

ONT

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) and was
evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP)
for ONT.

✔

✔

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Lorena Mejia

11/13/2023

2022-032 Rev.1 

n/a

60 FT

95-105 FT

✔

Item C - 30 of 38



Item C - 31 of 38



https://ontariocagov-my.sharepoint.com/personal/18699_ontarioca_gov/Documents/Projects/Development Plans/2023 PDEVs/PDEV23-023_ 
Mathis Bros/1st Submittal Comments/PDEV23-023  OMUC DPR - Approval Memo I  08-21-23.docx 

 

 CITY OF ONTARIO 
 MEMORANDUM   

 
DATE: August 21, 2023 
TO: Antonio Alejos, Engineering    
CC: Lorena Mejia, Planning 
FROM: Peter Tran, Utilities Engineering 
  

SUBJECT: DPR #1 – Conditions of Approval - Utilties Comments (#8465)   

PROJECT NO.: 
PDEV23-023 (A Development Plan to construct 51,000 sqft addition to existing Mathis Brothers 
at 4105 E. Inland Empire Boulevard) 

 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION 
A Development Plan for a proposed two-story commercial addition totaling 51,000 square feet on 17.01 acres of land located at 
4105 Inland Empire Boulevard, within the Garden Commercial land use district of the Ontario Center Specific Plan (APN(s): 0210-
205-12). Related File(s): PDEV22-020; PCUP23-002.

 

THIS SUBMITTAL IS COMPLETE AND RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL. 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: The Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) recommends this application for 
approval subject to the conditions outlined below and compliance with the City’s Design Development Guidelines, 
Specifications Design Criteria, and City Standards. 

General Conditions: (Add following to Section 2.A of Engineering Department COA) 

1. Standard Conditions of Approval: Project shall comply with the requirements as set forth in the Amendment to the 
Standard Conditions of Approval for New Development Projects adopted by the City Council (Resolution No. 2017-
027) on April 18, 2017; as well as project-specific conditions/requirements as outlined below: 

 

Recycled Water: (Add following to Section 2.E of Engineering Department COA) 
 

2. Engineering Report: Provide an updated Engineering Report (ER) for recycled water to the City of Ontario for review. Please 
contact Water Quality Division at OMUCWQPlanCheck@ontarioca.gov.   

 
 

Item C - 32 of 38

mailto:OMUCWQPlanCheck@ontarioca.gov


CITY OF ONTARIO
MEMORANDUM

TO: Scott Murphy, Community Development Director (Copy of memo only)

Rudy Zeledon, Planning Director (Copy of memo only)

Diane Ayala, Advanced Planning Division (Copy of memo only)

Charity Hernandez, Economic Development

James Caro, Building Department

Raymond Lee, Engineering Department

Jamie Richardson, Landscape Planning Division

Dennis Mejia, Municipal Utility Company

Heather Lugo, Police Department

Paul Erhman, Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal

Jay Bautista, Traffic/Transportation Manager

Lorena Mejia, Airport Planning

Jeff Tang, Engineering/NPDES

Angela Magana, Community Improvement (Copy of memo only)

Jimmy Chang, IPA Department

Blaine Ishii, Integrated Waste

FROM: Lorena Mejia, Senior Planner

DATE: August 10, 2023

SUBJECT: FILE #:  PDEV23-023 Finance Acct#:     

The following project has been submitted for review.  Please send one (1) copy and email one (1) copy of 

your DAB report to the Planning Department by .

Note: Only DAB action is required

Both DAB and Planning Commission actions are required

Only Planning Commission action is required

DAB, Planning Commission and City Council actions are required

Only Zoning Administrator action is required

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  A Development Plan for a proposed two-story commercial addition totaling 

51,000 square feet on 17.01 acres of land located at 4105 Inland Empire Boulevard, within the Garden 

Commercial land use district of the Ontario Center Specific Plan (APN(s): 0210-205-12). Related File(s): 

PDEV22-020; PCUP23-002.

The conditions contained in the attached report must be met prior to scheduling for 

Development Advisory Board.

The plan does not adequately address the departmental concerns.

Standard Conditions of Approval apply

Report attached (1 copy and email 1 copy)

No comments

The plan does adequately address the departmental concerns at this time.

Department Signature Title Date
Item C - 33 of 38



CITY OF ONTARIO
MEMORANDUM

TO: Scott Murphy, Community Development Director (Copy of memo only)

Rudy Zeledon, Planning Director (Copy of memo only)

Diane Ayala, Advanced Planning Division (Copy of memo only)

Charity Hernandez, Economic Development

James Caro, Building Department

Raymond Lee, Engineering Department

Jamie Richardson, Landscape Planning Division

Dennis Mejia, Municipal Utility Company

Heather Lugo, Police Department

Paul Erhman, Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal

Jay Bautista, Traffic/Transportation Manager

Lorena Mejia, Airport Planning

Jeff Tang, Engineering/NPDES

Angela Magana, Community Improvement (Copy of memo only)

Jimmy Chang, IPA Department

Blaine Ishii, Integrated Waste

FROM: Lorena Mejia, Senior Planner

DATE: August 10, 2023

SUBJECT: FILE #:  PDEV23-023 Finance Acct#:     

The following project has been submitted for review.  Please send one (1) copy and email one (1) copy of 

your DAB report to the Planning Department by .

Note: Only DAB action is required

Both DAB and Planning Commission actions are required

Only Planning Commission action is required

DAB, Planning Commission and City Council actions are required

Only Zoning Administrator action is required

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:  A Development Plan for a proposed two-story commercial addition totaling 

51,000 square feet on 17.01 acres of land located at 4105 Inland Empire Boulevard, within the Garden 

Commercial land use district of the Ontario Center Specific Plan (APN(s): 0210-205-12). Related File(s): 

PDEV22-020; PCUP23-002.

The conditions contained in the attached report must be met prior to scheduling for 

Development Advisory Board.

The plan does not adequately address the departmental concerns.

Standard Conditions of Approval apply

Report attached (1 copy and email 1 copy)

No comments

The plan does adequately address the departmental concerns at this time.

Department Signature Title Date
Item C - 34 of 38

Cameron Chadwick
Broken Character
X symbol

Cameron Chadwick
Line

Cameron Chadwick
Broken Character
X symbol

Cameron Chadwick
Line

Cameron Chadwick
CC Blue Signature 2020
Broadband Operations

Cameron Chadwick
Snapshot

Cameron Chadwick
Date blue



Item C - 35 of 38



CITY OF ONTARIO 
LANDSCAPE PLANNING DIVISION 

303 East “B” Street, Ontario, CA 91764 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Sign Off 

 
09/15/2023 

Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Architect Date 

Reviewer’s Name:  
Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape architect 

Phone: 
(909) 395-2615 

 D.A.B. File No.:                                           
PDEV23-023 

Case Planner: 
Lorena Mejia 

Project Name and Location:  
Mathis Brothers 
4105 E Inland Empire 
Applicant/Representative: 
Steve LaBruna 
8583 Irvine Center Drive, Suite 350 
Irvine, CA 92618 
 
 
 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated 08/10/2023) meet the Standard Conditions for New 
Development and have been approved considering that the following conditions 
below be met upon submittal of the landscape construction documents. 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated) have not been approved. Corrections noted below are 
required before Preliminary Landscape Plan approval. 

A RESPONSE SHEET IS REQUIRED WITH RESUBMITTAL OR PLANS WILL BE RETURNED AS 
INCOMPLETE. 
Landscape construction plans with plan check number may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 
DIGITAL SUBMITTALS MUST BE 10MB OR LESS. Civil/ Site Plans 

1. Dimension, show and call out for step-outs at parking spaces adjacent to planters; a 12” wide 
monolithic concrete curb, DG paving or pavers with edging.  

 Landscape Plans 
2. Note on landscape plans: for compaction to be no greater than 85% at landscape areas. All 

finished grades at 1 ½” below finished surfaces. Slopes to be maximum 3:1. 
3. Dimension all planters to have a minimum 5’ wide inside dimension with 6” curbs and 12” wide 

curbs where parking spaces are adjacent to planters. 
4. Call out the type of proposed irrigation system (dripline and pop-up stream spray tree bubblers 

with PCS). Include preliminary MAWA calcs. Proposed water use must meet the water budget.  
5. Show landscape hydrozones on plan or legend with plants per WUCOLS. Moderate water 

plants may be used for part shade north and east-facing locations, low water plants 
everywhere else. 

6. Overhead spray systems shall be designed for plant material less than the height of the spray 
head. Subsurface dripline shall be used in planter spaces 10’ wide and less. 

7. Replace invasive, high water use, short-lived, high maintenance, or poor performing plants: 
Carpenteria californica (poor performer, is easily overwatered), Lavandula stoechas (short-
lived, OK in limited accent areas), Mulhlenberfia dubia (use in limited accent areas, difficult to 
maintain in masses). 

8. Show 8’ diameter of mulch only at new trees—detail irrigation dripline outside of mulched root 
zone. 

9. Designer or developer to provide agronomical soil testing and include a report on landscape 
construction plans.  

10. Landscape construction plans shall meet the requirements of the Landscape Development 
Guidelines. See http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards 

11. After a project’s entitlement approval, the applicant shall pay all applicable fees for landscape 
plan check and inspections at a rate established by resolution of the City Council. Landscape 
construction plans with building permit number for plan check may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 

Item C - 36 of 38

mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov
http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


Item C - 37 of 38



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
TO:  Lorena Mejia, Senior Planner 
  Planning Department 
 
FROM:  Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 
  Fire Department 
 
DATE:  August 16, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: PDEV23-023 - A Development Plan for a proposed two-story commercial 

addition totaling 51,000 square feet on 17.01 acres of land located at 4105 
Inland Empire Boulevard, within the Garden Commercial land use district 
of the Ontario Center Specific Plan (APN(s): 0210-205-12). Related File(s): 
PDEV22-020; PCUP23-002.  

 
 

   The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time.  

   Standard Conditions of Approval apply, as stated below. 

 
 
SITE AND BUILDING FEATURES: 
 

A. 2019 CBC Type of Construction:  Type III-B 
 

B. Type of Roof Materials:  Panelized 
 

C. Ground Floor Area(s):  51,000 Sq. Ft. Addition to Existing 
 

D. Number of Stories:  2 
 

E. Total Square Footage:  648,608 Existing 
 

F. 2019 CBC Occupancy Classification(s): M  
 

 

Item C - 38 of 38



Page 1 of 22 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV21-011 

DESCRIPTION: A Development Plan to construct 9 work/live units that consists of 252 
square feet of ground floor commercial and 1,892 square feet of residential on the upper 
2 levels of a mixed-use development on 0.48 acres of land within LUA-2N (Arts District- 
North) of the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed Use) zoning district located at 413 West Emporia 
Avenue. APN: 1049-059-03; submitted by JWDA-MS Architects. Planning  Commission 
action is required. 

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

JWDA-MS Architects, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has filed an 
application requesting approval of a Development Plan, File No. PDEV21-011, as 
described in the subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" or 
"Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The project site is comprised of 0.48 acres of unimproved land located 
at 413 West Emporia Avenue, which is depicted in Exhibit A: Project Location Map, 
attached. Land uses surrounding the project site are characterized by a mixture of 
residential uses, light industrial, and commercial uses to the east and west; a 125- unit 
affordable housing development known as Emporia Family Housing across Emporia 
Street to the north; and the Southern Pacific Railroad Corridor to the south. Existing land 
uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning designations on and surrounding the project 
site are as follows: 

Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Site: Vacant Mixed Use- Downtown LUA-2N (Arts District- North) of the MU-1 
(Downtown Mixed Use) 

North: Multiple-family 
residential  Mixed Use- Downtown LUA-2N (Arts District- North) of the MU-1 

(Downtown Mixed Use) 

South: Southern Pacific 
Railroad Corridor Rail RC (Rail Corridor) 

East: Warehouse Mixed Use- Downtown LUA-2N (Arts District- North) of the MU-1 
(Downtown Mixed Use) 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

November 20, 2023 

Item D - 1 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 22 

 Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

West: Warehouse Mixed Use- Downtown LUA-2N (Arts District- North) of the MU-1 
(Downtown Mixed Use) 

 
PROJECT ANALYSIS:  
 
(1) Background — The Project site is located within LUA-2 (Arts District- North) of the 
MU-1 (Downtown Mixed Use) zoning district, requiring the preparation and approval of a 
Planned Unit Development (“PUD”) to establish the development standards and design 
guidelines for the site. The Applicant filed a request for approval of the Emporia Work/Live 
Lofts PUD, File No. PUD21-003, in addition to a Conditional Use Permit, File No. PCUP23-
011, to establish a work/live operation, concurrently with the subject Development Plan 
application. Final approval of the Development Plan is contingent upon the City Council 
adoption of the PUD for the Project site. 
 
(2) Site Design/Building Layout — The Applicant proposes construction of 3 buildings 
comprised of 3-plex units for a total of 9 work/live units and is depicted in Exhibit B: Site 
Plan, attached.  The alley-loaded buildings are oriented east to west with the front entries 
facing a common paseo or perimeter wall with garages located at the rear. The buildings 
will have 3-stories with an overall height of 34 feet, 6 inches and will be setback 5 feet 
from Emporia Street; 10 and 5 feet from interior property lines; and approximately 50 feet 
from the south property line. A single row of parking spaces is located on the southern 
end of the site.  
 
The units will provide approximately 252 square feet of commercial workspace, 
bathroom, and a single-car garage for a total of 473 square feet located on the ground 
level. The second floor, also 473 square feet, is considered the primary living area 
equipped with a kitchen, dining area, bathroom and living area. Two bedrooms and two 
bathrooms are located on the third floor for a unit total of 946 square feet of living area 
and 473 square feet of work/garage area. The commercial workspace storefront 
entrance will serve as the primary entrance to the upper level residential area. Private 
garages will have direct access to the workspace and upper levels as depicted in Exhibit 
C: Floor Plans.  
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — The Project will have two pedestrian access points to 
the site that leads to the front entries from Emporia Street through common landscape 
pedestrian pathways. Primary vehicular access to the site is from a 2-way driveway, 
located on Emporia Street, that leads to a 24-foot-wide drive aisle from which access to 
private garages and surface parking spaces is provided.  
 
(4) Parking — The Project requires 23 off-street parking spaces pursuant to the 
proposed Emporia Work/Live Lofts PUD parking standards and are summarized in the 
table below. A total of 18 residential parking spaces are required and will be provided 
by 9 single car garages and 9 unenclosed parking spaces. An additional 6 parking 
spaces will be provided for guests and work units to bring the total off-street parking 

Item D - 2 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 22 

spaces to 24. The number of off-street parking spaces provided exceeds the minimum 
parking requirement for the Project by one parking space. 
 

Parking Summary 

Type of Use Building Area (SF) 
or No. of Units  Parking Ratio Spaces Required Spaces Provided 

Residential  9 (18 bedrooms) 1 space per bedroom 18 18  

Work/guest 1,467 3 spaces per 1,000 SF 5 6 

TOTAL   23 24 

 
(5) Architecture — The Project will be designed in a contemporary architectural style, 
as depicted in Exhibit E: Exterior Elevations and Exhibit F: Project Renderings, attached. 
The 3-story buildings will feature aluminum framed storefront glazing surrounded with brick 
veneer and a metal awning over the storefront that wraps the corner to the front door.  
The brick veneer continues along the base of the building along the primary view 
corridors. The main body of the building is finished with stucco and accented with 
horizontal siding placed near a combination of recessed and flush mounted windows.  
The building massing is scaled by varying degrees of wall projections, wood insets and 
recessed windows, creating visual relief. The Project illustrates the type of high-quality 
residential architecture promoted by the proposed Emporia Work/Live Lofts PUD and the 
Development Code. This is exemplified through the use of: 
 
 Articulation in the building footprints, incorporating vertical and horizontal 

changes in the exterior building walls (combination of recessed or projected wall 
areas); 

 Articulation in the varying heights of building roof lines and wall planes;  
 Recessed windows at key locations; and  
 Architectural details, such as the use of decorative trim to compliment the 

transitions from brick veneer to stucco finishes, awnings above the front entries and 
windows to enhance openings, and decorative garage doors with windows.  

 
(6) Landscaping — Landscaping is provided for the full length of the Project street 
frontage, side yards, alley, and pedestrian walkways for a total of 4,237 square feet (21 
percent landscape coverage), which meets the minimum 15 percent landscape 
coverage requirement for the Project. A variety of accent and shade trees in 24-inch, 36-
inch, and 48-inch box and 15-gallon sizes, as well as 1, 5, and 15- gallon size shrubs, 
groundcover, and vines will be planted in a variety of species throughout the site to 
create landscape areas that are aesthetically pleasing while having low or moderate 
water usage. Decorative paving and lighting will be provided at entries, along motor 
courts, and pedestrian walkways, as depicted in Exhibit C: Site Plan, attached. 
 
(7) Signage — All project signage is required to comply with sign regulations provided 
in Ontario Development Code Division 8.1. Prior to the issuance of a Building Permit for 
the installation of any new on-site signage, the Applicant is required to submit Sign Plans 
for Planning Department review and approval. 

Item D - 3 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 22 

(8) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available to serve 
the Project. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality 
Management Plan ("PWQMP"), which establishes the Project's compliance with storm 
water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures 
that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and 
maximizes low impact development ("LID") best management practices ("BMPs"), such 
as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes 
the use of an underground filtration system located on the southwest portion of the site. 
Any overflow drainage will be conveyed to the public street by way of parkway drains 
and culverts. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: Public notification is not be required, as the Development Advisory 
Board is acting in its capacity as an advisory body to the Planning Commission. Public 
notification is required prior to the Planning Commission hearing on the Project. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Decision, Planning Department staff has 
not received any written or verbal communications from the owners of properties 
surrounding the project site or from the public in general, regarding the subject 
application. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory 
Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 

Item D - 4 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 22 

the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Operate in a Businesslike Manner 
 Focus Resources in Ontario's Commercial and Residential Neighborhoods 
 

(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 

 
Land Use Element: 

 
 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 

price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 

Item D - 5 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 22 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 

  
 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 

aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Housing Element: 
 

 Goal H-2 Housing Supply & Diversity: Diversity of types of quality housing that 
are affordable to a range of household income levels, accommodate changing 
demographics, and support and reinforce the economic sustainability of Ontario. 
 

 H-2.5 Housing Design. We require architectural excellence through 
adherence to City design guidelines, thoughtful site planning, environmentally 
sustainable practices, and other best practices. 
 

 Goal H-5 Special Needs: A full range of housing types and community services 
that meet the special housing needs for all individuals and families in Ontario, regardless 
of income level, age, or other status. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

 CE-1.6 Diversity of Housing. We collaborate with residents, housing 
providers, and the development community to provide housing opportunities for every 
stage of life; we plan for a variety of housing types and price points to encourage the 
development of housing supportive of our efforts to attract business in growing sectors of 
the community while being respectful of existing viable uses. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 

Item D - 6 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 22 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-1.2 Place Types. We establish Place Types in urban, mixed use, and 
transit-oriented areas to foster the City's identity as a premier community and require new 
development within each Place Type to incorporate prescribed urban patterns, forms, 
and placemaking priorities. 
 

 CD-1.3 Existing Neighborhoods. We require the existing character of viable 
residential and non-residential neighborhoods be preserved, protected, and enhanced. 

 
 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 

neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

Item D - 7 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 22 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.2 Neighborhood Design. We create distinct residential neighborhoods 
that promote a sense of community and identity by emphasizing access, connectivity, 
livability, and social interaction through such elements as: 

 
• A pattern of smaller, walkable blocks that promote activity, safety, and 

access to nearby amenities and services; 
• Varied parcel sizes and lot configurations to accommodate a diversity 

of housing types; 
• Traffic calming measures to slow traffic and promote walkability while 

maintaining acceptable traffic flows and emergency evacuation access; 
• Floor plans that encourage views onto the street and de-emphasize the 

visual and physical dominance of garages (introducing the front porch as the "outdoor 
living room"), as appropriate; and 

• Landscaped parkways, with sidewalks separated from the curb and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, and aesthetics for all users. 
 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 
physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

Item D - 8 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 22 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented Place Types: Vibrant urban 
environments that are organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit areas, 
public plazas, and linkages between and within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all hours. 

 
 CD-3.2 Comfortable, Human-Scale Public Realm. We require that public 

spaces, including streets, parks, and plazas on both public and private property be 
designed to maximize safety, comfort and aesthetics and connect to the citywide 
pedestrian, vehicular, and bicycle networks. 

 
 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 

vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 
commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

 CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure. We collaborate with developers and 
property owners to facilitate development that realizes the envisioned character and 
functionality of the Place Type through the use of green and shared infrastructure within 
each Place Type. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 

Item D - 9 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 22 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the 
Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not one 
of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing 
Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to a categorical exemption 
(listed in CEQA Guidelines Article 19, commencing with Section 15300) and the 
application of that categorical exemption is not barred by one of the exceptions set forth 
in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 

 
WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 

Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and make recommendation to the Planning Commission on the 
subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 

Item D - 10 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 22 

procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 20, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a 
hearing on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 

 
WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 

 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 

Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the administrative record for the Project, including all written and oral evidence 
provided during the comment period. Based upon the facts and information contained 
in the administrative record, including all written and oral evidence presented to the DAB, 
the DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The Project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-fill 
Development Projects) of the CEQA Guidelines, and meets all the following conditions: 
 

(a) The proposed Project is consistent with the applicable general plan 
designation and all applicable general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning 
designation and regulations. The proposed Project is located within the Downtown Mixed 
Use land use designation of the Policy Plan (general plan) Land Use Map, and the MU-
1/LUA-2 (Downtown Mixed Use/Arts District- North) zoning district. The proposed Project is 
consistent with all applicable Policy Plan policies, as well as with the requirements of the 
MU-1/LUA-2 (Downtown Mixed Use/ Arts District- North) zoning district and the related 
proposed Emporia Work/Live Lofts Planned Unit Development, which, at the Project 
location, intends to accommodate commercial and residential mixed use. 
 

(b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no 
more than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. The Project is proposed 
within the established boundaries of the City of Ontario, on a project site totaling 0.48 
acres of land, which is surrounded by established development on all sides and consists 
of a mix of multiple-family, single family, retail, and commercial land uses. 

 
(c) The Project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened 

species. The site is located in an urbanized area, is devoid of any flora or fauna, is regularly 
used for passenger vehicle parking by neighboring residents, and as such not suitable 
habitat for any endangered, rare, or threatened species. 

 

Item D - 11 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 22 

(d) Approval of the Project would not result in any significant effects relating to 
traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality. The residential development is similar to, and of 
no greater impact than other allowed uses and development projects within the MU-
1/LUA-2 (Downtown Mixed Use/Arts District- North) zoning district. The Project would not 
result in any significant impacts through implementation of required state, regional, and 
local development and performance standards, and as demonstrated in the Air Quality, 
Noise, and hydrology analysis and the Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan 
("PWQMP") prepared for the Project. 

 
(e) The site is adequately served by all required utilities and public services. All 

necessary wet and dry utilities are within the public street and are readily available for 
connection; and 
 
(2) The application of the categorical exemption is not barred by one of the 
exceptions set forth in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 
 
(3) The determination of CEQA exemption reflects the independent judgment of the 
DAB. 
 

SECTION 2: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 3: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 and 2, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the 
Mixed Use- Downtown land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the MU-
1/LUA-2 (Downtown Mixed Use/Arts District- North) zoning district. The development 
standards and conditions under which the proposed Project will be constructed and 
maintained, is consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy 
Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan; and 
 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 

Item D - 12 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 22 

Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario 
Development Code and the MU-1/LUA-2 (Downtown Mixed Use/Arts District- North)  
zoning district, including standards relative to the particular land use proposed (Work/Live 
lofts), as-well-as building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, number 
of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-site and off-site landscaping, and fences, 
walls and obstructions; and 
 
(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure that: 
[i] the purposes of the proposed Emporia Work/Live Lofts Planned Unit Development are 
maintained; [ii] the Project will not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; 
[iii] the Project will not result in any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will 
be in harmony with the area in which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full 
conformity with the Vision, City Council Priorities and Policy Plan components of The 
Ontario Plan, and the Emporia Work/Live Lofts Planned Unit Development; and 
 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Emporia Work/Live Lofts 
Planned Unit Development that are applicable to the proposed Project, including 
building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, amount of off-street 
parking and loading spaces, parking lot dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle 
parking, on-site landscaping, and fences and walls, as-well-as those development 
standards and guidelines specifically related to the particular land use being proposed 
(Work/Live lofts). As a result of this review, the Development Advisory Board has 
determined that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of 
approval, will be consistent with the development standards and guidelines described in 
the Emporia Work/Live Lofts Planned Unit Development. 
 

SECTION 4: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 3, above, the DAB hereby recommends the 
Planning Commission APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set 
forth in the Conditions of Approval included as Attachment A of this Decision, and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 5: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify, 
and hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any 
claim, action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or 
employees to attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall 
promptly notify the applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of 
Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

Item D - 13 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 22 

SECTION 6: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of November 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

  

Item D - 14 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 22 

Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 
 

Project 
Site 

Item D - 15 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 22 

Exhibit B: SITE PLAN 
 
 

Item D - 16 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 22 

Exhibit C: FLOOR PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

First Floor Second Floor 

Third Floor 

Item D - 17 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 22 

Exhibit D: 3-PLEX ELEVATIONS 
 

   
 

 
 

   
 

Front Elevations 

Emporia Avenue (north) 

Item D - 18 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 22 

 
Exhibit D: ELEVATIONS (Continued) 

 
 

   
 

 
 

   

South Elevation 

Rear Elevations 

Item D - 19 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 22 

Exhibit E: LANDSCAPE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item D - 20 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 22 

 
Exhibit F: CONCEPTUAL RENDING  

 
 

  

Item D - 21 of 54



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV21-011 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 22 of 22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item D - 22 of 54



 

Page 1 of 5 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
Date Prepared: 11/2/2023 
 
File No: PDEV21-011 
 
Related Files: PUD21-002 and PCUP23-011 
 
Project Description: A Development Plan to construct 9 work/live units that consists of 252 
square feet of ground floor commercial and 1,892 square feet of residential on the upper 2 levels 
of a mixed-use development on 0.48 acres of land within LUA-2N (Arts District- North) of the MU-1 
(Downtown Mixed Use) zoning district located at 413 West Emporia Avenue; (APN: 1049-059-03); 
submitted by JWDA-MS Architects. 
 
Prepared By: Diane Ayala, Senior Planner 

Phone: 909.395.2428 (direct) 
Email: dayala@ontarioca.gov 

 
 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 
 
1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 
 
2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 
 

2.1 Time Limits. 
 

(a) Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years following 
the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and construction is 
commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has been approved 
by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time limits specified 
herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, for the 
performance of specific conditions or improvements. 
 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

 
(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency, 

including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 

Item D - 23 of 54



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV21-011 
 
 

Page 2 of 5 

and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 
 

(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 
plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for project, which shall be maintained on site during project 
construction. 
 

2.3 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department; 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 
 

2.4 Walls and Fences.  
 

(a) All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 

 
(b) Existing chain lInk fence shall be removed and replaced and replaced with 

a new decorative block wall with decorative cap.  
 
(c) West interior wall shall incorporate lattice near planters to allow pocket 

vines to grow and screen wall.  
 

2.5 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and 
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). 
 

(b) All drive approaches shall be provided with an enhanced pavement 
treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the approach apron, into the site, 
to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space. Additional pavers are required throughout the 
project site. 

Item D - 24 of 54



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV21-011 
 
 

Page 3 of 5 

(c) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 
parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

 
(d) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 

shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

 
(e) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 

by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 

 
(f) Bicycle parking facilities, including bicycle racks, lockers, and other secure 

facilities, shall be provided in conjunction with development projects pursuant to current 
regulations contained in CALGreen (CAC Title 24, Part 11). Final design and placement of bicycle 
parking facilities shall be subject to Planning Department review and approval. 
 

2.6 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 
 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning 
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated so as to be consistent with the 
building architecture. 
 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks, 
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 
 

2.7 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 
 

2.8 Signs.  
 

(a) All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations). 
 

2.9 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code 
Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 
 

2.10 Disclosure Statements. 
 

(a) A copy of the Public Report from the Department of Real Estate, prepared 
for the subdivision pursuant to Business and Professions Code Section 11000 et seq., shall be 
provided to each prospective buyer of the residential units and shall include a statement to the 
effect that: 
 

Item D - 25 of 54



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV21-011 
 
 

Page 4 of 5 

(i) This tract is subject to noise from the Ontario International Airport 
and may be more severely impacted in the future. 
 

2.11 Environmental Requirements.  
 

(a) If human remains are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 
 

(b) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 
 

2.12 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

2.13 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of 
Determination (“NOD”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be 
paid by check, made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded 
to the San Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable 
environmental forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (“CEQA”). Failure to provide said fee within the time specified will result in the extension of the 
statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 180 days. 

 
(b) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of Exemption 

(“NOE”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be paid by check, 
made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded to the San 
Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable environmental 
forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”). 
The filing of a NOE is voluntary; however, failure to provide said fee within the time specified will 
result in the extension of the statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 
180 days. 
 

(c) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 
building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 
 

2.14 Related Applications. Development Plan approval shall not be final and complete 
until such time that related File No. PUD21-002, Emporia Work/Live Lofts PUD, has been approved 
by the City Council. 
 

Item D - 26 of 54



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV21-011 
 
 

Page 5 of 5 

2.15 Final Occupancy. The Project Architect of record will certify that construction of 
each building site and the exterior elevations of each structure shall be completed in compliance 
with the approved plans. Any deviation to approved plans shall require a resubmittal to the 
Planning Department for review and approval prior to construction. The Occupancy Release 
Request Form/Architect Certificate of Compliance shall be provided prior to final occupancy. 
After the receipt of this Certification, the Planning Department will conduct a final site and exterior 
elevations inspection. The Owner’s Representative and Contractor shall be present. 
 

2.16 Additional Requirements. 
 

(a) All new required streetlights shall be installed per City Standard Drawing No. 
5103, King Street Light Standard. 
 

(b) Brick veneer shall be installed at the base the of the building, where 
appropriate.  
 

(c) Wall panel projections shall range from 15-inches to 6-inches minimum with 
window recessed ranging from 2-inches to 6-inches from building wall face.  

 
(d) A parking management plan requiring tenants to maintain a 10-feet by 20-

feet of clear space within garages for parking shall be submitted for review and approval to the 
Planning Department prior to issuances of building permits. 

 
(e)  All storefront and upper story windows shall be bronze in color to match. 

White colored frames are prohibited. Front doors shall have a 12-inch tall minimum “kick plate” or 
aluminum base as shown on plans.     

  
(f) Exterior light fixtures shall be architecturally compatible. Submit cut sheet to 

Planning Department for review and approval prior to issuance of building permit.   
 

 

Item D - 27 of 54



CITY OF ONTARIO 
LANDSCAPE PLANNING DIVISION 

303 East “B” Street, Ontario, CA 91764 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Sign Off 

 1/19/2023 
Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Planner Date 

Reviewer’s Name:  
Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Planner 

Phone: 
(909) 395-2615 

 D.A.B. File No.:                                           
PDEV21-011, PUD-21-002 

Case Planner: 
Diane Ayala 

Project Name and Location:  
12 multiple-family dwelling 
413 W Emporia Street 
Applicant/Representative: 
JWDA-MS Architects Michael Sun jwda888@sbcglobal.net   
8932 E. Mission Drive, Suite 101 
Rosemead, CA, 91770 
 
 
 

 
 
A Preliminary Landscape Plan (dated 12/13/2022) meets the Standard Conditions for 
New Development. It has been approved with the consideration that the following 
conditions below be met upon submittal of the landscape construction documents. 

 
 
A Preliminary Landscape Plan (dated) has not been approved.                               
Corrections noted below are required prior to Preliminary Landscape Plan approval. 

A RESPONSE SHEET IS REQUIRED WITH RESUBMITTAL OR PLANS WILL BE RETURNED AS 
INCOMPLETE. 
Landscape construction plans with plan check number may be emailed to: landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 
DIGITAL SUBMITTALS MUST BE 10 M.B. OR LESS. 
 
Civil/ Site Plans 

1. Provide an arborist report and tree inventory for existing trees, including genus, species, trunk 
diameter, canopy width, and condition. Submit the arborist report. Show and note existing trees 
in good condition to remain and note trees proposed to be removed. Include existing trees within 
15’ of adjacent property that would be affected by new walls, footings or on-site tree planting. 
Add tree protection notes on construction and demo plans to protect trees to remain. 
Replacement and mitigation for removed trees shall be equal to trunk diameter of heritage trees 
removed per the Development Code Tree Preservation Policy and Protection Measures, section 
6.05.020. 

2. Show on demo plans and landscape construction plans trees to be preserved, removed or 
mitigation measures for trees removed, such as:  
a. New 15-gallon trees min 1” diameter trunk, in addition to trees required. 
b. New 24” box trees min 1.5” diameter trunk, in addition to trees required. 
c. Upsizing trees on the plan one size larger such as 15 gallon to 24” box or 24” to 36” box size. 
d. The monetary value of the trees removed as identified in the “Guide for Plant Appraisal,” 

approved certified arborist plant appraiser, or may be equal to the value of the installation 
cost of planting, fertilizing, staking, and irrigating 15-gallon trees (100$ each) to the City of 
Ontario Historic Preservation Fund for city tree planting or city approved combination of the 
above items. 

3. Stormwater infiltration devices located in landscape areas shall be reviewed and plans approved 
by the Landscape Planning Division prior to permit issuance. Any storm water devices in 
parkway areas shall not displace street trees.  

Item D - 28 of 54

mailto:jwda888@sbcglobal.net
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


4. Show and dimension transformers set back 5’ from paving all sides. Coordinate with landscape 
plans. Show transformers on plan; coordinate with utility specialist to allow for required screening 
and setback. 

5. Show and dimension backflow devices set back 4’ from paving all sides. Locate on level grade 
6. Locate utilities, including light standards, fire hydrants, water, drain, and sewer lines to not 

conflict with required tree locations—coordinate civil plans with landscape plans.  
7. Note for compaction to be no greater than 85% at landscape areas. All finished grades at 1 ½” 

below finished surfaces. Slopes to be maximum 3:1.  
8. Add Note to Grading and Landscape Plans: Landscape areas where compaction has occurred 

due to grading activities and where trees or stormwater infiltration areas are located shall be 
loosened by soil fracturing. For trees, a 12’x12’x18” deep area; for stormwater infiltration the 
entire area shall be loosened. Add the following information on the plans: The backhoe method 
of soil fracturing shall be used to break up compaction. A 4” layer of Compost is spread over the 
soil surface before fracturing is begun. The backhoe shall dig into the soil lifting and then drop 
the soil immediately back into the hole. The bucket then moves to the adjacent soil and repeats. 
The Compost falls into the spaces between the soil chunks created. Fracturing shall leave the 
soil surface quite rough with large soil clods. These must be broken by additional tilling. Tilling in 
more Compost to the surface after fracturing per the soil report will help create an A horizon soil. 
Imported or reused Topsoil can be added on top of the fractured soil as needed for grading. The 
Landscape Architect shall be present during this process and provide certification of the soil 
fracturing. For additional reference, see Urban Tree Foundation – Planting Soil Specifications.  
 

Landscape Plans 
9. Provide an arborist report and tree inventory, as noted in #1.  
10. Provide details or exhibits for the surfacing, site furnishings, benches, etc. Site furnishings, 

materials, and amenities are subject to the approval of the Planning Department. High-quality 
materials are required. 

11. Hardscape Legend notes items per architectural plan, not a part of the submittal. Provide details 
for pavers, decorative concrete paving, concrete walkway, and driveway. 

12. Show backflow devices with 36” high strappy leaf shrub screening and trash enclosures and 
transformers, a 4’-5’ high evergreen hedge screening. Do not encircle utility, show as masses 
and duplicate masses in other locations on regular intervals.  

13. Locate light standards, fire hydrants, water and sewer lines to not conflict with required tree 
locations. Coordinate civil plans with landscape plans.  

14. Show all utilities on the landscape plans. Coordinate, so utilities are clear of tree locations.  
15. Note on landscape plans: for compaction to be no greater than 85% at landscape areas. All 

finished grades at 1 ½” below finished surfaces. Slopes to be maximum 3:1.  
16. Provide a broad canopy accent tree such Quercus suber, Quercus agrifolia, or Quercus 

Virginana in the parking island fingers. Provide tall, narrow screening trees in the planter along 
the eastern edge appropriate for a 3’ planter space; consider Hymenosporum flavum, 
Podocarpus henkelii, or Callistemon citrinus. Show trees to match at the entry. 

17. Provide large, broad canopy trees along the southern property line to screen and buffer the 
railroad. Consider Quercus ilex. 

18. Street trees for this project are: Washingtonia filifera and Grevillea robusta alternating per the 
Master Street Tree Plan.  

19. Call out type of proposed irrigation system (dripline and pop up stream spray tree bubblers with 
P.C.S.). Include preliminary MAWA calcs. Proposed water use must meet water budget.  

20. Show landscape hydrozones on plan or legend with plants per WUCOLS. Moderate water plants 
may be used for part shade north and east facing locations, low water plants everywhere else.  

21. Overhead spray systems shall be designed for plant material less than the height of the spray 
head.  

Item D - 29 of 54



22. Note 8’ diameter of mulch only at new trees. Construction Documents: Detail irrigation dripline 
outside of mulched root zone.  

23. Designer or developer to provide agronomical soil testing and include report on landscape 
construction plans.  

24. Show minimum on-site tree sizes per the Landscape Development standards, see the 
Landscape Planning website. 5% 48” box, 10% 36 box, 30% 24” box, 55% 15 gallon. 

25. Show 25% of trees as California native (Platanus racemosa, Quercus agrifolia, Quercus 
wislizenii, Quercus douglasii, Cercis occidentalis etc.) in appropriate locations. 

26. Landscape construction plans shall meet the requirements of the Landscape Development 
Guidelines. See http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards 

27. After a project’s entitlement approval, the applicant shall pay all applicable fees for landscape 
plan check and inspections at a rate established by resolution of the City Council.  

Item D - 30 of 54

http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards


 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
TO:  Diane Ayala, Senior Planner 
  Planning Department 
 
FROM:  Mike Gerken, Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 
  Fire Department 
 
DATE:  April 7, 2021 
 
SUBJECT: PDEV21-011 - A Development Plan to construct 12 multiple-family 

dwellings on 0.46-acre of land located at 413 West Emporia Street, within 
LUA-2N of the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed Use) zoning district (APN: 1049-
059-03). Related File: PUD-21-002. 

 
 

   The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time.  

   Standard Conditions of Approval apply, as stated below. 

 
 
SITE AND BUILDING FEATURES: 
 

A. 2019 CBC Type of Construction:  V-B 
 

B. Type of Roof Materials:  Ordinary 
 

C. Ground Floor Area(s):  766 Sq. Ft. Per Unit 
  4,596 Per Building 

 
D. Number of Stories:  3 

 
E. Total Square Footage:  1,673 Sq. Ft. Per Unit + 436 Sq. Ft. Garage 

        20,076 Sq. Ft. Total Living Area (2 Buildings) 
 

F. 2019 CBC Occupancy Classification(s):  R2 
 
 
 

 
 

Item D - 31 of 54



 
2 of 4  

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 

1.0 GENERAL 
 

  1.1 The following are the Ontario Fire Department (“Fire Department”) requirements for this 
development project, based on the current edition of the California Fire Code (CFC), and the 
current versions of the Fire Prevention Standards (“Standards.”) It is recommended that the 
applicant or developer transmit a copy of these requirements to the on-site contractor(s) and 
that all questions or concerns be directed to the Bureau of Fire Prevention, at (909) 395-2029. 
For copies of Ontario Fire Department Standards please access the City of Ontario web site at 
www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention.  

 
  1.2 These Fire Department conditions of approval are to be included on any and all construction 

drawings.  
 
2.0 FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 
 

  2.1 Fire Department vehicle access roadways shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all portions of 
the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved. Roadways 
shall be paved with an all-weather surface and shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24) ft. wide. 
Not that they roadways are current only twenty (20) ft. wide. See Standard #B-004.   

 
  2.2 In order to allow for adequate turning radius for emergency fire apparatus, all turns shall be 

designed to meet the minimum twenty five feet (25’) inside and forty-five feet (45’) outside 
turning radius per Standard #B-005.   

 
  2.3 Fire Department access roadways that exceed one hundred and fifty feet (150’) in length shall 

have an approved turn-around per Standard #B-002.   
 

  2.4 Access drive aisles which cross property lines shall be provided with CC&Rs, access 
easements, or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected 
properties, and copies of same shall be provided at the time of building plan check. 

 
  2.5 "No Parking-Fire Lane" signs and /or red painted curbs with lettering are required to be instal-

led in interior access roadways, in locations where vehicle parking would obstruct the 
minimum clear width requirement. Installation shall be per Standard #B-001.  

 
  2.6 Security gates or other barriers on fire access roadways shall be provided with a Knox brand 

key switch or padlock to allow Fire Department access.  See Standards #B-003, B-004 and H-
001. 

 
  2.7 Any time PRIOR to on-site combustible construction and/or storage, a minimum twenty-four 

(24) ft. wide circulating all weather access roads shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all 
portions of the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved by 
fire department and other emergency services. 
 

 
 

Item D - 32 of 54

http://www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention


 
3 of 4  

 

3.0 WATER SUPPLY 
 

  3.1 The required fire flow per Fire Department standards, based on the 2019 California Fire Code, 
Appendix B, is 1500  gallons per minute (g.p.m.) for 2 hours at a minimum of 20 pounds per 
square inch (p.s.i.) residual operating pressure. 

 
  3.2 Off-site (public) fire hydrants are required to be installed on all frontage streets, at a minimum 

spacing of three hundred foot (300’) apart, per Engineering Department specifications.  
 

  3.4 The water supply, including water mains and fire hydrants, shall be tested and approved by the 
Engineering Department and Fire Department prior to combustible construction to assure 
availability and reliability for firefighting purposes.  

 
4.0 FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS 
 

  4.2 Underground fire mains which cross property lines shall be provided with CC & R, easements, 
or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected properties, and 
copies of same shall be provided at the time of fire department plan check. The shared use of 
private fire mains or fire pumps is allowable only between immediately adjacent properties 
and shall not cross any public street. 

 
  4.3 An automatic fire sprinkler system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with 

National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 13 D. All new fire sprinkler systems, 
except those in single family dwellings, which contain twenty (20) sprinkler heads or more 
shall be monitored by an approved listed supervising station. An application along with 
detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire 
Department, prior to any work being done.   

 
  4.4 Wood frame buildings that are to be sprinkled shall have these systems in service (but not 

necessarily finaled) before the building is enclosed.  
 

   
5.0 BUILDING CONSTRUCTION FEATURES 
 

  5.1 The developer/general contractor is to be responsible for reasonable periodic cleanup of the 
development during construction to avoid hazardous accumulations of combustible trash and 
debris both on and off the site. 

 
  5.2 Approved numbers or addresses shall be placed on all new and existing buildings in such a 

position as to be plainly visible and legible from the street or road fronting the property.  Multi-
tenant or building projects shall have addresses and/or suite numbers provided on the rear of 
the building.  Address numbers shall contrast with their background. See Section 9-1 6.06 of 
the Ontario Municipal Code and Standards #H-003 and #H-002.  
 

  5.3 Single station smoke alarms and carbon monoxide alarms are required to be installed per the 
California Building Code and the California Fire Code.  
 

Item D - 33 of 54



 
4 of 4  

 

  5.4 Multiple unit building complexes shall have building directories provided at the main 
entrances.  The directories shall be designed to the requirements of the Fire Department, see 
Section 9-1 6.06 of the Ontario Municipal Code and Standard #H-003.  
 

  5.5  All residential chimneys shall be equipped with an approved spark arrester meeting the 
requirements of the California Building Code. 

 

Item D - 34 of 54



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 

 

TO:  Diane Ayala, Senior Planner 

  Planning Department 

 

FROM:  Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 

  Fire Department 

 

DATE:  September 22, 2022 

 

SUBJECT: PDEV21-011 - Revised description- A Development Plan to construct 9 

live/work units on 0.46-acre of land located at 413 West Emporia Street, 

within LUA-2N of the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed Use) zoning district (APN: 

1049-059-03). Related File: PUD-21-002. (Revision 1). 

 

 

   The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time.  

   See previous report for Conditions.  

 

 
 

Item D - 35 of 54



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Diane Ayala, Senior Planner 
 
FROM:  Officer Bill Lee, Police Department 
 
DATE:  April 14, 2021 
 
SUBJECT: PDEV21-011: DEVELOPMENT PLAN APPROVAL TO A CONSTRUCT 

12 MULTIPLE-FAMILY DWELLINGS AT 413 WEST EMPORIA 
STREET.  RELATED FILE: PUD21-002. 

 
 
The “Standard Conditions of Approval” contained in Resolution No. 2017-027 apply. The 
applicant shall read and be thoroughly familiar with these conditions, including but not limited to, 
the requirements listed below. 
 

 Areas outside apartments, duplexes, and condominiums, are to be provided with a 
photocell operated exterior lighting system, which switches on at sunset and switches off 
at sunrise. This is to include walkways, doorways, and other areas used by the public and 
common areas. Minimum 0.5 foot-candle of light shall be maintained in all common 
areas. Planned landscaping shall not obstruct lighting. 

 During hours of darkness, all parking lots and carports shall be provided with 
minimum one foot-candle of light, measured on the parking surface. Lighting devices 
shall be fully protected with weather and vandalism resistant covers. 

 The Applicant shall comply with all construction site security requirements as stated in the 
Standard Conditions. This includes the provisions for perimeter lighting, site lighting, 
fencing and/or uniformed security. 

  Maintain all landscaping on property to a standard that all ground covering shrubbery 
and hedges are no taller than 2 feet (24") and the lower canopy of all trees is no lower 
than 6 feet (72”).  
 

The Applicant is invited to call Bill Lee at (909) 408-1672 with any questions regarding these 
conditions.  

Item D - 36 of 54



Item D - 37 of 54



Item D - 38 of 54



Item D - 39 of 54



Item D - 40 of 54



Item D - 41 of 54



Item D - 42 of 54



Item D - 43 of 54



Item D - 44 of 54



Item D - 45 of 54



Item D - 46 of 54



Item D - 47 of 54



Item D - 48 of 54



Item D - 49 of 54



Item D - 50 of 54



Item D - 51 of 54



Item D - 52 of 54



AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

Site Acreage:

ONT-IAC Project Review:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone Avigation Easement 
Dedication

Real Estate Transaction

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PUD21-002 & PDEV21-011

413 West Emporia Street

1049-059-03

Vacant

PUD and development plan to construct 12 multi-family units

0.46

n/a

ONT

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) and was
evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP)
for ONT.

See attached conditions.

✔

✔ ✔

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Diane Ayala

July 6, 2021

2021-021

n/a

55 FT

100 FT

✔

Item D - 53 of 54



CD No.:

PALU No.:

PROJECT CONDITIONS

AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 2

New Residential land uses are required to have a Recorded Overflight Notification appearing on the Property Deed
and Title incorporating the following language:

NOTICE OF AIRPORT IN VICINITY: This property is presently located in the vicinity of an airport, within what is
known as an airport influence area. For that reason, the property may be subject to some of the annoyances or
inconveniences associated with proximity to airport operations (for example: noise, vibration, or odors). Individual
sensitivities to those annoyances can vary from person to person. You may wish to consider what airport annoyances,
if any, are associated with the property before you complete your purchase and determine whether they are acceptable
to you.

2021-021

Item D - 54 of 54



Page 1 of 30 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV22-033 

DESCRIPTION:  A Development Plan to construct 77 multiple-family dwellings on 1.41-acres 
of land, for property located at 1749 E. Fourth Street within the HDR-45 (High Density 
Residential - 25.1 to 45.0 du/acre) zoning district (APNs: 108-551-01, 108-551-34 and 108-
551-35); submitted by Mike Ascione - Ambitus-Ontario 1LP.  Planning Commission action
is required.

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

MIKE ASCIONE-AMBITUS-ONTARIO 1LP., (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has 
filed an application requesting approval of a Development Plan, File No. PDEV22-033, as 
described in the subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" or 
"Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 1.41-acres of land located at 1749 E. 
Fourth Street, within the HDR-45 (High Density Residential - 25.1 to 45.0 du/acre) zoning 
district, which is depicted in Exhibit A: Project Location Map, attached. The Project site is 
composed of three (3) separate vacant parcels which will be consolidated into one 
parcel as part of the proposed development. The existing zoning designation of HDR-45 
is consistent with the General Plan land use designation for High Density Residential (25.1 
to 45.0 du/acre). The property to the north of the Project site is within the HDR-45 (High 
Density Residential - 25.1 to 45.0 du/acre) land use district and is developed with multi-
family residential development. The property to the south is within the MDR-18 (Medium 
Density Residential - 11.1 to 18.0 du/acre) and is developed with multi-family residential 
development. The property to the east is within the CIV (Civic) zone and is developed 
with Corona Elementary School. The property to the west is within the HDR-45 (High 
Density Residential - 25.1 to 45.0 du/acre) zone and is developed with single-family 
homes. Existing land uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning designations on and 
surrounding the project site are as follows: 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

November 20, 2023 

Item E - 1 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 30 

 Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Site: Vacant Land High Density Residential  
HDR-45 High Density 

Residential  
(25.1 to 45.0 du/ac) 

N/A 

North: 
Multi-Family Dwellings 

(one-story) 
High Density Residential  

HDR-45 High Density 
Residential 

(25.1 to 45.0 du/acre) 
N/A 

South: Multi-Family Dwellings  Medium Density 
Residential  

MDR-18  
(11.1 to 18.0 du/acre) 

N/A 

East: Corona Elementary 
School  PS (Public School) CIV (Civic) N/A 

West: Single-Family Homes High Density Residential  
HDR-45 High Density 

Residential  
 (25.1 to 45.0 du/acre) 

N/A 

 
(1) Background — On June 27, 2017, the Planning Commission approved a 
Development Plan (File No. PDEV16-023), to construct a 36-unit (three-story) residential 
condominium development with subterranean podium parking, on the project site and 
a Tentative Tract Map (File No. PMTT16-014/TT 20028) to subdivide 1.41 acres into a single 
lot for condominium purposes. The Project was never developed, and the approved 
entitlements have expired. 
 
(2) Density Bonus — As part of the Development Plan application, the Applicant is 
requesting a density bonus for the Project. Per the Ontario Development Code Division 
6.01, Section 6.01.010 H (Residential Zoning Districts) and the California Government 
Code Section 65915-65918 (Density Bonuses and Other Incentives), developments can 
request additional density beyond what the local General Plan and Development Code 
allows, without the need to amend or revise the General Plan or Development Code.  
 
The Density Bonus Law permits up to a 50% density bonus with a number of incentives, 
concessions, and waivers to assist in the financial and development feasibility of 
residential developments. The Applicant’s request is for a 20% density bonus allocation. 
The Project site is zoned HDR-45 (High Density Residential - 25.1 to 45.0 du/acre), which 
allows for a maximum of 64 dwelling units. The 20% density bonus results in an additional 
13 dwelling units, for a total of 77 multiple family dwelling units. In exchange, the 
Applicant will set aside 5% (4 units) of total units as extremely low-income units. This results 
in a total of 73 market rate and 4 very low-income dwelling units.  
 
As part as the Density Bonus request, the applicant is requesting concession relief from 
the City’s architectural and landscape guidelines, as it would make the project 
financially infeasible. The waivers include a reduction of the total common open space 
of 19,000 square feet (250 square feet per unit) to 17,917 square feet (233 square feet per 
unit), with the second waiver request to reduce the Development Code 5-foot setback 
requirement for the Edison transformer utility meters/services to a  3-foot setback. 

Item E - 2 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 30 

Approval of the requested density bonus will require the Applicant to enter into an 
Affordable Housing Regulatory Agreement with the City. 
   
Site Design/Building Layout — The Project site is located on the southeast corner of Fourth 
Street and Corona Avenue. The Project site has three street frontages that include, Fourth 
Street on the south, Harvard Place on the north, and Corona Avenue on the east. The 
Development Plan will allow for 77 multiple-family rental dwellings units. The building 
footprint will encompass the entire site plan. The four-story (54-feet) building is configured 
in a U-shaped design, with three floors of residential units over one-level of at-grade 
podium structured parking and common open space located in the center on the 
second floor and open to the sky. The administrative offices, main lobby, and primary 
building frontage will face north toward Harvard Place. The east elevation (Corona 
Avenue) will feature vehicular ingress and egress access to the at-grade podium parking 
structure. The south elevation will have street frontage along Fourth Street. The west 
elevation will face existing single family and multi-family developments. Common 
recreational amenity areas will be located within the first floor, along the northeast corner 
of the building; and along the second, third and fourth floors. Parking will be located 
within the at-grade podium parking structure (first floor) (see Exhibit B: Site Plan, and 
Exhibits D through G - Floor Plans, attached). The Applicant is requesting a waiver to 
reduce the city’s 5-foot setback from the Edison transformer utility meters/ services and 
comply only with the Edison required 3-foot setback. 
 
The 77 multiple-family dwellings will include 45 one-bedroom units and 32 two-bedroom 
units, and provide four floor plans ranging in size from 658 to 1,129 square feet and are 
described below (see Exhibit H: Typical Floor Plans, attached):   
 

Table 1: Floor Plan Summary 
 

Plan No. Area (in SF) No. Units No. Bedrooms No. Baths 

Type A-1 658 43 1  1  

Type A-2 675 2 1  1  

Type B-1 982 30 2 2 

Type B-2 1,129 2 2  2 
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — Primary ingress and egress into the site will be taken from 
Corona Avenue, by way of a 26-foot wide driveway into the at-grade podium parking 
structure. Two-way access through the parking structure will be accommodated by 24-
foot and 27-foot wide drive aisles. In addition, several pedestrian linkages around the 
Project site will be provided to facilitate access to the public streets. Pedestrian access 
into the administrative office and main lobby will be provided along the northeast corner 
of the building. Pedestrian access into the parking structure will be provided along the 
north, east and south sides of the building. The residential units will be accessed through 
interior corridors, which are accessible by stairs and an elevator located in the lobby, 
within the parking structure level (1st floor). 

Item E - 3 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 30 

(4) Parking — As part of the 20% density bonus request for this project, the Project will 
follow the prescribed parking requirements provided per California Government Code 
Section 65915, which allows one on-site parking space for zero to one bedroom and one 
and one-half on-site parking spaces for two and three bedrooms. Per the State parking 
requirements, a total of 93 parking spaces are required and the project proposes a total 
of 121 parking spaces as demonstrated in the parking summary table below. All off-street 
parking has been provided in the form of a one-level at-grade podium parking structure.  
 

Parking Summary Table  
 

Type of Use Number of Units  Density Bonus State Parking Ratios Spaces 
Required 

Spaces 
Provided 

One-Bedroom 45 One onsite parking space per unit 45 45 

Two-Bedroom 32 One and one-half onsite parking 
spaces per unit 48 48 

TOTAL 77  93 121 

 
(5) Architecture — The Project incorporates a Spanish Contemporary architectural 
design (see Figure 2: Fourth Street and Corona Avenue Perspective below; and exterior 
building elevations contained in Exhibits I through J, attached). The building mass and 
scale is designed to be proportionate to the site. The varying massing of the building, 
articulated roof line and the three and four-story step downs (east and west elevations), 
provides visual interest and helps soften the pedestrian interface between the building 
façade and the street. Special attention was given to the colors, materials, massing, 
building form, and architectural details. This is demonstrated by the use of: 
 

• Articulation in the building’s roof line; 
• Incorporation of architectural towers along the northeast and southeast 

corners of the building; 
• Stone veneer along the buildings base; 
• Tile roof; 
• Exterior sand finish cement plaster; 
• Precast concrete moldings at key locations; 
• Decorative metal railings at all balconies along the second, third and fourth 

floors; 
• Decorative window wood shutters at key locations along the third floor; 
• Arched and round elements along the third and fourth floors; 
• Decorative red clay barrel accent pipes below all front-gabled roofs; 
• Decorative metal trellis over third floor patio balconies; 
• Decorative trims around doors and windows; 
• Decorative tube steel framing and metal mesh over the exterior of the parking 

structure openings; 
• Decorative wrought iron icons under front-gabled roofs at key locations; and 
• Incorporation of a color pallet appropriate to the proposed architecture. 

Item E - 4 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 30 

Landscaping — The Project complies with the minimum landscape requirements 
established by the Development Code. A 10-foot wide landscape setback will be 
provided along the north (Harvard Place), east (Corona Avenue), and south (Fourth 
Street) property lines. The plant pallet will consist of a mix of shade trees, ground cover 
and shrubs. The project will feature the following: Piccabeen, Palms, Swan Hill Olive, Pink 
Dawn Chitalpa, Golden Rain Tree, Crape Myrtle, Brisbane Box Tree, Long Leafed Yellow 
Wood, Crimson Bottlebrush and Western Redbud. In addition, the Project will provide 
decorative paving at the structure parking entry and along the outside of the 
administrative office area. The street parkways along all three street frontages will be 
landscaped with groundcover and trees according to the street master plan for the area. 
The Applicant is requesting a waiver to reduce the city’s 5-foot setback from the Edison 
transformer utility meters/services and comply only with the Edison required 3-foot 
setback. 
 
(6) Open Space —The Project complies with the minimum private space requirement, 
providing an average of 67 square feet (60 square feet required)of private open space 
per unit, in the form of private balconies (see Exhibits B through G, Floor Plans). The 
Applicant is requesting a waiver to reduce the total common open space of 19,000 
square feet (250 square feet per unit) to 17,917 square feet (233 square feet per unit) and 
is being provided in the form of: 
 

• Lobby area and community room on the first floor (structure parking level) 
• Lobby area, exercise room, library room, pool area with seating area with 

fire pit, BBQ counter with sink, outdoor dining tables and chairs, trellis 
structure (Second floor) 

    

 Figure 2: Fourth Street and Corona Avenue Perspective  

Item E - 5 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 30 

• Lobby area (Third Floor), and  
• Lobby area (Fourth Floor) 

 
(7) Signage — All project signage is required to comply with sign regulations provided 
in Ontario Development Code Division 8.1. Prior to the issuance of a Building Permit for 
the installation of any new on-site signage, the Applicant is required to submit Sign Plans 
for Planning Department review and approval. 
 
(8) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available to serve 
the Project. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality 
Management Plan ("PWQMP"), which establishes the Project's compliance with storm 
water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures 
that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and 
maximizes low impact development ("LID") best management practices ("BMPs"), such 
as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes 
the use of an underground stormwater infiltration and drainage detention system. Any 
overflow drainage will be conveyed to the public street by way of parkway drains and 
culverts. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: Public notification is not being required, as the Development 
Advisory Board is acting in its capacity as an advisory body to the Planning Commission. 
Public notification is required prior to the Planning Commission hearing on the Project. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Decision, Planning Department staff has 
not received any written or verbal communications from the owners of properties 
surrounding the project site or from the public in general, regarding the subject 
application. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory 

Item E - 6 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 30 

Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals: 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Operate in a Businesslike Manner 
 Focus Resources in Ontario's Commercial and Residential Neighborhoods 

 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 

 
Land Use Element: 

 

Item E - 7 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 30 

 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 
price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Housing Element: 
 

 Goal H-2 Housing Supply & Diversity: Diversity of types of quality housing that 
are affordable to a range of household income levels, accommodate changing 
demographics, and support and reinforce the economic sustainability of Ontario. 
 

 H-2.4 Ontario Ranch. We support a premier lifestyle community in the 
Ontario Ranch, distinguished by diverse housing, highest design quality, and cohesive 
and highly amenitized neighborhoods. 
 

 H-2.5 Housing Design. We require architectural excellence through 
adherence to City design guidelines, thoughtful site planning, environmentally 
sustainable practices, and other best practices. 
 

 Goal H-5 Special Needs: A full range of housing types and community services 
that meet the special housing needs for all individuals and families in Ontario, regardless 
of income level, age, or other status. 
 

 H-5.2 Family Housing. We support the development of larger rental 
apartments that are appropriate for families with children, including, as feasible, the 
provision of services, recreation, and other amenities. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 

Item E - 8 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 30 

 CE-1.6 Diversity of Housing. We collaborate with residents, housing 
providers, and the development community to provide housing opportunities for every 
stage of life; we plan for a variety of housing types and price points to encourage the 
development of housing supportive of our efforts to attract business in growing sectors of 
the community while being respectful of existing viable uses. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

Item E - 9 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 30 

 CD-1.2 Place Types. We establish Place Types in urban, mixed use, and 
transit-oriented areas to foster the City's identity as a premier community and require new 
development within each Place Type to incorporate prescribed urban patterns, forms, 
and placemaking priorities. 
 

 CD-1.3 Existing Neighborhoods. We require the existing character of viable 
residential and non-residential neighborhoods be preserved, protected, and enhanced. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.2 Neighborhood Design. We create distinct residential neighborhoods 
that promote a sense of community and identity by emphasizing access, connectivity, 
livability, and social interaction through such elements as: 
 

• A pattern of smaller, walkable blocks that promote activity, safety, and 
access to nearby amenities and services; 

• Varied parcel sizes and lot configurations to accommodate a diversity 
of housing types; 

• Traffic calming measures to slow traffic and promote walkability while 
maintaining acceptable traffic flows and emergency evacuation access; 

• Floor plans that encourage views onto the street and de-emphasize the 
visual and physical dominance of garages (introducing the front porch as the "outdoor 
living room"), as appropriate; and 

• Landscaped parkways, with sidewalks separated from the curb and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, and aesthetics for all users. 
 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

Item E - 10 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 30 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 
physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Surface parking: Shade trees, pervious surfaces, urban run-off capture 
and infiltration, and pedestrian paths to guide users through the parking field; 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 

• Garage parking: providing access to single-family residential garages 
through alley access, recessing garages from the frontage to emphasize front doors or 
active living spaces. 
 

 CD-2.11 Entry Statements. We encourage the inclusion of amenities, 
signage, and landscaping at the entry to neighborhoods, commercial centers, mixed 
use areas, industrial developments, and public places that reinforce them as uniquely 
identifiable places. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented Place Types: Vibrant urban 
environments that are organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit areas, 
public plazas, and linkages between and within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all hours. 
 

 CD-3.2 Comfortable, Human-Scale Public Realm. We require that public 
spaces, including streets, parks, and plazas on both public and private property be 

Item E - 11 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 30 

designed to maximize safety, comfort and aesthetics and connect to the citywide 
pedestrian, vehicular, and bicycle networks. 
 

 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 
commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

 CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure. We collaborate with developers and 
property owners to facilitate development that realizes the envisioned character and 
functionality of the Place Type through the use of green and shared infrastructure within 
each Place Type. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The project is consistent with the Housing Element of 
the Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not 
one of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 
(Housing Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
 
 

Item E - 12 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 30 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to a categorical exemption 
(listed in CEQA Guidelines Article 19, commencing with Section 15300) and the 
application of that categorical exemption is not barred by one of the exceptions set forth 
in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and make recommendations to the Planning Commission on the 
subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 20, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a 
hearing on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

Item E - 13 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 30 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the administrative record for the Project, including all written and oral evidence 
provided during the comment period. Based upon the facts and information contained 
in the administrative record, including all written and oral evidence presented to the DAB, 
the DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The Project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-Fill 
Development Project) of the CEQA Guidelines, which consists of: 
 

(a) The Project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and 
all applicable general plan policies, as well as the applicable zoning designation and 
regulations. The Project proposes to develop a 77-unit residential apartment complex on 
1.41-acres, which is consistent with all applicable Policy Plan policies, as well as the 
requirements of the HDR-45 land use designation. In addition to the above, the Project 
complies with California Government Code Section 65915-65918 (Density Bonuses and 
Other Incentives), that permits developments to include additional density beyond what 
the local General Plan and Development Code allows, without the need to amend or 
revise the General Plan or Development Code. 

 
(b) The proposed development occurs within city limits, on a project site of no 

more than five acres and is substantially surrounded by urban uses. The Project is 
proposed within the established boundaries of the City of Ontario, on a project site 
totaling 1.41-acres of land, which is surrounded by established single family homes to the 
west, multi-family residential development to the north and south, and an elementary 
school (Corona Elementary) to the east.  

 
(c) The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened 

species. The project site is regularly cleared of overgrown weeds and debris by the 
property owner. Therefore, as a result the site is not suitable habitat for any endangered, 
rare, or threatened species. 

 
(d) Approval of the Project will not result in any significant effects relating to 

traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality. The Project is consistent with the HDR-45 land 
use designation similar to, and of no greater impact than other allowed uses and 
development projects within the HDR-45 land use designation. The Project is consistent 
with findings of the TOP 2050 Supplemental Environmental Impact Report and would not 
result in any significant effects related to traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality. The 
Project was reviewed by the Engineering Department, Traffic Division, Planning 

Item E - 14 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 30 

Department, and Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (“OMUC”), and no significant 
effects were determined to be a result of the proposed Project; and 

 
(e) The Project site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public 

services. All necessary wet and dry utilities are within the public street and are readily 
available for connection; and 

 
(2) The application of the categorical exemption is not barred by one of the 
exceptions set forth in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 
 
(3) The determination of CEQA exemption reflects the independent judgment of the 
DAB. 
 

SECTION 2: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 3: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 and 2, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 
The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the 
(High-Density Residential) land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the HDR-
45 (High Density Residential - 25.1 to 45.0 du/acre) zoning district. The Applicant requests 
a State 20% density bonus allocation upon the Project site zoned HDR-45 zone (64 
dwelling units) and results in an additional 13 dwelling units (77 total multiple units). In 
exchange, the Applicant will set aside 5% (4 units) of the projects units as extremely low-
income units. This results in a total of 73 market rate and 4 very low-income dwelling units. 
The one concession requests relief from the city’s architectural and landscape guidelines, 
as it would make the project financially infeasible. The waivers include a reduction of the 
total common open space of 19,000 square feet (250 square feet per unit) to 17,917 
square feet (233 square feet per unit), with the second waiver request to reduce the city’s 
5-foot setback from the Edison transformer utility meters/services and comply only with 
the Edison required 3-foot setback. The development standards and conditions under 
which the proposed Project will be constructed and maintained, consistent with the 
goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City 
Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The Project will provide housing in the 

Item E - 15 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 30 

area, consistent with the TOP Policy LU1-6 (Complete Community). In addition, the Project 
will contribute to the establishment of a dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
neighborhoods and districts that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses (Goal CD1). Furthermore, the Project will promote the 
City’s policy to take actions that are consistent with the City being a leading urban center 
in Southern California, while recognizing the diverse character of our existing viable 
neighborhoods (Policy CD1-1); and 
 
(1) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 
Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario 
Development Code, the HDR-45 (High Density Residential - 25.1 to 45.0 du/acre) zoning 
district, including standards relative to the particular land use proposed (77-unit 
apartment complex), as-well-as building intensity, building and parking setbacks, 
building height, number of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-site and off-site 
landscaping, and fences, walls and obstructions. In addition, the Project has been 
developed to comply with Government Code Section 65915-65918 (Density Bonuses and 
Other Incentives), that permits projects to include additional density beyond what the 
General Plan and Development Code and allowance for concessions and waivers to 
assist in the financial feasibility of residential projects. The HDR-45 zone permits a total of 
63.45 dwelling units for the project site, with the 20% density bonus request, it permits an 
additional 12.69 dwelling units, for a total of 77 units. In exchange, the proposed project 
will set aside 5% (4-units) as extremely low-income units. The Project will include full on-site 
and off-site infrastructure improvements that will improve the street frontage along 
Harvard Place, Corona Avenue and Fourth Street; and 
 
(2) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure that: 
[i] the purposes of the Development Code are maintained; [ii] the Project will not 
endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; [iii] the Project will not result in any 
significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will be in harmony with the area in 
which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full conformity with the Vision, City Council 
Priorities and Policy Plan components of The Ontario Plan. In addition, the proposed 
project will provide much needed housing which will also allow the City to comply with 
our Housing Element housing needs; and 
 
(3) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Development Code that are 
applicable to the proposed Project, including building intensity, building and parking 
setbacks, building height, amount of off-street parking and loading spaces, parking lot 

Item E - 16 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 30 

dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle parking, on-site landscaping, and fences 
and walls, as-well-as those development standards and guidelines specifically related to 
the particular land use being proposed (77-unit apartment complex). In addition, the 
Project has also been reviewed to comply with Government Code Section 65915-65918 
(Density Bonuses and Other Incentives), that permits projects to include additional density 
beyond what the General Plan and Development Code limits. As a result, the 
Development Advisory Board has determined that the Project, when implemented in 
conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the development 
standards, guidelines described in the Development Code and Government Code 
Section 65915-65918 (Density Bonuses and Other Incentives). 
 

SECTION 4: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 3, above, the DAB hereby recommends the 
Planning Commission APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set 
forth in the Conditions of Approval included as Attachment A of this Decision, and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 5: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify, 
and hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any 
claim, action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or 
employees to attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall 
promptly notify the applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of 
Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 6: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of November 2023. 

 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

 
 
 
 

Item E - 17 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 30 

Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 

 
 

 
 
  

Item E - 18 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 30 

 
Exhibit B: SITE PLAN  

 
 

  
  

Item E - 19 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 30 

 
Exhibit C: LANDSCAPE PLAN- FIRST FLOOR 

 
 
 

 
 
  

Item E - 20 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 30 

 
Exhibit D: LANDSCAPE PLAN - SECOND FLOOR 

 
 
 

 
 
 
  

Item E - 21 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 22 of 30 

 
 

Exhibit E: SECOND FLOOR  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Lobby 

Item E - 22 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 23 of 30 

 
Exhibit F: THIRD FLOOR  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

  

Item E - 23 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 24 of 30 

 
 

Exhibit G: FOURTH FLOOR  
 
 

 
 
 

 
  

Item E - 24 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 25 of 30 

 
Exhibit H: TYPICAL FLOOR PLANS 

 
 

       
 
 
 

 
 
  

One-Bedroom 
Type A-2 

One Bedroom  
Type A-1 

Item E - 25 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 26 of 30 

 
Exhibit H: TYPICAL FLOOR PLANS  

 

  

 

 

  

Two Bedroom  
Type B-2 

Two Bedroom  
Type B-1 

Item E - 26 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 27 of 30 

 

 
Exhibit I: ELEVATIONS 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

NORTH ELEVATION 

SOUTH ELEVATION 

Item E - 27 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 28 of 30 

 
Exhibit J: ELEVATIONS 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

EAST ELEVATION 

WEST ELEVATION 

Item E - 28 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 29 of 30 

 
 

Exhibit K: COLORS AND MATERIAL BOARD 
 

 
 
 

  
 
  

Item E - 29 of 64



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-033 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 30 of 30 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item E - 30 of 64



Item E - 31 of 64



Item E - 32 of 64



Item E - 33 of 64



Item E - 34 of 64



Item E - 35 of 64



Item E - 36 of 64



Item E - 37 of 64



Item E - 38 of 64



Item E - 39 of 64



Item E - 40 of 64



Item E - 41 of 64



Item E - 42 of 64



Item E - 43 of 64



Item E - 44 of 64



Item E - 45 of 64



Item E - 46 of 64



Item E - 47 of 64



Item E - 48 of 64



Item E - 49 of 64



Item E - 50 of 64



Item E - 51 of 64



Item E - 52 of 64



Item E - 53 of 64



Item E - 54 of 64



Item E - 55 of 64



Item E - 56 of 64



Item E - 57 of 64



Item E - 58 of 64



Item E - 59 of 64



Item E - 60 of 64



Item E - 61 of 64



Item E - 62 of 64



Item E - 63 of 64



Item E - 64 of 64



Page 1 of 20 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV23-013 

DESCRIPTION: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct one industrial 
building totaling 534,373 square feet on 23.88 acres of land located on the west side of 
Mill Creek Avenue approximately 300 feet south of Chino Avenue within Planning Area 
2C (Light Industrial District) of the Rich Haven Specific Plan. (APN: 218-161-18). submitted 
by Brookcal Ontario LLC.  Planning Commission action is required.  

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

BROOKCAL ONTARIO LLC, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has filed an 
application requesting approval of a Development Plan, File No. PDEV23-013, as 
described in the subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" or 
"Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 23.88 acres of land located on the west 
side of Mill Creek Avenue approximately 300 feet south of Chino Avenue and is depicted 
in Exhibit A: Project Location Map, attached. Existing land uses, Policy Plan (general plan) 
and zoning designations, and specific plan land uses on and surrounding the project site 
are as follows: 

Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Site: Vacant Industrial (0.55 FAR) Rich Haven Specific 
Plan 

Planning Area 2C (Light 
Industrial) 

North: 
SCE Edison Corridor 
Transmission Towers 

and Power Lines 

Open Space – Non-
Recreation 

Rich Haven Specific 
Plan 

Open Space - Non-
Recreational 

South: Vacant Industrial (0.55 FAR) Rich Haven Specific 
Plan 

Planning Area 3C (Light 
Industrial) 

East: SCE Mira Loma 
Substation Business Park (0.60 FAR) 

Specific Plan 
Agricultural Overlay 

Zoning District 
N/A 

West: Vacant 
(MDR) Medium Density 
Residential (11.1 – 25 

du/ac) 

Rich Haven Specific 
Plan 

Planning Area 2B 
(Medium Density 

Residential) 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

November 20, 2023 

Item F - 1 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 20 

PROJECT ANALYSIS:  
 
(1) Background — On December 4, 2007, the City Council certified the Rich Haven 
Specific Plan Environmental Impact Report in conjunction with File No. PGPA07-001. The 
related Rich Haven Specific Plan, File No. PSP05-004, was approved by the City Council 
on December 18, 2007. The Specific Plan established the land use designations, 
development standards, and design guidelines for approximately 512 acres of land, 
which included the potential development of 4,256 residential units and 889,200 square 
feet of commercial/office land uses. 
 
On May 18, 2021, the City Council approved a General Plan Amendment (File No. 
PGPA19-005), an Amendment to the Rich-Haven Specific Plan (File No. PSPA19-006), and 
an Addendum to The Ontario Plan (File No. PGPA06-001) Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 2008101140). The General Plan and Specific Plan amendments 
included several land use changes, including the addition of approximately 49 acres of 
industrial land located south of the SCE Mira Loma Substation. The amendment included 
updates to the development standards, exhibits, and text changes to reflect the 
proposed land use changes and overall compliance with the General Plan Amendment.  
 
On August 16, 2022, the City Council certified The Ontario Plan 2050 Update 
Supplemental Environmental Impact Report (“SEIR”) in conjunction with The Ontario Plan 
2050 (“TOP 2050”) (File No. PGPA20-002) General Plan update. The TOP 2050 and SEIR, 
included the addition of approximately 67 acres of industrial land within the Rich Haven 
Specific Plan boundary located west of the SCE Mira Loma Substation. 
 
On June 20, 2023, the City Council certified the Rich Haven Specific Plan Amendment 
and Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2022100425) in conjunction 
with File No. PSPA22-001. The amendment included land use changes to bring the Rich 
Haven Specific Plan into compliance with The Ontario Plan Policy Plan (General Plan) 
that also included updates to the residential, commercial, and industrial development 
standards, exhibits, and text changes.  
 
On May 12, 2023, the applicant submitted a Development Plan (File No. PDEV23-013) to 
construct one industrial building totaling 534,373 square feet on the Project site.  
 
(2) Site Design/Building Layout — Proposed, is the construction of a 534,373-square-
foot industrial building, with a FAR of 0.51. The rectangular-shaped cross-dock warehouse 
building is centrally located on the site, with the front of the building and two primary 
office entries located at the northeast and southeast corners of the building, and 
oriented to the east, toward Mill Creek Avenue. The building is setback approximately 
125 feet from the north property line, approximately 125 feet from the south property line, 
approximately 95 feet from the east property line (Mill Creek Avenue), and approximately 
108 feet from the west property line (adjoining residential land use). The primary off-street 
parking area is located to the east and west side of the building, serving employees and 
visitors (see Exhibit B—Site Plan, attached). 
 

Item F - 2 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 20 

The Project site provides two outdoor tractor-trailer parking, loading activities, and 
storage yard areas along the north and south sides of the proposed building. The yard 
areas will be screened from public view by a combination of landscaping and 14-foot-
high tilt-up screen walls with view-obstructing gates. In addition, the building cross dock 
design configuration, with the northeast and southeast corners of the building projecting 
out past the loading areas, will screen the tractor-trailer loading areas from Mill Creek 
Avenue and future residential development to the west. The building walls containing the 
dock-high doors are recessed approximately 60 feet behind the main building line, 
abating views of any loading activities from Mill Creek Avenue to the east and adjoining 
residential uses to the west. The tractor-trailer yard areas will provide adequate space for 
parking, truck maneuvering, loading activities, and outdoor staging. 
 
The Rich Haven Specific Plan requires a minimum 40-foot landscape setback and 100-
foot building setback for industrial buildings that share an interior property line with 
residential land uses. The required landscape setback allows for the planting of multiple 
rows of evergreen trees between the residential properties and any proposed industrial 
building to soften and screen views of the building year-round. The proposed Project 
exceeds the required building and landscape setback by providing a 108-foot building 
setback and 42-foot-wide landscape setback along the western property line (interior 
property line adjacent to residential).  
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — The Project site will have three access points along Mill 
Creek Boulevard via two 40-foot-wide driveways located at the northeast and southeast 
corners of the site that will be shared by both standard vehicles and tractor-trailers 
accessing the yard areas (see Exhibit B—Site Plan, attached). The third access is via a 30-
foot-wide driveway centrally located and designed for standard vehicles accessing the 
Project site. 
 
Internal circulation is provided by a 26-foot wide north-south drive aisle adjacent to the 
eastern portion of the building, connecting the three driveways located along Mill Creek 
Avenue and the north and south tractor-trailer yard areas. A 36-foot-wide north-south 
drive aisle is proposed along the western portion of the building, connecting to the north 
and south tractor-trailer yard areas. The internal drive-aisles all exceed the minimum 26-
foot-wide fire emergency access lane requirement, providing adequate maneuvering 
and access for emergency vehicles around the building and throughout the Project site. 
 
(4) Parking — The Project has provided off-street parking pursuant to the “Warehouse 
and Distribution” parking standards specified in the Development Code. The number of 
off-street parking spaces provided exceeds the minimum parking requirement for the 
Project. The off-street parking calculations for the Project are summarized in the table 
below: 
 

Item F - 3 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 20 

 
(5) Architecture — The Project incorporates a Contemporary Architectural style. The 
proposed building will be of concrete tilt-up construction with enhanced elements and 
treatments located at office entries and along the west (facing residential), north (facing 
Chino Avenue) and east (facing Mill Creek Avenue) elevations (see Exhibit C—Elevations, 
attached). Architectural elements include smooth-painted concrete in white, beige, 
blue, brown, and grey tones, Dekton Cosentino panels (engineered stone), fiber cement 
wood siding, a horizontal patterned form liner, horizontal and vertical reveals, windows 
with clear anodized mullions with blue reflective glazing, clear anodized canopies at the 
main office entries, first and second story metal canopies over windows and recessed 
panel sections with contrasting colors. The mechanical equipment will be roof-mounted 
and obscured from public view by the parapet walls. Staff believes that the proposed 
Project illustrates the type of high-quality architecture promoted by the Development 
Code and Rich Haven Specific Plan. This is exemplified through the use of: 
 

 Articulation in the building footprint, incorporating a combination of recessed and 
popped-out wall areas; 

 Enhanced second story elements such as windows with canopies along the 
western elevation, to provide an office like appearance;  

 Articulation in the building parapet/roof line, which serves to accentuate the 
building’s entries and breaks up large expanses of building wall; 

 Variations in building massing; and 
 Incorporation of base and top treatments defined by changes in color and 

horizontal/vertical reveals. 
 
(6) Landscaping — The Rich Haven Specific Plan requires a minimum of 10 percent 
landscape coverage. The Project is providing 12.2 percent landscape coverage 
exceeding the minimum requirement. The Project provides landscaping along Mill Creek 
Avenue at each office element, throughout the parking areas and substantial 
landscaping along the western portion of the site to screen the building from adjacent 
residential land uses year-round (see Exhibit D—Landscape Plan, attached).  
 
The landscape plan incorporates 48 and 24-inch box shade trees in the right-of-way, 
including Coast Live Oaks along Hamner Avenue and Weeping Bottle Brush and Water 
Gum along Mill Creek Avenue. A combination of 48-inch, 36-inch, 24-inch box, and 15-
gallon accent and shade trees will be provided on the Project site, the tree species 
include Italina Cypress, California Sycamore, Toyon, Hollywood Juniper, Crape Myrtle, 
Italian Stone Pine, Chinese Pistache, Fern Pine, Coast Live Oak, Cork Oak, and Water 
Gum.  The landscape plan also includes a variety of shrubs, grasses, and groundcovers 
that are low water usage and drought tolerant, to be planted throughout the Project site. 

Parking Summary 

Type of Use Building 
Area 

Trailer Parking Vehicle Spaces 
Required Provided Required Provided 

Warehouse / Distribution 534,373 SF 21 102 277 281 

TOTAL: 277 281 

Item F - 4 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 20 

Moreover, two employee break areas, with benches, tables, and shade trees will be 
provided. 
 
The Project is responsible for the construction of portions of Chino Avenue and Mill Creek 
Avenue in compliance with the proposed Development Agreement (File No. PDA23-002) 
between the City of Ontario and IV3 Loma Creek Logistics Center LLC. The proposed on-
site and off-site landscape improvements will assist in creating a walkable safe area for 
pedestrians to access the Project site. 
 
(7) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — To serve the proposed industrial development, the 
Project will be required to construct infrastructure improvements per the proposed 
Development Agreement (File No. PDA23-002) and requirements of the Rich Haven 
Specific Plan. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality 
Management Plan (“PWQMP”), which establishes the Project’s compliance with storm 
water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures 
that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and 
maximizes low impact development (“LID”) best management practices (“BMPs”), such 
as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes 
the use of underground storm water retention chambers to receive, retain, and treat 
storm water runoff located within the south tractor-trailer yard storage area. 
 
NEIGHBORHOOD MEETING AND CORRESPONDENCE: The Planning Department held a 
community meeting on Monday, September 18, 2023, between 6:00 P.M. to 7:00 P.M. at 
the Westwind Community Center to discuss the proposed development. Planning staff, 
Engineering staff and the applicant were in attendance during the community meeting. 
Six residents attended the community meeting and had questions regarding the 
proposed project, on-site and off-site street improvements, timing of street improvements, 
truck routes and future development within the immediate area. Staff also received one 
e-mail from a local property owner in opposition to the proposed project. To date, the 
Planning Department has not received any further inquiries or correspondence regarding 
the proposed Project. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: Public notification is not required, as the Development Advisory 
Board is acting in its capacity as an advisory body to the Planning Commission. Public 
notification is required prior to the Planning Commission hearing on the Project. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 

Item F - 5 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 20 

that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory 
Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project is consistent with the policies and criteria 
set forth within the ONT ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed Project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Maintain the Current High Level of Public Safety 
 Operate in a Businesslike Manner 
 Invest in the City's Infrastructure (Water, Streets, Sewers, Parks, Storm Drains 

and Public Facilities) 
 Ensure the Development of a Well Planned, Balanced, and Self-Sustaining 

Community in the New Model Colony 
 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 

Item F - 6 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 20 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 

 
Land Use Element: 

 
 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 

price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

Item F - 7 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 20 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-1.3 Existing Neighborhoods. We require the existing character of viable 
residential and non-residential neighborhoods be preserved, protected, and enhanced. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

Item F - 8 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 20 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 
physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create, and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Surface parking: Shade trees, pervious surfaces, urban run-off capture 
and infiltration, and pedestrian paths to guide users through the parking field; 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 

• Garage parking: providing access to single-family residential garages 
through alley access, recessing garages from the frontage to emphasize front doors or 
active living spaces. 
 

 CD-2.11 Entry Statements. We encourage the inclusion of amenities, 
signage, and landscaping at the entry to neighborhoods, commercial centers, mixed 
use areas, industrial developments, and public places that reinforce them as uniquely 
identifiable places. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented Place Types: Vibrant urban 
environments that are organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit areas, 

Item F - 9 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 20 

public plazas, and linkages between and within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all hours. 
 

 CD-3.2 Comfortable, Human-Scale Public Realm. We require that public 
spaces, including streets, parks, and plazas on both public and private property be 
designed to maximize safety, comfort and aesthetics and connect to the citywide 
pedestrian, vehicular, and bicycle networks. 
 

 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 
commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

 CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure. We collaborate with developers and 
property owners to facilitate development that realizes the envisioned character and 
functionality of the Place Type through the use of green and shared infrastructure within 
each Place Type. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The project is consistent with the Housing Element of 
the Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not 

Item F - 10 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 20 

one of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 
(Housing Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 
 

WHEREAS, Rich Haven Specific Plan Amendment Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 2022100425) was certified on June 20, 2023 (hereinafter referred 
to as "Certified EIR"), in which development and use of the Project site was discussed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the Certified EIR, which concluded that implementation of the Project could result in a 
number of significant effects on the environment and identified mitigation measures that 
would reduce each of those significant effects to a less-than-significant level; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City's "Local Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental 
assessment in situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately 
analyzed; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and make recommendation to the Planning Commission on the 
subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 

Item F - 11 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 20 

Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 20, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a 
hearing on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation. Based upon the facts and 
information contained in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation, the 
DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The environmental impacts of this Project were previously reviewed in conjunction 
with File No. PSPA22-001, the Rich Haven Specific Plan Amendment for which an 
Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2022100425) was adopted by the 
City Council on June 20, 2023. 
 
(2) The previous Certified EIR contains a complete and accurate reporting of the 
environmental impacts associated with the Project; and 
 
(3) The previous Certified EIR was completed in compliance with CEQA and the 
Guidelines promulgated thereunder, and the City of Ontario Local CEQA Guidelines; and 
 
(4) The previous Certified EIR reflects the independent judgment of the Planning 
Commission; and 
 
(5) The proposed Project will introduce no new significant environmental impacts 
beyond those previously analyzed in the previous Certified EIR, and all mitigation 
measures previously adopted with the Certified EIR, are incorporated herein by this 
reference. 
 

SECTION 2: Subsequent or Supplemental Environmental Review Not Required. 
Based on the information presented to the DAB, and the specific findings set forth in 

Item F - 12 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 20 

Section 1, above, the DAB finds that the preparation of a subsequent or supplemental 
Certified EIR is not required for the Project, as the Project: 
 
(1) Does not constitute substantial changes to the Certified EIR that will require major 
revisions to the Certified EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; 
and 
 
(2) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(3) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(4) Does not contain new information of substantial importance that was not known 
and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time 
the Certified EIR was certified/adopted, that shows any of the following: 
 

(a) The Project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the 
Certified EIR; or 

 
(b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe 

than shown in the Certified EIR; or 
 
(c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible 

would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
of the Project, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or 

 
(d) Mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those 

analyzed in the Certified EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
on the environment, but which the City declined to adopt. 
 

SECTION 3: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

Item F - 13 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 20 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 and 3, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 

 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the 
Industrial land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the Light Industrial land 
use district of the Rich Haven Specific Plan. The development standards and conditions 
under which the proposed Project will be constructed and maintained, is consistent with 
the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City 
Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan; and 
 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 
Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario 
Development Code and the Light Industrial land use district of the Rich Haven Specific 
Plan, including standards relative to the particular land use proposed (Industrial 
Warehouse), as-well-as building intensity, building, and parking setbacks, building height, 
number of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-site and off-site landscaping, and 
fences, walls, and obstructions; and 
 
(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure that: 
[i] the purposes of the Light Industrial land use district of the Rich Haven Specific Plan are 
maintained; [ii] the Project will not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; 
[iii] the Project will not result in any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will 
be in harmony with the area in which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full 
conformity with the Vision, City Council Priorities and Policy Plan components of The 
Ontario Plan, and the Rich Haven Specific Plan; and 
 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Rich Haven Specific Plan that 
are applicable to the proposed Project, including building intensity, building and parking 
setbacks, building height, amount of off-street parking and loading spaces, parking lot 
dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle parking, on-site landscaping, and fences 
and walls, as-well-as those development standards and guidelines specifically related to 
the particular land use being proposed (Industrial Warehouse). As a result of this review, 

Item F - 14 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 20 

the Development Advisory Board has determined that the Project, when implemented 
in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the development 
standards and guidelines described in the Rich Haven Specific Plan. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby recommends the 
Planning Commission APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set 
forth in the Conditions of Approval included as Attachment A of this Decision and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, 
action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to 
attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the 
applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall 
cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of November 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

 

Item F - 15 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 20 

Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 

 

Item F - 16 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 20 

Exhibit B: SITE PLAN 

 

Item F - 17 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 20 

Exhibit C: ELEVATIONS  

 

 

 

 

Item F - 18 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 20 

Exhibit D: LANDSCAPE PLAN 

  

Item F - 19 of 55



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-013 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 20 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item F - 20 of 55



 

Page 1 of 7 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
Date Prepared: 11/20/2023 
 
File No: PDEV23-013 
 
Related Files: PDA23-002 
 
Project Description: A Development Plan to construct one industrial building totaling 534,373 
square feet on 23.88 acres of land located on the west side of Mill Creek Avenue approximately 
300 feet south of Chino Avenue within Planning Area 2C (Light Industrial District) of the Rich Haven 
Specific Plan. (APN: 218-161-18). submitted by Brookcal Ontario LLC.  
 
Prepared By: Lorena Mejia, Senior Planner 

Phone: 909.395.2276 (direct) 
Email: lmejia@ontarioca.gov 

 
 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 
 
1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 
 
2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 
 

2.1 Time Limits. 
 

(a) Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years following 
the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and construction is 
commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has been approved 
by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time limits specified 
herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, for the 
performance of specific conditions or improvements. 
 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

 
(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency, 

including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 
and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 

Item F - 21 of 55



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-013 
 
 

Page 2 of 7 

(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 
plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for project, which shall be maintained on site during project 
construction. 
 

2.3 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department; 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 
 

2.4 Walls and Fences. All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements 
of Ontario Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 
 

2.5 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and 
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). 
 

(b) All drive approaches shall be provided with an enhanced pavement 
treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the approach apron, into the site, 
to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space. 

 
(c) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 

parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

 
(d) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 

shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

 

Item F - 22 of 55



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-013 
 
 

Page 3 of 7 

(e) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 
by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 

 
(f) Bicycle parking facilities, including bicycle racks, lockers, and other secure 

facilities, shall be provided in conjunction with development projects pursuant to current 
regulations contained in CALGreen (CAC Title 24, Part 11). Final design and placement of bicycle 
parking facilities shall be subject to Planning Department review and approval. 
 

2.6 Outdoor Loading and Storage Areas. 
 

(a) Loading facilities shall be designed and constructed pursuant to 
Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and Loading). 
 

(b) Areas designated for off-street parking, loading, and vehicular circulation 
and maneuvering, shall not be used for the outdoor storage of materials or equipment. 
 

(c) Outdoor loading and storage areas, and loading doors, shall be screened 
from public view pursuant to the requirements of Development Code Paragraph 6.02.025.A.2 
(Screening of Outdoor Loading and Storage Areas, and Loading Doors) Et Seq. 
 

(d) Outdoor loading and storage areas shall be provided with gates that are 
view-obstructing by one of the following methods: 
 

(i) Construct gates with a perforated metal sheet affixed to the inside 
of the gate surface (50 percent screen); or 

(ii) Construct gates with minimum one-inch square tube steel pickets 
spaced at maximum 2-inches apart. 
 

(e) The minimum gate height for screen wall openings shall be established 
based upon the corresponding wall height, as follows: 
 

Screen Wall Height Minimum Gate Height 

14 feet: 10 feet 

12 feet: 9 feet 

10 feet: 8 feet 

8 feet: 8 feet 

6 feet: 6 feet 
 

2.7 Site Lighting. 
 

(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security 
lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.08 (Special Residential Building 
Provisions) and Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial Building Provisions), designed to 
confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall be lighted from sunset until sunrise, 
daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 
 

Item F - 23 of 55



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-013 
 
 

Page 4 of 7 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity, 
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 
 

2.8 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 
 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning 
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated so as to be consistent with the 
building architecture. 
 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks, 
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 
 

2.9 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 
 

2.10 Signs.  
 

(a) All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations) and Rich Haven Specific Plan. 
 

2.11 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code 
Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 
 

2.12 Environmental Requirements.  
 

(a) If human remains are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 
 

(b) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 
 

2.13 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 
 
 
 

Item F - 24 of 55



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-013 
 
 

Page 5 of 7 

2.14 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of 
Determination (“NOD”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be 
paid by check, made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded 
to the San Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable 
environmental forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (“CEQA”). Failure to provide said fee within the time specified will result in the extension of the 
statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 180 days. 

 
(b) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 

building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 
 

2.15 Related Applications. Development Plan approval shall not be final and complete 
until such time that related File No. PDA23-002 has been approved by the City Council. 
 

2.16 Tribal Consultation Conditions. 
 

(a) The project developer shall retain a Native American Monitor of 
(Gabrieleno Band of Mission Indians - Kizh Nation) Ancestry (the “Tribe” or the “Consulting Tribe” 
that was consulted on this project pursuant to Assembly Bill A52 - SB18) to conduct a Native 
American Indian Sensitivity Training for construction personnel prior to commencement of any 
excavation activities. The training session shall include a handout and focus on how to identify 
Native American resources encountered during earthmoving activities and the procedures 
followed if resources are discovered, the duties of the Native American Monitor of (Gabrieleno 
Band of Mission Indians - Kizh Nation) Ancestry and the general steps the Monitor would follow in 
conducting a salvage investigation.  

  
(b) The project developer shall retain a Native American Monitor 

of(Gabrieleno Band of Mission Indians - Kizh Nation) Ancestry (the “Tribe” or the “Consulting Tribe” 
that was consulted on this project pursuant to Assembly Bill A52 - SB18) to be on-site during all 
project-related, ground-disturbing construction activities (e.g., pavement removal, auguring, 
boring, grading, excavation, potholing, trenching, and grubbing) of previously undisturbed native 
soils to a maximum depth of 30 feet below ground surface. A copy of the executed contract shall 
be submitted to the City of Ontario Planning Department prior to the issuance of any grading 
permit (any ground-disturbing activity). At their discretion, a Native American Monitor of 
(Gabrieleno Band of Mission Indians - Kizh Nation)  Ancestry can be present during the removal of 
dairy manure to native soil, but not at the developers’ expense. 

 
(c) A qualified archaeologist and a Native American Monitor of (Gabrieleno 

Band of Mission Indians - Kizh Nation) Ancestry (the “Tribe” or the “Consulting Tribe” that was 
consulted on this project pursuant to Assembly Bill A52 - SB18)  shall evaluate all archaeological 
resources unearthed by project construction activities. If the resources are Native American in 
origin, the Tribe shall coordinate with the developer regarding treatment and curation of these 
resources. Typically, the Tribe will request reburial or preservation for educational purposes. If 
archeological features are discovered, the archeologist shall report such findings to the Ontario 
Planning Director. If the archeological resources are found to be significant, the archeologist shall 
determine the appropriate actions, in cooperation with the City that shall be taken for exploration 
and/or salvage in compliance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5(f). 

Item F - 25 of 55



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-013 
 
 

Page 6 of 7 

 
(d) Prior to the start of ground disturbing activities, the developer shall arrange 

a designated site location within the footprint of the project for the respectful reburial of Tribal 
human remains and/or ceremonial objects. All human skeletal material discoveries shall be 
reported immediately to the County Coroner. The Native American Monitor shall immediately 
divert work a minimum of 50 feet from the discovery site and place an exclusion zone around the 
burial. The Native American Monitor shall notify the construction manager who shall contact the 
San Bernardino County Coroner. All construction activity shall be diverted while the San 
Bernardino County Coroner determines if the remains are Native American. The discovery shall be 
confidential and secure to prevent further disturbance. If Native American, the San Bernardino 
County Coroner shall notify the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) as mandated by 
state law who will then appoint a Most Likely Descendent. In the case where discovered human 
remains cannot be documented and recovered on the same day, the remains shall be covered 
with muslin cloth and a steel plate that can be moved by heavy equipment placed over the 
excavation opening to protect the remains. If this type of steel plate is not available, a 24-hour 
guard shall be posted outside working hours. The Tribe shall make every effort to recommend 
diverting the project and keep the remains in situ and protected. If the project cannot be 
diverted, it may be determined that burials will be removed. If data recovery is approved by the 
Tribe, documentation shall be taken, which includes at a minimum detailed descriptive notes and 
sketches. Additional types of documentation shall be approved by the Tribe for data recovery 
purposes. Cremations will either be removed in bulk or means necessary to ensure complete 
recovery of all material. If the discovery of human remains includes four (4) or more burials, the 
location is considered a cemetery and a separate treatment plan shall be created. The project 
developer shall consult with the Tribe regarding avoidance of all cemetery sites. Once complete, 
a final report of all activities shall be submitted to the NAHC. 

 
(e) There shall be no Scientific study or the utilization of any invasive diagnostics 

on any Native American human remains. 
 
(f) If the San Bernardino County Coroner determines the remains represent a 

historic non-Native American burial, the burial shall be treated in the same manner of respect with 
agreement of the San Bernardino County Coroner. Reburial will be in an appropriate setting. If the 
San Bernardino County Coroner determines the remains to be modern, the San Bernardino County 
Coroner shall take custody of the remains. 

 
Each occurrence of human remains and associated funerary objects shall be stored using 
opaque cloth bags. All human remains, funerary objects, sacred objects and objects of cultural 
patrimony shall be removed to a secure container on site if possible. These items shall be retained 
and reburied within six months of recovery. The site of reburial/repatriation shall be on the project 
site, but at a location agreed upon between the Tribe and the developer and protected in 
perpetuity. There shall be no publicity regarding any cultural materials recovered. 
 

2.17 Additional Requirements. 
 

(a) All applicable conditions of approval of the Development Agreement (File 
No. PDA23-002) shall apply to this Development Plan. 

 
(b) The Ontario Climate Action Plan (CAP) requires new development to be 

25% more efficient.  The applicant shall utilize the Screening Tables provided in the CAP.  The 
Screening Tables shall be required to garner a minimum of 100 points to be consistent with the 

Item F - 26 of 55



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-013 
 
 

Page 7 of 7 

reduction quantities outlined in the CAP.  The applicant shall identify on the construction drawings 
the items identified in the Screening Tables. 

 
(c) The west perimeter wall shall be consistent with the height and design of 

the neighboring community residential wall located to the south.  The applicant shall coordinate 
the construction of the west perimeter wall with the adjoining property owners located to the west 
and south of the project site.  

 
(d) The western drive aisle shall not be utilized for any outdoor storage, tractor 

trailer truck parking or vehicle staging. 
 

(e) Tractor trailer (Semi-trailer) trucks shall enter and exit the site from the 
designated truck route on Mill Creek Avenue  located between Chino Avenue and Ontario Ranch 
Road. Ontario Ranch Road is a designated truck route and Chino Avenue is not a designated 
truck route. Tractor trailer (Semi-trailer) trucks shall not travel on Mill Creek Avenue north of Chino 
Avenue. To access the Project site tractor trailer trucks will travel northbound onto Mill Creek 
Avenue from Ontario Ranch Road. 

 
(f) The landscape planters located along the western property line (adjacent 

to residential land uses) will be planted with a mix of evergreen trees that grow to an average 
height of 40 to 60 feet to provide year-round screening of the proposed building. The tree species 
planted shall be a mix of 24-, 36-, 48-, and 60-inch box trees. 
 
 

Item F - 27 of 55



Item F - 28 of 55



Item F - 29 of 55



Item F - 30 of 55



Item F - 31 of 55



Item F - 32 of 55



Item F - 33 of 55



Item F - 34 of 55



Item F - 35 of 55



Item F - 36 of 55



Item F - 37 of 55



Item F - 38 of 55



Item F - 39 of 55



Item F - 40 of 55



Item F - 41 of 55



Item F - 42 of 55



Item F - 43 of 55



Item F - 44 of 55



Item F - 45 of 55



Item F - 46 of 55



Item F - 47 of 55



Item F - 48 of 55



Item F - 49 of 55



Item F - 50 of 55



Item F - 51 of 55



AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

Site Acreage:

ONT-IAC Project Review:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone Avigation Easement 
Dedication

Real Estate Transaction

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PDEV23-013

West side of Mill Creek Avenue approximately 300 feet south of Chino Avenue

218-161-18

Vacant

Development Plan to construct one industrial building totaling 534,373 square feet

23.88

n/a

ONT

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) and was
evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP)
for ONT.

✔

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Lorena Mejia

11/13/2023

2023-006

n/a

54 FT

200 FT +

Item F - 52 of 55



CITY OF ONTARIO 
LANDSCAPE PLANNING DIVISION 

303 East "B" Street, Ontario, CA 91764 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Sign Off 

 
10/25/2023 

Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Architect Date 

Reviewer's Name:  
Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Architect 

Phone: 
(909) 395-2615 

 D.A.B. File No.:                                           
PDEV23-013 

Case Planner: 
Lorena Mejia 

Project Name and Location:  
Loma Creek 
SW corner of Mill Creek Avenue and Chino Avenue 
Applicant/Representative: 
BrookCal Ontario LLC projectadmin@herdman-ad.com  
100 Bayview Circle, Suite 100 
Newport Beach, CA 92660 
 
 
 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated 10/17/2023) meet the Standard Conditions for New 
Development and have been approved considering that the following conditions 
below be met upon submittal of the landscape construction documents. 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated) have not been approved. Corrections noted below are 
required before Preliminary Landscape Plan approval. 

A RESPONSE SHEET IS REQUIRED WITH RESUBMITTAL OR PLANS WILL BE RETURNED AS 
INCOMPLETE. 
Landscape construction plans with plan check number may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 
DIGITAL SUBMITTALS MUST BE 10MB OR LESS.  

Civil/ Site Plans 
1. Locate modular wetlands out of landscape areas; OK in the truckyard. 
2. Show any monumentation within neighborhood edges; verify slopes and grades; coordinate 

any easements for maintenance responsibilities along Mill Creek.  
3. Before permit issuance, stormwater infiltration devices located in landscape areas shall be 

reviewed and plans approved by the Landscape Planning Division. Any stormwater devices 
in parkway areas shall not displace street trees. 

4. Show and dimension transformers set back 5' from paving all sides. Coordinate with 
landscape plans. 

5. Show and dimension backflow devices set back 4' from paving on all sides. Locate on level 
grade. 

6. Locate utilities, including light standards, fire hydrants, water, drain, and sewer lines to not 
conflict with required tree locations—coordinate civil plans with landscape plans. 

7. Note for compaction to be no greater than 85% in landscape areas. All finished grades at 1 
½" below finished surfaces. Slopes to be maximum 3:1. 

8. Dimension, show and call out for step-outs at parking spaces adjacent to planters; a 12" wide 
monolithic concrete curb, DG paving or pavers with edging.  

9. Show outdoor employee break area with a table or bench and shade trees on the south and 
west sides. 

Landscape Plans 
10. Site plan identifies the enhanced entries per the landscape plans; provide details. 
11. CFD landscape plans shall be submitted to the Engineering Department.  
12. Show backflow devices with 36" high strappy leaf shrub screening, trash enclosures, 

transformers, and a 4’-5' high evergreen hedge screening. Do not encircle utility; show as 

Item F - 53 of 55

mailto:projectadmin@herdman-ad.com
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


masses and duplicate masses in other locations at regular intervals. 
13. Locate light standards, fire hydrants, water, and sewer lines to not conflict with required tree 

locations. Coordinate civil plans with landscape plans. 
14. Show all utilities on the landscape plans. Coordinate so utilities are clear of tree locations. 
15. Overhead spray systems shall be designed for plant material less than the height of the spray 

head. 
16. Call out all fences and walls, materials proposed, and heights. 
17. Show concrete mow strips to identify property lines along open areas or to separate 

ownership or between maintenance areas. 
18. Show outdoor employee break area with a table or bench and shade trees on the south and 

west sides. 
19. Show minimum on-site tree sizes per the Landscape Development standards; see the 

Landscape Planning website. 5% 48" box, 10% 36 box, 30% 24" box, 55% 15 gallon. 
20. Show 25% of trees as California native (Platanus racemosa, Quercus agrifolia, Quercus 

wislizenii, Quercus douglasii, Cercis occidentalis, etc.) in appropriate locations. 
21. After a project's entitlement approval, the applicant shall pay all applicable fees for landscape 

plan check and inspections at a rate established by resolution of the City Council. Landscape 
construction plans with building permit number for plan check may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 

Item F - 54 of 55

mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Lorena Mejia, Senior Planner 
 
FROM:  Heather Lugo, CET MA, Police Department 
 
DATE:  June 1, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: PDEV23-013 - A Development Plan to construct one (1) industrial building 

totaling 547,824 square feet on 24.86 acres of land located at the southwest 
corner of Mill Creek Avenue and Chino Avenue, within the PA-2C land use 
district of the Rich Haven Specific Plan (APN(s): 218-161-14). Related 
File(s): Specific Plan Amendment PSPA22-001. 

 
 
The “Standard Conditions of Approval” contained in Resolution No. 2017-027 apply. The 
applicant shall read and be thoroughly familiar with these conditions, including, but not limited to, 
the requirements below. 
 

• Required lighting for all walkways, driveways, doorways, parking lots, hallways and other 
areas used by the public shall be provided. Lights shall operate via photosensor. 
Photometrics shall be provided to the Police Department and include the types of fixtures 
proposed and demonstrate that such fixtures meet the vandal-resistant requirement. 
Planned landscaping shall not obstruct lighting. 

• Rooftop addresses shall be installed on the buildings as stated in the Standard Conditions. 
The numbers shall be at a minimum 3 feet tall and 1 foot wide, in reflective white paint on 
a flat black background, and oriented with the bottom of the numbers towards the addressed 
street. Associated letters shall also be included.  

• The Applicant shall comply with construction site security requirements as stated in the 
Standard Conditions. 

 
 

The Applicant is invited to contact Heather Lugo at (909) 408-1074 with any questions or concerns 
regarding these conditions.    
 

Item F - 55 of 55



Page 1 of 24 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV23-015 

DESCRIPTION: A Development Plan to construct one industrial building totaling 
1,162,630 square feet on 49.47 acres of land located at 1945 East Merrill Avenue, on the 
northwest corner of Merrill and Carpenter Avenues, within the Industrial land use district 
of the Merrill Commerce Center Specific Plan (APNs: 1054-511-01 & 1054-511-02); 
submitted by Prologis LP. Planning Commission action is required. 

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

PROLOGIS LP, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has filed an application 
requesting approval of a Development Plan, File No. PDEV23-015, as described in the 
subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" or "Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The Project site is comprised of 49.47 acres of land located at the 
northwest corner of Merrill and Carpenter Avenues and is depicted in Exhibit A: Project 
Location Map, attached. Existing land uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning 
designations, and specific plan land uses on and surrounding the Project site are as 
follows: 

Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Site: Vacant Industrial (0.55 FAR) Merrill Commerce 
Center Specific Plan Industrial 

North: Vacant Business Park (0.6 FAR) Merrill Commerce 
Center Specific Plan Business Park 

South: Warehouse  
(City of Chino) 

Light Industrial 
(City of Chino) 

Preserve Specific Plan 
(City of Chino) 

Light Industrial  
(City of Chino) 

East: Warehouse Industrial (0.55 FAR) 
West Ontario 

Commerce Center 
Specific Plan 

General Industrial 

West: Fulfillment Center Industrial (0.55 FAR) Merrill Commerce 
Center Specific Plan Industrial 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

November 20, 2023 

Item G - 1 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 24 

PROJECT ANALYSIS:  
 
(1) Background — On February 2, 2021, the City Council approved the introduction 
(first reading) of Ordinance No. 3178 for the Merrill Commerce Center Specific Plan 
(“MCCSP”), adopted Resolution No. R2021-011, certifying the MCCSP Final Environmental 
Impact Report (“Certified EIR”; State Clearinghouse No. 2019049047), and adopted 
Resolution No. R2021-012, approving the associated General Plan Amendment (File No. 
PGPA18-003) establishing the Industrial (0.55 FAR) land use on the Project site. On 
February 16, 2021, the City Council adopted (second reading) Ordinance No. 3178, 
approving the MCCSP (File No. PSP18-001). The MCCSP establishes the land use 
designations, development standards, and design guidelines on 376.3 acres of land, 
which includes the potential development of up to 8,455,000 square feet of industrial and 
business park development. 
 
On March 23, 2021, the Planning Commission approved Tentative Parcel Map No. 20273, 
a request to subdivide the MCCSP area to create 22 numbered lots, 22 lettered lots, 
public streets, and to facilitate future development of industrial and business park 
projects. On November 16, 2021, the City Council approved Final Parcel Map No. 20273. 
 
On July 5, 2023, the applicant submitted the subject Development Plan (File No. PDEV23-
015) to develop Parcel 11 of Parcel Map No. 20273 with one industrial building, referred 
to as Building 11, to be used as a warehouse distribution center totaling 1,162,630 square 
feet of gross floor area and having a floor area ratio (“FAR”) of 0.54. 
 
(2) Site Design/Building Layout — The proposed development includes a warehouse 
distribution building, with a footprint of 1,047,630 square feet, located on Parcel 11 of 
Parcel Map No. 20273. The building is centrally located on the Project site, setback 
approximately 212 feet from Carpenter Avenue, 280 feet from Merrill Avenue, 210 feet 
from Vineyard Avenue, and 130 feet from the north property line, which abuts properties 
designated as Business Park land uses. 
 
The proposed warehouse building is rectangular in shape, oriented in a north-south 
position, and office space is planned in the southeast building corner. The building is 
approximately 592 feet wide by 1,721 feet long, with a total gross floor area of 1,162,630 
square feet, including 15,000 square feet of office and 100,000 square feet of mezzanine 
area. The parking lot areas are located at the north and south sides of the building, and 
gated truck yards are located along the east and west sides of the building. 
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — The Project site will be accessible by trucks and 
passenger vehicles from Carpenter Avenue to the east, Merrill Avenue to the south and 
Vineyard Avenue to the west. Driveways on Carpenter Avenue and Vineyard Avenue 
will provide access for both passenger vehicles and trucks. A separate driveway on Merrill 
Avenue, located midway between Carpenter and Vineyard Avenues, is provided for 
passenger vehicles only. 
 

Item G - 2 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 24 

Internal circulation is provided with minimum 24-foot-wide drive aisles throughout the site. 
The north and south ends of the Project site provide passenger vehicle parking with 
shared access separated by gated truck yards along the east and west sides of the 
building.  
 
(4) Parking — The Project has provided off-street parking pursuant to the warehouse 
distribution parking standards specified in the Development Code. The number of off-
street parking spaces provided exceeds the minimum parking requirement for the 
Project. The off-street parking calculations for the Project are summarized in the table 
below: 
 

Parking Summary 

Type of Use Building 
Area (in SF) Parking Ratio Spaces 

Required 
Spaces 

Provided 

Office & Mezzanine 
115,000 SF; 
(10% GFA) 

1 passenger vehicle space per 
1,000 SF (<20,000 SF) 

1 passenger vehicle space per 
2,000 SF (>20,000 SF) 

591 
547 (Parking Lot) 
44 (Truck Yard) 

Warehouse 1,047,630 SF 

1 passenger vehicle space per 
1,000 SF (<20,000 SF) 

1 passenger vehicle space per 
2,000 SF (>20,000 SF) 

TOTAL 1,162,630  591 591* 

Truck Trailer Parking 188 Dock Doors 1 truck trailer space per 4 dock 
doors 47 194 

* Project site can accommodate vehicle parking in truck yard area if/when needed by tenant operations.  
 
The Project is required to provide 591 vehicle parking spaces and provides 547 vehicle 
parking spaces in the parking lots and has space for at least 44 spaces within the truck 
yard area. Depending on the tenant business operations, the 547 spaces in the parking 
lots may be sufficient to accommodate the tenant’s needs. As conditioned, the truck 
yard area shall be required to provide passenger vehicle parking spaces when tenant 
operations require more than 547 parking spaces, provided a minimum 47 trailer parking 
spaces are maintained. 
 
(5) Architecture — The Project incorporates a Contemporary Architectural style. The 
proposed buildings will be of concrete tilt-up construction with color blocking, accent 
colors, and score patterns. The paint colors proposed for this building are white and 
varying shades of gray. Dark green will be utilized as an accent color and applied in a 
vertical pattern adjacent to glazing. Material such as metal awnings, metal canopy, and 
green-hued vision glazing are applied on the building elevations and portions of parapet 
walls. The architecture design, scale and massing is consistent with the design guidelines 
of the MCCSP. 
 

Item G - 3 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 24 

The architectural design also incorporates wall offsets to create variations in the wall 
plane, visual depth, shadows, and dimensions. The proposed wall offsets on the building 
are typically three or four feet. 
 
(6) Landscaping — The MCCSP requires a minimum 10 percent landscape coverage 
be provided for buildings within the industrial and Business Park land use districts. As 
proposed, the Project’s overall landscape coverage is 10 percent (215,511 square feet) 
and meets the minimum requirement. The Project provides landscaping around the 
project perimeter, adjacent to the building and throughout the passenger vehicle 
parking lots to soften the appearance of these areas and provide additional shade. The 
landscape plan includes over 365 trees to be planted on-site including the neighborhood 
edges. The proposed tree species include Forest Pansy Redbud, Morning Cloud Chitalpa, 
Italian Cypress, pine and oak trees. Landscape plans will also incorporate low-water 
usage and drought-tolerant shrubs and ground covers throughout the site. 
 
The Project includes right-of-way improvements (street, curb, gutter, sidewalk, and 
parkway) along the surrounding streets. The proposed on-site and off-site landscape 
improvements will assist toward creating safe paths and areas for pedestrians to access 
the Project site. In compliance with the MCCSP, a neighborhood edge will be installed 
along Vineyard and Merrill Avenues, as well as a multi-purpose trail along Merrill Avenue. 
 
(7) Signage — All future signage will be subject to review and approval of a 
comprehensive sign program for the Specific Plan area. A sign program will facilitate 
integration of the signs with the overall site and building design to create a unified visual 
statement and provide for flexible application of sign regulations in the design and 
display of multiple signs. Key provisions will include an entry monument, center and 
tenant identification signage, traffic and wayfinding signs, building signs, secondary 
monumentation, and visitor and directional signage. 
 
(8) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — The Project will be required to construct infrastructure 
improvements per the Development Agreement (File No. PDA18-004) and requirements 
of the MCCSP. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality 
Management Plan (“PWQMP”), which establishes the Project’s compliance with storm 
water discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures 
that capture runoff and pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and 
maximizes low impact development (“LID”) best management practices (“BMPs”), such 
as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes 
the use of underground storm water retention chambers to receive, retain, and treat 
storm water runoff. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: Public notification is not be required, as the Development Advisory 
Board is acting in its capacity as an advisory body to the Planning Commission. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Decision, Planning Department staff has 
not received any written or verbal communications from the owners of properties 

Item G - 4 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 24 

surrounding the project site or from the public in general, regarding the subject 
application. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory 
Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. 
 
On August 2, 2022, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted a 
Development Code Amendment to establish the Chino Airport ("CNO") Overlay Zoning 
District ("OZD") and Reference I, Chino Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan ("CNO 
ALUCP"). The CNO OZD and CNO ALUCP established the Airport Influence Area for Chino 
Airport, solely within the City of Ontario, and limits future land uses and development 
within the Airport Influence Area, as they relate to safety, airspace protection, and 
overflight impacts of current and future airport activity. The CNO ALUCP is consistent with 
policies and criteria set forth within the Caltrans 2011 California Airport Land Use Planning 
Handbook. The proposed Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Chino 
Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the California Airport Land 
Use Planning Handbook and the CNO ALUCP. As the recommending body for the 
Project, the Development Advisory Board has reviewed and considered the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation against the 
CNO ALUCP compatibility factors, including Safety, Airspace Protection, Overflight. As a 
result, the Development Advisory Board, therefore, finds and determines that the Project, 

Item G - 5 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 24 

when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with 
the policies and criteria set forth within the California Airport Land Use Planning Handbook 
and the Chino ALUCP. 
 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN: The proposed project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan ("TOP"). More 
specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed project are 
as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 

 
 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Invest in the City's Infrastructure (Water, Streets, Sewers, Parks, Storm Drains 

and Public Facilities) 
 Ensure the Development of a Well Planned, Balanced, and Self-Sustaining 

Community in the New Model Colony 
 
(2) Vision. 
 

Prosperous Economy: 
 

 Innovative and highly productive industrial areas that set the standards in the 
region for efficient land use, environmental management, and workforce employment 
opportunities. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 

 Goal G3: Thoroughly informed and connected leaders, staff, public and 
shareholders. 
 

Item G - 6 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 24 

 G 3-6. Monitoring Development and City Master Plans. We monitor 
development to ensure that it is consistent with City Master Plans (e.g., Water, Parks, 
Energy, Climate Action Plan, etc.) and The Ontario Plan. The Policy Plan in particular will 
incorporate changes to Master Plans as they are updated periodically. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 

 
Land Use Element: 

 
 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 

price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 

 
 LU-1.3 Adequate Capacity. We require adequate infrastructure and 

services for all development. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 
residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

Item G - 7 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 24 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

 CD-1.5 View Corridors. We require all major north-south streets be designed 
and redeveloped to feature views of the San Gabriel Mountains, which are part of the 
City’s visual identity and a key to geographic orientation. Such views should be free of 
visual clutter, including billboards and may be enhanced by framing with trees. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

Item G - 8 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 24 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 
design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 
daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 
physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Surface parking: Shade trees, pervious surfaces, urban run-off capture 
and infiltration, and pedestrian paths to guide users through the parking field; 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 

• Garage parking: providing access to single-family residential garages 
through alley access, recessing garages from the frontage to emphasize front doors or 
active living spaces. 
 

 CD-2.11 Entry Statements. We encourage the inclusion of amenities, 
signage, and landscaping at the entry to neighborhoods, commercial centers, mixed 
use areas, industrial developments, and public places that reinforce them as uniquely 
identifiable places. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 

Item G - 9 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 24 

 Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented Place Types: Vibrant urban 
environments that are organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit areas, 
public plazas, and linkages between and within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all hours. 
 

 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 
commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the 
Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the project site is not one 
of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing 
Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 
 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Merrill Commerce Center Specific Environmental Impact Report 
(State Clearinghouse No. 2019049079) was certified on February 2, 2021 (hereinafter 
referred to as "Certified EIR"), in which development and use of the Project site was 
discussed; and 

Item G - 10 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 24 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the Certified EIR, which concluded that implementation of the Project could result in a 
number of significant effects on the environment and identified mitigation measures that 
would reduce each of those significant effects to a less-than-significant level; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City's "Local Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental 
assessment in situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately 
analyzed; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and make recommendation to the Planning Commission on the 
subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Project is also located within the Airport Influence Area of Chino 

Airport, pursuant to the Chino Airport Overlay Zoning District (hereinafter referred to as 
“CNO OZD”) and Reference I, Chino Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (hereinafter 
referred to as CNO ALUCP) established in the City of Ontario Development Code. As the 
recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory Board has reviewed and 
considered the facts and information contained in the Application and supporting 
documentation against the ONT ALUCP and CNO ALUCP compatibility factors, including 
Safety, Airspace Protection, Overflight. As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP and the CNO ALUCP; and 
 

Item G - 11 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 24 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 

 
WHEREAS, on November 20, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a 

hearing on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation. Based upon the facts and 
information contained in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation, the 
DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The environmental impacts of this Project were previously reviewed in conjunction 
with File Nos. PGPA18-003 and PSP18-001, a General Plan Amendment and Specific Plan 
for which an Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2019049079) 
(“Certified EIR”) was adopted by the City Council on February 2, 2021; and 
 
(2) The previous Certified EIR contains a complete and accurate reporting of the 
environmental impacts associated with the Project; and 
 
(3) The previous Certified EIR was completed in compliance with CEQA and the 
Guidelines promulgated thereunder, and the City of Ontario Local CEQA Guidelines; and 
 
(4) The previous Certified EIR reflects the independent judgment of the Planning 
Commission; and 
 
(5) The proposed Project will introduce no new significant environmental impacts 
beyond those previously analyzed in the previous Certified EIR, and all mitigation 
measures previously adopted with the Certified EIR, are incorporated herein by this 
reference. 
 

SECTION 2: Subsequent or Supplemental Environmental Review Not Required. 
Based on the information presented to the DAB, and the specific findings set forth in 
Section 1, above, the DAB finds that the preparation of a subsequent or supplemental 
Certified EIR is not required for the Project, as the Project: 
 

Item G - 12 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 24 

(1) Does not constitute substantial changes to the Certified EIR that will require major 
revisions to the Certified EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; 
and 
 
(2) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(3) Does not contain new information of substantial importance that was not known 
and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time 
the Certified EIR was certified/adopted, that shows any of the following: 
 

(a) The Project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the 
Certified EIR; or 

 
(b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe 

than shown in the Certified EIR; or 
 
(c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible 

would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
of the Project, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or 

 
(d) Mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those 

analyzed in the Certified EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
on the environment, but which the City declined to adopt. 
 

SECTION 3: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of the 
properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing Element 
Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 

 
SECTION 4: ALUCP Compliance. The California State Aeronautics Act (Public 

Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires that local land use plans 
and individual development proposals must be consistent with the policies set forth in the 
adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the 
City of Ontario approved and adopted the Ontario International Airport Land use 
Compatibility Plan, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International 
Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los 
Angeles Counties, and limits future land uses and development within the Airport 

Item G - 13 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 24 

Influence Area, as they relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, 
the DAB has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ALUCP compatibility factors, 
including [1] Safety Criteria (ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ALUCP Map 2-2), [2] 
Noise Criteria (ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ALUCP Map 2-3), [3] Airspace 
protection Zones (ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight Notification Zones (ALUCP Map 2-
5). As a result, the DAB, therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when 
implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the 
policies and criteria set forth within the ALUCP. 

 
The Project site is also located within the Airport Influence area of Chino Airport and is 
consistent with policies and criteria set forth within the 2011 California Airport Land Use 
Planning Handbook published by the California Department of Transportation, Division of 
Aeronautics. As the recommending body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and 
considered the facts and information contained in the Application and supporting 
documentation against the 2011 California Airport Land Use Planning Handbook 
compatibility factors. As a result, the DAB therefore, finds and determines that the Project 
is consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within the Handbook, subject to 
conditions. 
 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 and 3, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the 
Industrial land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the Merrill Commerce 
Center Specific Plan zoning district. The development standards and conditions under 
which the proposed Project will be constructed and maintained, is consistent with the 
goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City 
Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan; and 
 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 
Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario 
Development Code and the Merrill Commerce Center Specific Plan, including standards 
relative to the particular land use proposed (warehouse), as-well-as building intensity, 
building and parking setbacks, building height, number of off-street parking and loading 
spaces, on-site and off-site landscaping, and fences, walls and obstructions; and 
 

Item G - 14 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 24 

(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure that: 
[i] the purposes of the Merrill Commerce Center Specific Plan are maintained; [ii] the 
Project will not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; [iii] the Project will 
not result in any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will be in harmony with 
the area in which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full conformity with the Vision, 
City Council Priorities and Policy Plan components of The Ontario Plan, and the Merrill 
Commerce Center Specific Plan; and 
 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Merrill Commerce Center 
Specific Plan that are applicable to the proposed Project, including building intensity, 
building and parking setbacks, building height, amount of off-street parking and loading 
spaces, parking lot dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle parking, on-site 
landscaping, and fences and walls, as-well-as those development standards and 
guidelines specifically related to the particular land use being proposed (warehouse). As 
a result of this review, the Development Advisory Board has determined that the Project, 
when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with 
the development standards and guidelines described in the Merrill Commerce Center 
Specific Plan. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby recommends the 
Planning Commission APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set 
forth in the Conditions of Approval included as Attachment A of this Decision, and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, 
action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to 
attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the 
applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall 
cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 
these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 

Item G - 15 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 24 

 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of November 2023. 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 

Item G - 16 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 24 

Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 

 

 
 

Item G - 17 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 24 

Exhibit B: SITE PLAN 

 

Item G - 18 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 24 

Exhibit C: FLOOR PLAN 
 

 

Item G - 19 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 24 

Exhibit D: ELEVATIONS 
 
 

 
North Elevation 

 

 
South Elevation 

 

 
Enlarged Office Elevation 

 

Item G - 20 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 24 

Exhibit F: ELEVATIONS (CONT.) 
 
 
 

 
West Elevation (Left Portion) 

 

 
West Elevation (Right Portion) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
East Elevation (Left Portion) 

 

 
East Elevation (Right Portion) 

Item G - 21 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 22 of 24 

Exhibit E: SITE PHOTOS 
 

 
View from Eucalyptus Avenue 

 

 
View from Merrill Avenue 

 

Item G - 22 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 23 of 24 

Exhibit F: CONCEPTUAL LANDSCAPE PLAN 

  

Item G - 23 of 49



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-015 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 24 of 24 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item G - 24 of 49



 

Page 1 of 8 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
Date Prepared: 10/18/2023 
 
File No: PDEV23-015 
 
Related Files: PMTT20-010 
 
Project Description: A Development Plan to construct one industrial building totaling 1,162,630 
square feet on 49.47 acres of land located at 1945 East Merrill Avenue, on the northwest corner of 
Merrill and Carpenter Avenues, within the Industrial land use district of the Merrill Commerce 
Center Specific Plan; (APN(s): 1054-511-01 & 1054-511-02); submitted by Prologis LP. 
 
Prepared By: Edmelynne V. Hutter, Senior Planner 

Phone: 909.395.2429 (direct) 
Email: ehutter@ontarioca.gov 

 
 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 
 
1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 
 
2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 
 

2.1 Time Limits. 
 

(a) Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years following 
the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and construction is 
commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has been approved 
by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time limits specified 
herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, for the 
performance of specific conditions or improvements. 
 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

 
(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency, 

including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 
and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 

Item G - 25 of 49



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 2 of 8 

 
(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 

plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for project, which shall be maintained on site during project 
construction. 
 

2.3 Architecture.  
 

(a) Exterior building wall materials, roof types and colors shall be shown on 
development construction drawings. 

 
(b) Roof access ladders shall be located on the inside of the building. 
 
(c) All building drainage gutters, down spouts, vents, etc., shall be completely 

concealed from public view or shall be architecturally compatible (decorative) with the exterior 
building design and color. 

 
(d) All tower elements on the building(s) shall be fully walled and finished on all 

sides and include detailing appropriate to the architectural style proposed, so as to be a fully 
three-dimensional, four-sided element of the building, to the satisfaction of the Planning Director. 
The term "tower elements" means architectural elements of the building that are that are 
substantially taller than the adjacent parapet wall or roof, as determined by the Planning Director. 
 

(e) At locations where changes in parapet wall height meet, the taller parapet 
must return into the building for a minimum distance of 6 FT, so that the actual thickness of the 
parapet wall cannot be observed or readily discerned. 
 

2.4 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department; 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 
 

2.5 Walls and Fences. All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements 
of Ontario Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 

Item G - 26 of 49



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 3 of 8 

 
(a) Within industrial zoning districts, walls and fences within the front yard 

building setback area shall not exceed 6 feet in height, with at least 90 percent of the vertical 
surface open and non-view obstructing and shall be setback a minimum of 5 feet behind the 
street property line. 

 
(b) Long expanses of fence or wall (50 or more FT in length) adjacent to a 

public right-of-way shall have offset areas (decorative pilasters or a jog in the wall) along its length 
and shall be architecturally designed to prevent monotony. Construction plans shall include wall 
plans and details that show compliance with this condition of approval. 

 
(c) The height of a wall or fence shall be measured on the exterior side, at the 

highest point of the natural ground or finished grade at the base of the fence or wall to the top of 
the fence or wall above the same base point. 

 
(d) For gated sites, sufficient area shall be provided in front (exterior side) of 

vehicular access gates, to allow stacking of at least one tractor/trailer outside of the public street 
right-of-way. 

 
(e) Development plans and construction drawings shall indicate materials, 

colors, and height of proposed and existing walls/fences and shall include a cross-section of 
walls/fences indicating adjacent grades. Walls shall be designed as an integral part of the 
architecture for the development. 

 
(f) Walls shall be treated with a graffiti-proof coating at locations visible to the 

public. 
 

2.6 Refuse Storage (Trash Enclosures). 
 

(a) All refuse shall be stored in an appropriate container. Furthermore, all refuse 
containers shall be stored within a City-approved enclosure, which shall be designed so as to be 
consistent with the building architecture on the project site. 
 

(b) The number of enclosures, and their precise locations, dimensions, and 
design shall be provided consistent with the Solid Waste Department Refuse and Recycling 
Planning Manual (the manual may be obtain online at 
http://www.ontarioca.gov/sites/default/files/Ontario-Files/Municipal-Utilities-
Company/planning_manual-2016_update.pdf). 
 

(c) Signs clearly identifying all recycling and refuse collection areas, and the 
materials accepted for recycling shall be posted adjacent to all points of access to each trash 
enclosure. 
 

(d) Trash enclosures shall be bordered by a minimum 5-FT wide planter and 
screened with landscaping on all exposed sides, excluding the side with bin access gates. 
 

Item G - 27 of 49

http://www.ontarioca.gov/sites/default/files/Ontario-Files/Municipal-Utilities-Company/planning_manual-2016_update.pdf
http://www.ontarioca.gov/sites/default/files/Ontario-Files/Municipal-Utilities-Company/planning_manual-2016_update.pdf


Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 4 of 8 

2.7 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and 
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). 
 

(b) All drive approaches shall be provided with an enhanced pavement 
treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the approach apron, into the site, 
to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space. 

 
(c) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 

parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

 
(d) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 

shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

 
(e) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 

by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 
 

(f) Implementation and operation of access restrictions such as gates and/or 
barrier arms shall provide proper access to police, fire, emergency services and waste and 
recycling collection services, subject to City review and approval. 

 
(g) The use of compact parking spaces is not permitted. 

 
(h) Wheel stops shall be provided where necessary, to protect structures and 

parked vehicles. 
 

(i) Striping of parking spaces, aisles, and driveways conforming to the 
provisions of Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and Loading), and directional 
signs conforming to the provisions of Development Code Division 8.01 (Sign Regulations), shall be 
provided. 

 
(j) Bicycle parking facilities, including bicycle racks, lockers, and other secure 

facilities, shall be provided in conjunction with development projects pursuant to current 
regulations contained in CALGreen (CAC Title 24, Part 11). Final design and placement of bicycle 
parking facilities shall be subject to Planning Department review and approval. 
 

2.8 Outdoor Loading and Storage Areas. 
 

(a) Loading facilities shall be designed and constructed pursuant to 
Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and Loading). 
 

(b) Areas designated for off-street parking, loading, and vehicular circulation 
and maneuvering, shall not be used for the outdoor storage of materials or equipment. 
 

Item G - 28 of 49



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 5 of 8 

(c) Outdoor loading and storage areas, and loading doors, shall be screened 
from public view pursuant to the requirements of Development Code Paragraph 6.02.025.A.2 
(Screening of Outdoor Loading and Storage Areas, and Loading Doors) Et Seq. 
 

(d) Outdoor loading and storage areas shall be provided with gates that are 
view-obstructing by one of the following methods: 
 

(i) Construct gates with a perforated metal sheet affixed to the inside 
of the gate surface (50 percent screen); or 

(ii) Construct gates with minimum one-inch square tube steel pickets 
spaced at maximum 2-inches apart. 
 

(e) The development shall maintain a minimum of 47 off-street trailer parking 
spaces. Dock-high loading zones intended for tractor-trailers shall have a clear dimension of 12 FT 
wide by 45 FT long. All at-grade loading doors shall have a 12-FT wide by 18-FT deep unobstructed 
loading zone directly in front of the door, free of access drives. 

 
(f) Truck loading and maneuvering areas in front of dock-high loading areas 

shall require a clear area of 120 FT. 
 

(g) Loading areas shall be designed to provide for backing and maneuvering 
completely on-site, and not from a public street. 

 
(h) Loading areas shall not encroach into landscape or building setbacks. 

 
(i) All loading doors, areas, and activities shall be completely screened from 

public view, as well as from public, residential, and commercial uses, whether on the same lot or 
on neighboring properties, by a decorative masonry wall. Chain link fencing with slats or tennis 
windscreen material shall not be used as screening for storage areas. 

 
(j) The height of screen and wing walls shall be determined by a sight-line 

analysis/wall section plan. The sight-line analysis/wall section plan shall show that all roll-up doors 
will be screened from view from adjoining parcels and public streets. The following criteria shall 
apply: 
 

(i) Roll-up doors and openings in the screen wall shall be positioned 
such that the doors are not visible from the street. 

(ii) Screening shall include a combination of screen walls, sight-
obscuring gates, ornamental landscaping, and/or portions of the building such that the roll-up 
doors are not visible from the public street. 

(iii) Upon Planning Department request, a “horizontal height mockup” 
shall be constructed for review and approval by Planning Department staff to verify adequacy of 
screen wall height from the freeway and streets. Mockup should be located at the lowest 
elevation on the site. 
 

(k) The minimum gate height for screen wall openings shall be established 
based upon the corresponding wall height, as follows: 
 

Item G - 29 of 49



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 6 of 8 

Screen Wall Height Minimum Gate Height 

14 feet: 10 feet 

12 feet: 9 feet 

10 feet: 8 feet 

8 feet: 8 feet 

6 feet: 6 feet 
 

2.9 Site Lighting. 
 

(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security 
lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.08 (Special Residential Building 
Provisions) and Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial Building Provisions), designed to 
confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall be lighted from sunset until sunrise, 
daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 
 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity, 
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 
 

2.10 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 
 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning 
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated so as to be consistent with the 
building architecture. 
 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks, 
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 
 

2.11 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 
 

2.12 Signs.  
 

(a) All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations). 
 

2.13 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code 
Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 
 

2.14 Environmental Requirements.  
 

(a) The environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in 
conjunction with File No. PSP18-001, a Specific Plan for which the Merrill Commerce Center 
Specific Plan Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2019049079) was previously 

Item G - 30 of 49



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 7 of 8 

adopted by the City Council on 2/2/2021. This application introduces no new significant 
environmental impacts. The City's "Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”)" provide for the use of a single environmental assessment in 
situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately analyzed. The previously 
adopted mitigation measures shall be a condition of project approval and are incorporated 
herein by this reference. 

 
(b) The Project shall be designed and constructed in compliance with the 

associated Greenhouse Gas Reduction Measures Screening Table for this Project. 
 
(c) If human remains are found during project 

grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 
 

(d) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 
 

2.15 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

2.16 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) The Project shall be subject to the Development Impact Fees and required 
payment timelines stipulated in the associated Development Agreement (PDA18-004). 

 
(b) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of 

Determination (“NOD”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be 
paid by check, made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded 
to the San Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable 
environmental forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (“CEQA”). Failure to provide said fee within the time specified will result in the extension of the 
statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 180 days. 
 

(c) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 
building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 
 

2.17 Public Art. The Project is subject to the requirements of the City’s Public Art 
Ordinance (Ontario Municipal Code Section 5-33.05. Private Art for Public Enjoyment in 
Commercial and Industrial Development Projects). 

 

Item G - 31 of 49



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 8 of 8 

2.18 Final Occupancy. The Project Architect of record will certify that construction of 
each building site and the exterior elevations of each structure shall be completed in compliance 
with the approved plans. Any deviation to approved plans shall require a resubmittal to the 
Planning Department for review and approval prior to construction. The Occupancy Release 
Request Form/Architect Certificate of Compliance shall be provided prior to final occupancy. 
After the receipt of this Certification, the Planning Department will conduct a final site and exterior 
elevations inspection. The Owner’s Representative and Contractor shall be present. 
 

2.19 Additional Requirements. 
 

(a) The Development Plan is subject to applicable conditions of approval 
stipulated in Resolution No. PC21-017 (File No. PMTT20-010: Parcel Map No. 20273). 
 

(b) Passenger vehicle parking spaces located adjacent to trash enclosures 
shall be minimum 11 feet wide. 
 

(c) The Project requires minimum 591 passenger vehicle parking spaces and 
provides 547 passenger vehicle parking spaces within the passenger vehicle only parking lots.  The 
remaining 44 parking spaces shall be provided within the truck yard area when required by tenant 
operations.  
 

Item G - 32 of 49



CITY OF ONTARIO 
LANDSCAPE PLANNING DIVISION 

303 East “B” Street, Ontario, CA 91764 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Sign Off 

 
10/25/2023 

Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Architect Date 

Reviewer’s Name:  
Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Architect 

Phone: 
(909) 395-2615 

 D.A.B. File No.:                                           
PDEV23-015, related PMTT20-010 

Case Planner: 
Edmelynne Hutter 

Project Name and Location:  
Merrill Commerce Center Bldg. 11 
North of Merrill btw Vineyard Ave and Carpenter Ave 
Applicant/Representative: 
Prologis LP Sam Cho 
3546 Concours Street, Suite 100 
Ontario, CA 91764 
 
 
 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated 10/3/2023) meet the Standard Conditions for New 
Development and have been approved considering that the following conditions 
below be met upon submittal of the landscape construction documents. 

 

 
Preliminary Plans (dated) have not been approved. Corrections noted below are 
required before Preliminary Landscape Plan approval. 

A RESPONSE SHEET IS REQUIRED WITH RESUBMITTAL OR PLANS WILL BE RETURNED AS 
INCOMPLETE. 
Landscape construction plans with plan check number may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 
DIGITAL SUBMITTALS MUST BE 10MB OR LESS.  

Civil/ Site Plans 
1. Show and identify any on-site stormwater infiltration areas or stormwater infiltration devices 

proposed in parkways or other landscape areas. Stormwater chamber systems shall be designed 
at a minimum depth of 5’ to not interfere with required tree locations. 

2. Show or note transformers shall be in planter areas and set back 3’ from paving for small 
transformers less than 4’ high and 5’ setback for large transformers greater than 4’ high. 
Locate on level grade. Coordinate with landscape plans. Transformers shall be setback 5’ 
from vehicular paving to avoid bollards. 

3. Show or note backflow devices shall be in planter areas and set back min 3’ from paving 
Locate on level grade. Coordinate with landscape plans. Dimension on conceptual plans. 

4. Show light standards 15’ away from required tree locations. Locate light standards out of 
planter areas dedicated to required tree locations; parking lot planters, end island planters, 
and tree diamonds. 

5. Provide an outdoor employee area with places to sit and shade trees or structures. Show on 
plans. 

6. Corners; verify the dimension and grade for any proposed monumentation. Adjacent walls shall 
not interfere with the required monumentation. Coordinate with landscape plans. 

7. Show any monumentation within neighborhood edges; note for maintenance easements if 
required.  

8. DG trails and parkways at corners shall have the trail curve into the sidewalk rather than out to 
the corner ramp; OK to end parkway landscape before corner utilities.  

9. Locate utilities, including light standards, fire hydrants, water, drain, and sewer lines to not 
conflict with required tree locations—coordinate civil plans with landscape plans. 

10. Show corner ramp and sidewalk per city standard drawing 1213 with max 10’ or 13’ of ramp 

Item G - 33 of 49

mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


and sidewalk behind corners. Show 5’ sidewalk and 7’ parkway within the right of way or as 
required by the Engineering dept. 

11. Provide landscape calculations required for the site, not including the right of way or paving; 
coordinate with landscape plans. Calculations shall be consistent with the landscape water 
budget. 

12. Show an outdoor employee break area with a table or bench and shade trees on the south and 
west sides. 

Landscape Plans 
13. Show backflow devices with 36” high strappy leaf shrub screening and trash enclosures and 

transformers, a 4’-5’ high evergreen hedge screening. Do not encircle utility; show as masses 
and duplicate masses in other locations at regular intervals. 

14. Locate light standards, fire hydrants, water, and sewer lines to not conflict with required tree 
locations. Coordinate civil plans with landscape plans 

15. Show all utilities on the landscape plans. Coordinate so utilities are clear of tree locations. 
16. Show corner ramp and sidewalk per city standard drawing 1213. 
17. Show any easements and identify them. 
18. Provide landscape calculations required for the site, not including the right of way or paving; 

coordinate with landscape plans. Calculations shall be consistent with landscape water budget. 
19. Call out the type of proposed irrigation system (dripline and pop-up stream spray tree bubblers 

with PCS). Include preliminary MAWA calcs. Proposed water use must meet the water budget.  
20. Show landscape hydrozones on plan or legend with plants per WUCOLS. Moderate water 

plants may be used for part shade north and east-facing locations, low water plants 
everywhere else. 

21. Designer or developer to provide agronomical soil testing and include a report on landscape 
construction plans.  

22. Show concrete mowstrips to identify property lines along open areas or to separate ownership 
or between maintenance areas. 

23. Show outdoor employee break area with table or bench and shade trees on the south and west 
sides. 

24. Landscape construction plans shall meet the requirements of the Landscape Development 
Guidelines. See http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards 

25. After a project’s entitlement approval, the applicant shall pay all applicable fees for landscape 
plan check and inspections at a rate established by resolution of the City Council.  

Item G - 34 of 49

http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards


Item G - 35 of 49



Item G - 36 of 49



Item G - 37 of 49



Item G - 38 of 49



Item G - 39 of 49



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 

 

TO:  Edmelynne Hutter, Senior Planner 

  Planning Department 

 

FROM:  Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 

  Fire Department 

 

DATE:  July 11, 2023 

 

SUBJECT: PDEV23-015 - A Development Plan to construct 1 industrial building 

totaling 1,165,632 square feet on 47.85 acres of land located at the northeast 

corner of Merrill Avenue and Carpenter Avenue, within the Industrial 

land use district of the Merrill Commerce Center Specific Plan (APN(s): 

1054-511-01; 1054-511-02). Related File(s): PMTT20-010.  

 

 

   The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time.  

   Standard Conditions of Approval apply, as stated below. 

 

 

SITE AND BUILDING FEATURES: 

 

A. 2019 CBC Type of Construction:  Type III-B 

 

B. Type of Roof Materials:  Panelized 

 

C. Ground Floor Area(s):  1,047,630 Sq. Ft.  

 

D. Number of Stories:  1 w/ Mezzanine 

 

E. Total Square Footage:  1,162,630 Sq. Ft.  

 

F. 2019 CBC Occupancy Classification(s):  B/ S-1, F-1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item G - 40 of 49



 

2 of 4  

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

 

1.0 GENERAL 

 

  1.1 The following are the Ontario Fire Department (“Fire Department”) requirements for this 

development project, based on the current edition of the California Fire Code (CFC), and the 

current versions of the Fire Prevention Standards (“Standards.”) It is recommended that the 

applicant or developer transmit a copy of these requirements to the on-site contractor(s) and 

that all questions or concerns be directed to the Bureau of Fire Prevention, at (909) 395-2029. 

For copies of Ontario Fire Department Standards please access the City of Ontario web site at 

www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention.  

 

  1.2 These Fire Department conditions of approval are to be included on any and all construction 

drawings.  

 

2.0 FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 

 

  2.1 Fire Department vehicle access roadways shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all portions of 

the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved. Roadways 

shall be paved with an all-weather surface and shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24) ft. wide. 

See Standard #B-004.   

 

  2.2 In order to allow for adequate turning radius for emergency fire apparatus, all turns shall be 

designed to meet the minimum twenty five feet (25’) inside and forty-five feet (45’) outside 

turning radius per Standard #B-005.   

 

  2.3 Fire Department access roadways that exceed one hundred and fifty feet (150’) in length shall 

have an approved turn-around per Standard #B-002.   

 

  2.4 Access drive aisles which cross property lines shall be provided with CC&Rs, access 

easements, or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected 

properties, and copies of same shall be provided at the time of building plan check. 

 

  2.5 "No Parking-Fire Lane" signs and /or red painted curbs with lettering are required to be instal-

led in interior access roadways, in locations where vehicle parking would obstruct the 

minimum clear width requirement. Installation shall be per Standard #B-001.  

 

  2.6 Security gates or other barriers on fire access roadways shall be provided with a Knox brand 

key switch or padlock to allow Fire Department access.  See Standards #B-003, B-004 and H-

001. 

 

  2.7 Any time PRIOR to on-site combustible construction and/or storage, a minimum twenty-four 

(24) ft. wide circulating all weather access roads shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all 

portions of the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved by 

fire department and other emergency services. 

 

 

 

Item G - 41 of 49

http://www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention


 

3 of 4  

 

3.0 WATER SUPPLY 

 

  3.1 The required fire flow per Fire Department standards, based on the 2019 California Fire Code, 

Appendix B, is 4000  gallons per minute (g.p.m.) for 4 hours at a minimum of 20 pounds per 

square inch (p.s.i.) residual operating pressure. 

 

  3.2 Off-site (public) fire hydrants are required to be installed on all frontage streets, at a minimum 

spacing of three hundred foot (300’) apart, per Engineering Department specifications.  

 

  3.3 Buildings that exceed 100,000 square feet in floor area shall provide an onsite looped fire 

protection water line around the building(s.) The loops shall be required to have two or more 

points of connection from a public circulating water main. 

 

  3.4 The water supply, including water mains and fire hydrants, shall be tested and approved by the 

Engineering Department and Fire Department prior to combustible construction to assure 

availability and reliability for firefighting purposes.  

 

4.0 FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS 

 

  4.1 On-site private fire hydrants are required per Standard #D-005, and identified in accordance 

with Standard #D-002.  Installation and locations(s) are subject to the approval of the Fire 

Department. An application with detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit 

shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work being done.    

 

  4.2 Underground fire mains which cross property lines shall be provided with CC & R, easements, 

or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected properties, and 

copies of same shall be provided at the time of fire department plan check. The shared use of 

private fire mains or fire pumps is allowable only between immediately adjacent properties 

and shall not cross any public street. 

 

  4.3 An automatic fire sprinkler system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with 

National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 13. All new fire sprinkler systems, 

except those in single family dwellings, which contain twenty (20) sprinkler heads or more 

shall be monitored by an approved listed supervising station. An application along with 

detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire 

Department, prior to any work being done.   

 

  4.5 Fire Department Connections (FDC) shall be located on the address side of the building within 

one hundred fifty feet (150’) of a public fire hydrant on the same side of the street.  Provide 

identification for all fire sprinkler control valves and fire department connections per Standard 

#D-007. Raised curbs adjacent to Fire Department connection(s) shall be painted red, five feet 

either side, per City standards. 

 

  4.6 A fire alarm system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 72. An application along with detailed plans shall be 

submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work 

being done.  

 

Item G - 42 of 49



 

4 of 4  

 

  4.7 Portable fire extinguishers are required to be installed prior to occupancy per Standard #C-001.  

Please contact the Fire Prevention Bureau to determine the exact number, type and placement 

required. 

   

5.0 BUILDING CONSTRUCTION FEATURES 

 

  5.1 The developer/general contractor is to be responsible for reasonable periodic cleanup of the 

development during construction to avoid hazardous accumulations of combustible trash and 

debris both on and off the site. 

 

  5.2 Approved numbers or addresses shall be placed on all new and existing buildings in such a 

position as to be plainly visible and legible from the street or road fronting the property.  Multi-

tenant or building projects shall have addresses and/or suite numbers provided on the rear of 

the building.  Address numbers shall contrast with their background. See Section 9-1 6.06 of 

the Ontario Municipal Code and Standards #H-003 and #H-002.  
 

  5.6 Knox ® brand key-box(es) shall be installed in location(s) acceptable to the Fire Department. 

All Knox boxes shall be monitored for tamper by the building fire alarm system. See Standard 

#H-001 for specific requirements. 

 

  5.7  Placards shall be installed in acceptable locations on buildings that store, use or handle 

hazardous materials in excess of the quantities specified in the CFC. Placards shall meet the 

requirements of National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 704.  

 

6.0 OTHER SPECIAL USES 

 

  6.1 The storage, use, dispensing, or handling of any hazardous materials shall be approved by the 

Fire Department, and adequate fire protection features shall be required.  If hazardous materials 

are proposed, a Fire Department Hazardous Materials Information Packet, including 

Disclosure Form and Information Worksheet, shall be completed and submitted with Material 

Safety Data Sheets to the Fire Department along with building construction plans. 

 

  6.2 Any High Piled Storage, or storage of combustible materials greater than twelve (12’) feet in 

height for ordinary (Class I-IV) commodities or storage greater than six feet (6’) in height of 

high hazard (Group A plastics, rubber tires, flammable liquids, etc.) shall be approved by the 

Fire Department, and adequate fire protection features shall be required.  If High Piled Storage 

is proposed, a Fire Department High Piled Storage Worksheet shall be completed and detailed 

racking plans or floor plans submitted prior to occupancy of the building. 

 

  6.3 Underground fuel tanks, their associated piping and dispensers shall be reviewed, approved, 

and permitted by Ontario Building Department, Ontario Fire Department, and San Bernardino 

County Fire Department Hazardous Materials Division.  In fueling facilities, an exterior 

emergency pump shut-off switch shall be provided.  

 

 

 

 

 

Item G - 43 of 49



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Edmelynne Hutter, Senior Planner 
 
FROM:  Heather Lugo, MA, Police Department 
 
DATE:  July 10, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: PDEV23-015 - A Development Plan to construct 1 industrial building totaling 

1,165,632 square feet on 47.85 acres of land located at the northeast corner of 
Merrill Avenue and Carpenter Avenue, within the Industrial land use district of the 
Merrill Commerce Center Specific Plan (APN(s): 1054-511-01; 1054-511-02). 
Related File(s): PMTT20-010. 

 
 
The “Standard Conditions of Approval” contained in Resolution No. 2017-027 apply. The applicant shall 
read and be thoroughly familiar with these conditions, including, but not limited to, the requirements below. 
 

• Required lighting for all walkways, driveways, doorways, parking lots, hallways and other areas 
used by the public shall be provided. Lights shall operate via photosensor. Photometrics shall be 
provided to the Police Department and include the types of fixtures proposed and demonstrate that 
such fixtures meet the vandal-resistant requirement. Planned landscaping shall not obstruct 
lighting. 

• Rooftop addresses shall be installed on the buildings as stated in the Standard Conditions. The 
numbers shall be at a minimum 6 feet tall and 2 foot wide, in reflective white paint on a flat black 
background, and oriented with the bottom of the numbers towards the addressed street. Associated 
letters shall also be included.  

• The Applicant shall comply with construction site security requirements as stated in the Standard 
Conditions. 

• The Applicant shall install a video surveillance system on the site. Cameras shall cover at a 
minimum all entry doors, all cash registers, and at least one camera shall capture any vehicle 
utilizing the drive-thru. Cameras shall be positioned to maximize the coverage of patrons and 
vehicles in these areas. Cameras shall record at least 15 frames per second and at a minimum of 
640x480 lines of resolution. Recordings shall be stored for a minimum of 30 days and made 
available upon request to any member of the Ontario Police Department. 

• All exterior electrical outlets shall be secured and locked. 

• All exterior water spigots / water supply sources shall be secured and locked.  

• Trash enclosure shall be fully secured/enclosed by locks, mesh, and screen grate to reduce crime 
and encampment opportunities for homeless persons. 
 

The Applicant is invited to contact Heather Lugo at (909) 408-1074 with any questions or concerns 
regarding these conditions.    
 

Item G - 44 of 49



 

Item G - 45 of 49



AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

Site Acreage:

ONT-IAC Project Review:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone Avigation Easement 
Dedication

Real Estate Transaction

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PDEV23-015

1945 East Merrill Avenue

1054-511-01 & 1054-511-02

Vacant

 Development Plan to construct one industrial building totaling 1,165,630 square feet

49.47

n/a

ONT & Chino

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) and was
evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP)
for ONT.
The project is located within Chino Airport Influence Area and Safety Zone 6, and is consistent with policies and criteria
set forth within Reference I, Chino Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. See attached Conditions

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Edmelynne Hutter

11/13/2023

2023-007

n/a

60 FT

200 FT +

✔

Item G - 46 of 49



CD No.:

PALU No.:

PROJECT CONDITIONS

AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 2

1. The project will need to provide a minimum of 4.9 acres of open land and 6.1 acres of open land has been provided.

2. The attached open land exhibit identifies the interior truck yard as an acceptable location for meeting the open land
requirements. The area within the truck yard designated for open land shall be remain free of permanent structures and
other major obstacles such as walls, large trees or poles (greater than 4 inches in diameter, measured 4 feet above the
ground), and overhead wires.

3. Project is located within Safety Zone 6 and above ground storage of hazardous materials greater than 6,000 gallons
is not allowed.

4. The project site is located within an area where 110-135 foot building heights are allowed. Allowable building
heights gradually increase from the northeast to the southwest corner of the project site. Given its close proximity to
Chino Airport the applicant will be required to file for an FAA Obstruction Evaluation/Airport Airspace Analysis
(FAA Form 7460-1) for any temporary construction equipment such as cranes and receive a Determination of No
Hazard for any temporary structures/objects that are over 100 feet in height.

5. The planting palette will need to include tree species that will not grow to a mature height that would create future
hazards to aircraft in flight and shall have a mature height of no more than 100 feet in height.

6. Attached is the land use intensity calculation for the proposed building. Future land uses that deviate from what is
currently being approved must meet the policies and criteria of the Chino Airport Overlay Zoning District and
Reference I, Chino Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan and receive Planning Department approval prior to issuance
of any business license.

2023-007

Item G - 47 of 49



Item G - 48 of 49



CD No. 2023-007

Intensity Calculations for 
PDEV23-015

 Load Factors

Sitewide 
Average 

Calculations 
(Zone 6 = 300 

P/AC max)

Single Acre SF
Single Acre Intensity 

Calculations (Zone 6 = 
1,200P/AC max)

Proposed Land Use Land Use SF Acreage Safety Zone ALUCP Load Factor
ALUCP Load 

Factor
Land Use SF ALUCP Load Factor

Warehouse               1,147,630 6                        1,000 1148              36,060 36
Office                     15,000 6                            215 70                7,500 35

Totals               1,162,630 49.47 25 71

 

Site Wide Average Calculation is for Zone 6.   Chino criteria for Zone 6 allows a maximum of 300 people.  The proposed project would generate a site 
wide average of 25 people as indicated in the calculations above.

Single Acre Intensity Calculation is for Zone 6.  Chino single acre criteria for Zone 6 allows a maximum of 1,200 people.  The proposed project would 
generate a single acre intensity of 71 people as indicated in the above calculations. 

Sitewide Average 
Calculation

25

Single Acre Intensity 
Calculation

71

Item G - 49 of 49



Page 1 of 26 

DECISION NO.: [insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV23-038 

DESCRIPTION: A Development Plan to modify File No. PDEV22-014, to increase the 
height of Building B from 5 to 6 stories, increase building square footage from 221,730 to 
387,598 square feet, and increase the unit count from 112 to 201 units, located on 2.37 
acres of land located at 4000 Ontario Center Parkway, within the Mixed-Use land use 
district of the Piemonte Overlay at the Ontario Center Specific Plan, Subarea 17 (APN: 
0210-205-01); submitted by Adept Development. Planning Commission action is required. 

PART 1: BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

ADEPT DEVELOPMENT, (herein after referred to as "Applicant") has filed an 
application requesting approval of a Development Plan Modification, File No. PDEV23-
038, as described in the subject of this Decision (herein after referred to as "Application" 
or "Project"). 

PROJECT SETTING: The project site is comprised of 2.37 acres of land located at 4000 
Ontario Center Parkway and is depicted in Exhibit A: Project Location Map, attached. 
Existing land uses, Policy Plan (general plan) and zoning designations, and specific plan 
land uses on and surrounding the project site are as follows: 

Existing Land Use Policy Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Zoning 
Designation 

Specific Plan 
Land Use Designation 

Site: Parking Lot Mixed-Use Piemonte Overlay at Ontario 
Center Specific Plan Mixed Use 

North: Parking Lot Mixed-Use Piemonte Overlay at Ontario 
Center Specific Plan Mixed Use 

South: Commercial Mixed-Use Ontario Center Specific Plan Garden Commercial, 
Open Space 

East: Commercial Mixed-Use Ontario Center Specific Plan Garden Commercial 

West: Parking Lot Mixed-Use Piemonte Overlay at Ontario 
Center Specific Plan Mixed Use 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 
DECISION 

November 20, 2023 

Item H - 1 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 2 of 26 

PROJECT ANALYSIS:  
 
(1) Background — In 2006, the City Council approved the creation of the Piemonte 
Overlay at The Ontario Center Specific Plan (“Piemonte Overlay”), within the Urban 
Commercial land use district of The Ontario Center Specific Plan, establishing a master 
plan for the development of approximately 1.3 million square feet of retail, office, hotel, 
and entertainment uses, and more than 800 multiple-family dwelling units on the 84-acre 
overlay site. Several Specific Pan Amendments have been approved for the Piemonte 
Overlay, modifying development intensities, parking requirements, architectural 
guidelines, and land use designations. The most recent Specific Plan Amendment, File 
No. PSPA21-001, was approved by the City Council on April 19, 2022, and involved 
expanding the overlay boundary, adding the Mixed-Use land use designation, and 
establishing design guidelines for mixed-use projects. 
 
On July 28, 2022, the Planning Commission approved File No. PDEV22-014, a 
Development Plan to construct a mixed-use project including four mixed-use buildings 
totaling 63,665 square feet of commercial space and 694 multiple-family dwelling units 
on 13.3 acres of land. Under File No. PDEV22-014, Building B was approved as a 221,730 
square-foot, 5-story building with 112 multiple-family dwelling units, 21,770 square feet of 
commercial space, and 198 passenger vehicle parking spaces. The ground level of the 
building included residential parking, commercial spaces, and the lobby and leasing 
office for the residential apartment complex. The second level contained residential units 
and common recreational amenities such as swimming pool, landscape areas, outdoor 
seating areas and shade canopies. The remaining third, fourth and fifth floors contained 
the remaining residential units, which were configured as an “L” shaped building. 
 
On October 10, 2023, the Applicant submitted an application, File No. PDEV23-038, a 
request to revise the previously approved Development Plan (File No. PDEV22-014) to 
modify Building B by increasing the building height, building square footage, unit count, 
and the number of parking spaces.  
 
(2) Site Design/Building Layout — The Project proposes a 6-story, mixed-use building 
and is similar to the previously approved Building B, in that commercial spaces for 
restaurant, retail and office uses are proposed at the ground floor, along the north and 
the west sides. The main lobby for the apartment complex is located at the northeast 
portion of the ground floor and includes a leasing office, mailbox area and elevators. 
Passenger vehicle parking is located in the interior ground floor area. The second level 
includes residential units and podium space with common recreational amenities for 
apartment residents. The remaining four floors rise above the common open space area 
and contain most of the residential units. 
 
The proposed modifications for Building B include separating the “L” shaped apartment 
building into separate buildings. Portions of the residential buildings will project beyond 
the ground floor level, creating covered areas on the pedestrian plaza. Other changes 
include expanding the building footprint further west, closer to the existing main drive 

Item H - 2 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 3 of 26 

entry for the Arena building and adding a semi-subterranean parking level below the 
original ground level parking. See Exhibit B: Site Plan. 
 
(3) Site Access/Circulation — Vehicular access to Building B is provided by two 
driveways on the east and south portions of the building, along Concours Street. One 
driveway is located at the Ferrari Lane intersection and the other driveway is also located 
on Concours Street, approximately 500 feet west of the Ferrari Lane. The driveway at 
Ferrari Lane will access the ground-floor parking level and second driveway further west 
will access the semi-subterranean parking level. The two parking levels are connected 
internally with a central ramp.  
 
The ground level parking provides access to the pedestrian plaza via an opening near 
the northwest corner of the parking level. Pedestrian access to the residential, 
commercial and office spaces will be provided along the north and west sides of the 
building. Concours Street does not provide direct pedestrian access to the building 
because the parking levels are located along this street frontage. 
 
(4) Parking — The Project is required to provide a minimum 251 assigned, residential 
parking spaces. Mixed-Use land use areas in the Piemonte Overlay allows commercial, 
retail, and restaurant parking to be provided off-site within public parking areas. The 
number of off-street parking spaces provided on-site exceeds the minimum parking 
requirement for the Project. The Project provides 368 total parking spaces and includes 
77 residential tandem parking spaces. The off-street parking calculations for the Project 
are summarized in the table below: 
 

 Table 1: Parking Requirements 

Building Type of Use Dwelling Units Parking Ratio Spaces Required Spaces 
Provided 

Building B 

Studio 50 1 space per Unit 50 

368 1-Bedroom  85 1 space per Unit 85 

2-Bedroom 66 1.75 spaces per Unit 116 

TOTAL 201  251 368 

 
Although not required by the Piemonte Overlay, the project provides a surplus 117 
parking spaces, which will be available to visitors, including residential guests and patrons 
of the commercial businesses in the mixed-use development. 
 
(5) Architecture — The Project’s architectural style is compatible with the previously 
approved designs. The Project has a contemporary architectural style, utilizing linear and 
curvilinear forms with colors typically seen in natural landscapes, including green, sand, 
tan and gray (see Exhibit D: Elevations). The building elevations use combinations of color 
blocking, textures, materials, height, changes in wall planes, and projections to create a 
highly dynamic mixed-use development. Proposed building materials include products 
such as painted corrugated metal, stucco, glass railings, travertine, perforated metal 

Item H - 3 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 4 of 26 

panels, metal louvers, and textured concrete. The mix of textures, colors and materials 
are arranged in various patterns that highlight the building’s vertical height and changes 
in building facades. The building height was increased by one floor level and is now 
proposed to be at most 85 feet in height, including the elevator appurtenance and semi-
subterranean parking. 
 
(6) Landscaping — The Project proposes landscaping in the plaza area and in the 
residential common open space areas with a plant palette consisting of combinations 
of ground covers, shrubs, and tree species, including olive, oak, and palo verde. As 
conditioned, the Applicant will submit landscape plans that show plant placement, 
irrigation and installation details that demonstrate environments for successful plant 
growth. 
 
(7) Signage — All future signage will be subject to review and approval of a 
comprehensive sign program for the Specific Plan area. A sign program will facilitate 
integration of the signs with the overall site and building design to create a unified visual 
statement and provide for flexible application of sign regulations in the design and 
display of multiple signs. Key provisions will include an entry monument, center and 
tenant identification signage, digital signs, traffic and wayfinding signs, building signs, 
secondary monumentation, and visitor and directional signage. 
 
(8) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — The Project will be required to construct infrastructure 
improvements per the associated Development Agreements and requirements of the 
Piemonte Overlay at the Ontario Center Specific Plan. Furthermore, the Applicant has 
submitted a Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan (“PWQMP”), which establishes 
the Project’s compliance with storm water discharge/water quality requirements. The 
PWQMP includes site design measures that capture runoff and pollutant transport by 
minimizing impervious surfaces and maximizes low impact development (“LID”) best 
management practices (“BMPs”), such as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and 
evapotranspiration. The PWQMP proposes the use of underground storm water retention 
chambers to receive, retain, and treat storm water runoff. 
 
(9) Piemonte Overlay Development Intensity — The Project is located within Subarea 
17 of the Piemonte Overlay at Ontario Center Specific Plan (see Exhibit E: Piemonte 
Overlay Subarea Map) and was originally approved with 112 dwelling units and 21,770 
square feet of commercial space. 
 
Subarea 13, located on the southeast corner of Fourth Street and Via Piemonte, is owned 
by the City of Ontario. The Piemonte Overlay currently anticipates 115,000 square feet of 
mixed-use, according to Table 2.2 of the Piemonte Overlay. The City is currently 
anticipating that this area will be developed with a City-owned parking structure and no 
commercial space or residential units. 
 
In accordance with Section 2.2.2.1 of the Piemonte Overlay, non-residential square 
footage may be converted to dwelling units at a ratio of 1 dwelling unit for every 600 
non-residential square feet. Therefore, Subarea 13 has the dwelling unit equivalency of 

Item H - 4 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 5 of 26 

191 units. The Project proposes to capture a portion of Subarea 13’s development 
capacity in the form of transferring 89 units to Subarea 17 (Building B). As a result, Subarea 
13 would have 102 dwelling units (or 61,200 commercial square feet) remaining in its 
development capacity.  
 
Negligible impacts are anticipated as a result of the 89 unit increase in Building B, in that 
impacts to current and future traffic conditions and infrastructure and services demands 
are still within the parameters identified in the Piemonte Overlay. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: Public notification is not be required, as the Development Advisory 
Board is acting in its capacity as an advisory body to the Planning Commission. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE: As of the preparation of this Decision, Planning Department staff has 
not received any written or verbal communications from the owners of properties 
surrounding the project site or from the public in general, regarding the subject 
application. 
 
AGENCY/DEPARTMENT REVIEWS: Each City agency/department has been provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the subject application and recommend 
conditions of approval to be imposed upon the application. At the time of the Decision 
preparation, recommended conditions of approval were provided and are included 
with this Decision. 
 
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLAN (ALUCP) COMPLIANCE: The California State 
Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land 
Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use airports in the State; and requires 
that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be consistent with 
the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. 
 
On April 19, 2011, the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the ONT 
ALUCP, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, 
and limits future land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they 
relate to noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future 
airport activity. As the recommending body for the Project, the Development Advisory 
Board has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the 
Application and supporting documentation against the ONT ALUCP compatibility 
factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ONT ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact Zones (ONT ALUCP 
Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight 
Notification Zones (ONT ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the Development Advisory Board, 
therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with 
the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria set forth within 
the ONT ALUCP. 
 

Item H - 5 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 6 of 26 

COMPLIANCE WITH THE ONTARIO PLAN 2050: The proposed project is consistent with the 
principles, goals and policies contained within the Vision, Governance, Policy Plan 
(general plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan 2050 ("TOP 
2050"). More specifically, the goals and policies of TOP that are furthered by the proposed 
project are as follows: 
 
(1) City Council Goals. 
 

 Invest in the Growth and Evolution of the City's Economy 
 Focus Resources in Ontario's Commercial and Residential Neighborhoods 

 
(2) Vision. 
 

Distinctive Development: 
 

 Commercial and Residential Development 
 

 Development quality that is broadly recognized as distinctive and not 
exclusively tied to the general suburban character typical of much of Southern California. 

 
(3) Governance. 
 

Decision Making: 
 

 Goal G1: Sustained decision-making that consistently moves Ontario towards 
its Vision by using The Ontario Plan as a framework for assessing choices. 
 

 G 1-2. Long-term Benefit. We require decisions to demonstrate and 
document how they add value to the community and support the Ontario Vision. 
 
(4) Policy Plan (General Plan) 
 

Land Use Element: 
 

 Goal LU-1 Balance: A community that has a spectrum of housing types and 
price ranges that match the jobs in the City and that make it possible for people to live 
and work in Ontario and maintain a quality of life. 
 

 LU-1.1 Strategic Growth. We concentrate growth in strategic locations that 
help create place and identity, maximize available and planned infrastructure, foster the 
development of transit, and support the expansion of the active and multimodal 
transportation networks throughout the City. 
 

 LU-1.6 Complete Community. We incorporate a variety of land uses and 
building types in our land use planning efforts that result in a complete community where 

Item H - 6 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 7 of 26 

residents at all stages of life, employers, workers, and visitors have a wide spectrum of 
choices of where they can live, work, shop and recreate within Ontario. 
 

 Goal LU-2 Compatibility: Compatibility between a wide range of uses and a 
resultant urban patterns and forms. 
 

 LU-2.6 Infrastructure Compatibility. We require infrastructure to be 
aesthetically pleasing and in context with the community character. 
 

Housing Element: 
 

 Goal H-2 Housing Supply & Diversity: Diversity of types of quality housing that 
are affordable to a range of household income levels, accommodate changing 
demographics, and support and reinforce the economic sustainability of Ontario. 
 

 H-2.3 Ontario Airport Metro Center. We foster a vibrant, urban, intense and 
highly amenitized community in the Ontario Airport Metro Center Area through a mix of 
residential, entertainment, retail and office-oriented uses. 
 

 H-2.5 Housing Design. We require architectural excellence through 
adherence to City design guidelines, thoughtful site planning, environmentally 
sustainable practices, and other best practices. 
 

 H-2.6 Infill Development. We support the revitalization of neighborhoods 
through the construction of higher-density residential developments on underutilized 
residential and commercial sites. 
 

 Goal H-3 Government Regulations: A City regulatory environment that 
balances the need for creativity and excellence in residential design, flexibility and 
predictability in the project approval process, and the provision of an adequate supply 
and prices of housing. 
 

 H-3.2 Flexible Standards. We allow flexibility in the application of residential 
and mixed-use development standards in order to gain benefits such as exceptional 
design quality, economic advantages, sustainability, or other benefits that would 
otherwise be unrealized. 
 

 H-3.3 Development Review. We maintain a residential development review 
process that provides certainty and transparency for project stakeholders and the public, 
yet allows for the appropriate review to facilitate quality housing development. 
 

Community Economics Element: 
 

 Goal CE-1 Complete Community: A complete community that provides for all 
incomes and stages of life. 
 

Item H - 7 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 8 of 26 

 CE-1.6 Diversity of Housing. We collaborate with residents, housing 
providers, and the development community to provide housing opportunities for every 
stage of life; we plan for a variety of housing types and price points to encourage the 
development of housing supportive of our efforts to attract business in growing sectors of 
the community while being respectful of existing viable uses. 
 

 Goal CE-2 Placemaking: A City of distinctive neighborhoods, districts, corridors, 
and centers where people choose to be. 
 

 CE-2.1 Development Projects. We require new development and 
redevelopment to create unique, high-quality places that add value to the community. 
 

 CE-2.2 Development Review. We require those proposing new 
development and redevelopment to demonstrate how their projects will create 
appropriately unique, functional, and sustainable places that will compete well with their 
competition within the region. 
 

 CE-2.4 Protection of Investment. We require that new development and 
redevelopment protect existing investment by providing architecture and urban design 
of equal or greater quality. 
 

 CE-2.5 Private Maintenance. We require adequate maintenance, upkeep, 
and investment in private property because proper maintenance on private property 
protects property values. 
 

Safety Element: 
 

 Goal S-1 Seismic & Geologic Hazards: Minimized risk of injury, loss of life, 
property damage, and economic and social disruption caused by earthquake-induced 
and other geologic hazards. 
 

 S-1.1 Implementation of Regulations and Standards. We require that all new 
habitable structures be designed in accordance with the most recent California Building 
Code adopted by the City, including provisions regarding lateral forces and grading. 
 

Community Design Element: 
 

 Goal CD-1 Image & Identity: A dynamic, progressive city containing distinct 
and complete places that foster a positive sense of identity and belonging among 
residents, visitors, and businesses. 
 

 CD-1.1 City Identity. We take actions that are consistent with the City being 
a leading urban center in Southern California while recognizing, enhancing, and 
preserving the character of our existing viable neighborhoods. 
 

Item H - 8 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 9 of 26 

 CD-1.2 Place Types. We establish Place Types in urban, mixed use, and 
transit-oriented areas to foster the City's identity as a premier community and require new 
development within each Place Type to incorporate prescribed urban patterns, forms, 
and placemaking priorities. 
 

 Goal CD-2 Design Quality: A high level of design quality resulting in 
neighborhoods, public spaces, parks, and streetscapes that are attractive, safe, 
functional, human-scale, and distinct. 
 

 CD-2.1 Quality Building Design and Architecture. We encourage all 
development projects to convey visual interest and character through: 
 

• Building volume, massing, and height to provide context-appropriate 
scale and proportion; 

• A true architectural style which is carried out in plan, section, and 
elevation through all aspects of the building and site design and appropriate for its 
setting; and 

• Exterior building materials that are articulated, high quality, durable, 
and appropriate for the architectural style. 
 

 CD-2.2 Neighborhood Design. We create distinct residential neighborhoods 
that promote a sense of community and identity by emphasizing access, connectivity, 
livability, and social interaction through such elements as: 
 

• A pattern of smaller, walkable blocks that promote activity, safety, and 
access to nearby amenities and services; 

• Varied parcel sizes and lot configurations to accommodate a diversity 
of housing types; 

• Traffic calming measures to slow traffic and promote walkability while 
maintaining acceptable traffic flows and emergency evacuation access; 

• Floor plans that encourage views onto the street and de-emphasize the 
visual and physical dominance of garages (introducing the front porch as the "outdoor 
living room"), as appropriate; and 

• Landscaped parkways, with sidewalks separated from the curb and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, and aesthetics for all users. 
 

 CD-2.4 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-oriented Areas. We stablish Place 
Types to require mixed use, urban, and transit-oriented areas to be designed and 
developed as pedestrian oriented areas that are integrated with adjacent 
neighborhoods and promote a vibrant, comfortable, and functional environment, as 
defined for each Place Type. 

 
 CD-2.7 Sustainability. We collaborate with the development community to 

design and build neighborhoods, streetscapes, sites, outdoor spaces, landscaping, and 
buildings to reduce energy demand through solar orientation, maximum use of natural 

Item H - 9 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 10 of 26 

daylight, passive solar and natural ventilation, building form, mechanical and structural 
systems, building materials, and construction techniques. 
 

 CD-2.8 Safe Design. We incorporate defensible space design into new and 
existing developments to ensure the maximum safe travel and visibility on pathways, 
corridors, and open space and at building entrances and parking areas by avoiding 
physically and visually isolated spaces, maintaining visibility and accessibility, and using 
lighting. 
 

 CD-2.9 Landscape Design. We encourage durable, sustainable, and 
drought-tolerant landscaping materials and designs that enhance the aesthetics of 
structures, create and define public and private spaces, and provide shade and 
environmental benefits. 
 

 CD-2.10 Parking Areas. We require all development, including single-family 
residential, to minimize the visual impact of surface, structured, and garage parking areas 
visible from the public realm in an aesthetically pleasing, safe and environmentally 
sensitive manner. Examples include: 
 

• Structured parking: facade articulation, screening, appropriate lighting, 
and landscaping; and 
 

 CD-2.11 Entry Statements. We encourage the inclusion of amenities, 
signage, and landscaping at the entry to neighborhoods, commercial centers, mixed 
use areas, industrial developments, and public places that reinforce them as uniquely 
identifiable places. 
 

 CD-2.12 Site and Building Signage. We encourage the use of sign programs 
that utilize complementary materials, colors, and themes. Project signage should be 
designed to effectively communicate and direct users to various aspects of the 
development and complement the character of the structures. 
 

 CD-2.13 Entitlement Process. We work collaboratively with all stakeholders 
to ensure a high degree of certainty in the efficient review and timely processing of all 
development plans and permits. 
 

 Goal CD-3 Urban, Mixed Use, and Transit-Oriented Place Types: Vibrant urban 
environments that are organized around intense buildings, pedestrian and transit areas, 
public plazas, and linkages between and within developments that are conveniently 
located, visually appealing and safe during all hours. 
 

 CD-3.1 Unique Identity. We promote development that heightens the 
unique character and identity of each Place Type by requiring compatible land uses and 
land planning, site design, and building design that promotes an active public realm. 

 

Item H - 10 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 11 of 26 

 CD-3.2 Comfortable, Human-Scale Public Realm. We require that public 
spaces, including streets, parks, and plazas on both public and private property be 
designed to maximize safety, comfort and aesthetics and connect to the citywide 
pedestrian, vehicular, and bicycle networks. 
 

 CD-3.3 Complete and Connected Network. We require that pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation on both public and private property be coordinated 
to provide connections internally and externally to adjacent neighborhoods and 
properties (existing and planned) through a system of local roads and trails that promote 
walking and biking to nearby destinations (including existing and planned parks, 
commercial areas, and transit stops) and are designed to maximize safety, comfort, and 
aesthetics. 
 

 CD-3.4 Context-Aware and Appropriate Design. We require appropriate 
building and site design that complements existing development, respects the intent and 
identity of the Place Type, and provides appropriate transitions and connections 
between adjacent uses to ensure compatibility of scale, maintain an appropriate level 
of privacy for each use, and minimize potential conflicts. 
 

 CD-3.5 Active Frontages. We create lively pedestrian streetscapes by 
requiring primary building, business, and residential entrances, outdoor dining, and 
storefronts be located on ground floors adjacent to sidewalks or public spaces and 
designed to maximize safety, comfort, aesthetics, and the intended functionality (as 
defined by the Place Type). 
 

 CD-3.6 Managed Infrastructure. We collaborate with developers and 
property owners to facilitate development that realizes the envisioned character and 
functionality of the Place Type through the use of green and shared infrastructure within 
each Place Type. 
 

 Goal CD-5 Protection of Investment: A sustained level of maintenance and 
improvement of properties, buildings, and infrastructure that protects the property values 
and encourages additional public and private investments. 
 

 CD-5.1 Maintenance of Buildings and Property. We require all public and 
privately-owned buildings and property (including trails and easements) to be properly 
and consistently maintained. 
 

 CD-5.2 Maintenance of Infrastructure. We require the continual 
maintenance of infrastructure. 
 
HOUSING ELEMENT COMPLIANCE: The project is consistent with the Housing Element of 
the Policy Plan (general plan) component of The Ontario Plan 2050, as the project site is 
not one of the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 
(Housing Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

Item H - 11 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 12 of 26 

PART 2: RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq.) ("CEQA") and an initial study 
has been prepared to determine possible environmental impacts; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Ontario Center Specific Plan Environmental Impact Report (State 
Clearinghouse No. 1989041009) was certified on March 19, 1991, (hereinafter referred to 
as “Certified EIR”), in which development and use of the Project site was discussed in the 
Amendment to the Ontario Center Specific Plan (File No. 4059-SPA); and 
 

WHEREAS, a Mitigated Negative Declaration was subsequently adopted on May 
16, 2017, (hereinafter referred to as “MND”), in which development and use of the Project 
site was discussed in association with an Amendment to the Ontario Center Specific Plan 
(File No. PSPA16-003); and 

 
WHEREAS, an Addendum to the Ontario Center Specific Plan Environmental 

Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 1989041009) was adopted by the City Council 
on April 19, 2022 (hereinafter referred to as “EIR Addendum), in conjunction with File No. 
PSPA21-001, a Specific Plan Amendment to the Piemonte Overlay at the Ontario Center 
Specific Plan, in which development and use of the Project site was discussed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the environmental impacts of this Project were thoroughly analyzed in 
the Certified EIR and EIR Addendum, which concluded that implementation of the 
Project could result in a number of significant effects on the environment and identified 
mitigation measures that would reduce each of those significant effects to a less-than-
significant level; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City's "Local Guidelines for the Implementation of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA)" provide for the use of a single environmental 
assessment in situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are adequately 
analyzed; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the 
Development Advisory Board (hereinafter referred to as "DAB") the responsibility and 
authority to review and make recommendation to the Planning Commission on the 
subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, Piemonte Overlay Subarea 13 is owned by the City and is planned to 
be developed with a parking structure and will not utilize the full 115,000 square feet of 
mixed-use development capacity; 

 
WHEREAS, Piemonte Overlay provides planning and development flexibility by 

allowing development equivalency of 1 dwelling unit for every 600 non-residential square 
feet; and 

 

Item H - 12 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 13 of 26 

WHEREAS, Piemonte Overlay Subarea 17 can utilize 53,400 square feet of mixed-
use, or 89 dwelling units, of development capacity anticipated in Subarea 13; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the 
opportunity to review and comment on the Application, and no comments were 
received opposing the proposed development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element 
of the Policy Plan component of The Ontario Plan 2050, as State Housing Element law (as 
prescribed in Government Code Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that 
development projects must be consistent with the Housing Element, if upon consideration 
of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and policies of the 
Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario 
International Airport, which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, 
and Los Angeles Counties, and is subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and 
criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan 
(hereinafter referred to as "ONT ALUCP"), which applies only to jurisdictions within San 
Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight 
impacts of current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) 
prescribes the manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing 
procedures to be followed, and all such notifications and procedures have been 
completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, on November 20, 2023, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a 
hearing on the Application and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

PART 3: THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND, DETERMINED AND DECIDED by the 
Development Advisory Board of the City of Ontario as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending 
body for the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained 
in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation. Based upon the facts and 
information contained in the previous Certified EIR and supporting documentation, the 
DAB finds as follows: 
 
(1) The environmental impacts of the Project were reviewed in conjunction with an 
Addendum to the Ontario Center Specific Plan Environmental Impact Report (State 

Item H - 13 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 14 of 26 

Clearinghouse No. 1989041009) (“Certified EIR”), certified by the Ontario City Council on 
March 19, 1991, in conjunction with File No. 4059-SPA; in combination with an Addendum 
to the Mitigated Negative Declaration (“MND”), adopted by the Ontario City Council on 
May 17, 2017, in conjunction with File No. PSPA16-003; in combination with an Addendum 
to the Ontario Center Specific Plan Environmental Impact Report, adopted by the City 
Council on April 19, 2022, in conjunction with File No. PSPA21-001; and 
 
(2) The previous Certified EIR, MND, and addenda, contain a complete and accurate 
reporting of the environmental impacts associated with the Project; and 
 
(3) The previous Certified EIR, MND, and addenda were completed in compliance 
with CEQA and the Guidelines promulgated thereunder, and the City of Ontario Local 
CEQA Guidelines; and 
 
(4) The previous Certified EIR, MND, and addenda reflect the independent judgment 
of the Development Advisory Board; and 
 
(5) The proposed Project will introduce no new significant environmental impacts 
beyond those previously analyzed in the previous Certified EIR, MND, and addenda, and 
all mitigation measures previously adopted with the Certified EIR and MND, are 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 2: Subsequent or Supplemental Environmental Review Not Required. 
Based on the information presented to the DAB, and the specific findings set forth in 
Section 1, above, the DAB finds that the preparation of a subsequent or supplemental 
Certified EIR is not required for the Project, as the Project: 
 
(1) Does not constitute substantial changes to the Certified EIR that will require major 
revisions to the Certified EIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental 
effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; 
and 
 
(2) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(3) Does not constitute substantial changes with respect to the circumstances under 
which the Certified EIR was prepared, that will require major revisions to the Certified EIR 
due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase 
in the severity of the previously identified significant effects; and 
 
(4) Does not contain new information of substantial importance that was not known 
and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time 
the Certified EIR was certified/adopted, that shows any of the following: 
 

Item H - 14 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 15 of 26 

(a) The Project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the 
Certified EIR; or 

 
(b) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe 

than shown in the Certified EIR; or 
 
(c) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible 

would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
of the Project, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or 

 
(d) Mitigation measures or alternatives considerably different from those 

analyzed in the Certified EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant effects 
on the environment, but which the City declined to adopt. 
 

SECTION 3: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of 
California Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, 
as the recommending body for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and 
information contained in the Application and supporting documentation, at the time of 
Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan 2050, as the Project site is not one of 
the properties in the Housing Element Sites contained in Tables B-1 and B-2 (Housing 
Element Sites Inventory) of the Housing Element Technical Report. 
 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial 
evidence presented to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the 
facts and information set forth in Parts I (Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), 
above, and the determinations set forth in Sections 1 and 3, above, the DAB hereby 
concludes as follows: 
 
(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council 
Priorities components of The Ontario Plan 2050. The proposed Project is located within the 
Mixed-Use land use district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the Piemonte Overlay 
at the Ontario Center Specific Plan area. The development standards and conditions 
under which the proposed Project will be constructed and maintained, is consistent with 
the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City 
Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan 2050; and 
 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation 
to location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint 
identified on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The 
Project has been designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario 
Development Code and the Piemonte Overlay at the Ontario Center Specific Plan, 
including standards relative to the particular land use proposed (mixed-use), as-well-as 
building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, number of off-street 

Item H - 15 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 16 of 26 

parking and loading spaces, on-site and off-site landscaping, and fences, walls and 
obstructions; and 
 
(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary 
to protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the 
proposed Project. The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, 
and impose certain conditions of approval, which have been established to ensure that: 
[i] the purposes of the Piemonte Overlay at the Ontario Center Specific Plan are 
maintained; [ii] the Project will not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; 
[iii] the Project will not result in any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will 
be in harmony with the area in which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full 
conformity with the Vision, City Council Priorities and Policy Plan components of The 
Ontario Plan 2050, and the Piemonte Overlay at the Ontario Center Specific Plan; and 
 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or 
planned unit development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with 
the general development standards and guidelines of the Piemonte Overlay at the 
Ontario Center Specific Plan that are applicable to the proposed Project, including 
building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, amount of off-street 
parking and loading spaces, parking lot dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle 
parking, on-site landscaping, and fences and walls, as-well-as those development 
standards and guidelines specifically related to the particular land use being proposed 
(mixed-use). As a result of this review, the Development Advisory Board has determined 
that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will 
be consistent with the development standards and guidelines described in the Piemonte 
Overlay at the Ontario Center Specific Plan. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and 
conclusions set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby recommends the 
Planning Commission APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set 
forth in the Conditions of Approval included as Attachment A of this Decision, and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, 
action or proceeding against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to 
attack, set aside, void or annul this approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the 
applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall 
cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute 
the record of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the 
City of Ontario City Hall, 303 East "B" Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for 

Item H - 16 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 17 of 26 

these records is the City Clerk of the City of Ontario. The records are available for 
inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 20th day of November 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 

  

Item H - 17 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 18 of 26 

Exhibit A: PROJECT LOCATION MAP 
 

 
 

Item H - 18 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 19 of 26 

Exhibit B: SITE PLAN 
 

  

Item H - 19 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 20 of 26 

Exhibit C: FLOOR PLAN 

  
 

GROUND FLOOR 

SEMI-SUBTERRANEAN PARKING 

Item H - 20 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 21 of 26 

Exhibit C: FLOOR PLAN 

 

 
 

2ND FLOOR 

3RD & 4TH FLOORS 

Item H - 21 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 22 of 26 

Exhibit C: FLOOR PLAN 

 
 

5th & 6th  FLOORS 

Item H - 22 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 23 of 26 

Exhibit D: ELEVATIONS 

 
 

 
  

North Elevation 

East Elevation 

South Elevation 

West Elevation 

Item H - 23 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 24 of 26 

Exhibit E: PIEMONTE OVERLAY SUBAREA MAP 
 

 
  

Subarea 17 

Subarea 13 

Item H - 24 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 25 of 26 

Exhibit F: SITE PHOTOS 

 
 

 

  

2 

1 

Photo Key 

Item H - 25 of 43



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV23-038 
November 20, 2023 
 

Page 26 of 26 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A: Conditions of Approval 
 

(Conditions of Approval follow this page) 
 

Item H - 26 of 43



 

Page 1 of 6 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
Date Prepared: 10/26/2023 
 
File No: PDEV23-038 
 
Related Files: PDEV22-014 
 
Project Description: A Development Plan Modification to File No. PDEV22-014, to increase 
height of Building B from 5 to 6 stories, increase building square footage from 221,730 to 387,598 
square feet, and increase the unit count from 112 to 201 units, located on 2.37 acres of land 
located at 4000 Ontario Center Parkway; (APN: 0210-205-01); submitted by Adept Development. 
 
Prepared By: Edmelynne V. Hutter, Senior Planner 

Phone: 909.395.2429 (direct) 
Email: ehutter@ontarioca.gov 

 
 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 
 
1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 
 
2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 
 

2.1 Time Limits. 
 

(a) Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years following 
the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and construction is 
commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has been approved 
by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time limits specified 
herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, for the 
performance of specific conditions or improvements. 
 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

 
(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency, 

including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 
and irrigation, grading, utility and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 

Item H - 27 of 43



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 2 of 6 

 
(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 

plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for project, which shall be maintained on site during project 
construction. 
 

2.3 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department; 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 
 

2.4 Walls and Fences. All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements 
of Ontario Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 
 

2.5 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading and 
lighting requirements of the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan and City of 
Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and Loading). Parking requirements 
for commercial uses within the Project may be accommodated by surrounding public parking 
facilities. 
 

(b) All drive approaches shall be provided with an enhanced pavement 
treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the approach apron, into the site, 
to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space. The design material of the enhanced paving 
shall be subject to Planning Department review and approval prior to permit issuance. 

 
(c) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 

parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 

 

Item H - 28 of 43



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 3 of 6 

(d) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 
shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 

 
(e) At plan check submittal, the Applicant shall demonstrate adequate 

circulation and truck turning radii for trash trucks within the residential parking areas. 
 

(f) The Applicant shall consult with the Fire Department, Planning Department 
and other affected Departments, to accommodate emergency vehicle access in the plaza areas 
between Building A and Building B. Prior to plan check submittal, the Applicant shall provide 
dimensions, detailed plans showing compliance with emergency vehicle access requirements. 

 
(g) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 

by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 

 
(h) Bicycle parking facilities, including bicycle racks, lockers, and other secure 

facilities, shall be provided in conjunction with development projects pursuant to current 
regulations contained in CALGreen (CAC Title 24, Part 11). Final design and placement of bicycle 
parking facilities shall be subject to Planning Department review and approval. 
 

2.6 Outdoor Loading and Storage Areas. 
 

(a) Loading facilities shall be designed and constructed pursuant to 
Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and Loading). 
 

(b) Areas designated for off-street parking, loading, and vehicular circulation 
and maneuvering, shall not be used for the outdoor storage of materials or equipment. 
 

(c) Outdoor loading and storage areas, and loading doors, shall be screened 
from public view pursuant to the requirements of Development Code Paragraph 6.02.025.A.2 
(Screening of Outdoor Loading and Storage Areas, and Loading Doors) Et Seq. 
 

(d) Outdoor loading and storage areas shall be provided with gates that are 
view-obstructing by one of the following methods: 
 

(i) Construct gates with a perforated metal sheet affixed to the inside 
of the gate surface (50 percent screen); or 

(ii) Construct gates with minimum one-inch square tube steel pickets 
spaced at maximum 2-inches apart. 
 

(e) The minimum gate height for screen wall openings shall be established 
based upon the corresponding wall height, as follows: 
 

Screen Wall Height Minimum Gate Height 

14 feet: 10 feet 

12 feet: 9 feet 

10 feet: 8 feet 

Item H - 29 of 43



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 4 of 6 

Screen Wall Height Minimum Gate Height 

8 feet: 8 feet 

6 feet: 6 feet 
 

2.7 Site Lighting. 
 

(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security 
lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.08 (Special Residential Building 
Provisions) and Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial Building Provisions), designed to 
confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall be lighted from sunset until sunrise, 
daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 
 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity, 
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 
 

2.8 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 
 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning 
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated so as to be consistent with the 
building architecture. 
 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks, 
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 
 

2.9 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 
 

2.10 Signs.  
 

(a) All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations). 
 

2.11 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noise levels set forth in Ontario Municipal Code 
Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 
 

2.12 Environmental Requirements.  
 

(a) The environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in 
conjunction with File No. 4059-SPA, and Amendment to the Ontario Center specific Plan, for which 
the Ontario Center Specific Plan Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 
1989041009) was previously adopted by the City Council on March 19, 1991. In addition, the 
environmental impacts of this Project were previously reviewed in conjunction with File No. 
PSPA21-001, a Specific Plan Amendment for the Piemonte Overlay at the Ontario Center Specific 
Plan for which an Addendum to the Ontario Center Specific Plan (State Clearing House 
#1989041009) was previously adopted by the Planning Commission on April 14, 2022. The 

Item H - 30 of 43



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 5 of 6 

application introduces no new significant environmental impacts. The City’s “Guidelines for the 
Implementation of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) provide for the use of a 
single environmental assessment in situations where the impacts of subsequent projects are 
adequately analyzed. The previously adopted mitigation measures shall be a condition of project 
approval and are incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
(b) If human remains are found during project 

grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 
 

(c) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 
 

2.13 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

2.14 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of 
Determination (“NOD”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be 
paid by check, made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded 
to the San Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable 
environmental forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (“CEQA”). Failure to provide said fee within the time specified will result in the extension of the 
statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 180 days. 
 

(b) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 
building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 
 

2.15 Public Art. The Project is subject to the requirements of the City’s Public Art 
Ordinance (Ontario Municipal Code Section 5-33.05. Private Art for Public Enjoyment in 
Commercial and Industrial Development Projects). 

 
2.16 Final Occupancy. The Project Architect of record will certify that construction of 

each building site and the exterior elevations of each structure shall be completed in compliance 
with the approved plans. Any deviation to approved plans shall require a resubmittal to the 
Planning Department for review and approval prior to construction. The Occupancy Release 
Request Form/Architect Certificate of Compliance shall be provided prior to final occupancy. 
After the receipt of this Certification, the Planning Department will conduct a final site and exterior 
elevations inspection. The Owner’s Representative and Contractor shall be present. 
 

Item H - 31 of 43



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV23-015 
 
 

Page 6 of 6 

2.17 Additional Requirements. 
 

(a) All applicable conditions of approval for PDEV22-014 shall remain valid and 
in effect.  Refer to Planning Commission Resolution No. PC22-031. 
 

(b) Tandem configuration parking spaces shall be assigned to the same 
residential unit. 

 
(c) Prior to plan check submittal, the Project design shall be refined to comply 

with the following: 
 

(i) Building setback requirements. 
 

(ii) Private and common open space requirements. 
 

(iii) Residential storage space requirements. 
 

Item H - 32 of 43



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
 
TO:  Edmelynne Hutter, Senior Planner 
  Planning Department 
 
FROM:  Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 
  Fire Department 
 
DATE:  October 12, 2023 
 
SUBJECT: PDEV23-038 - A Development Plan Modification to File No. PDEV22-014, 

to increase height of Building B from 4 to 5 stories, increase building SF 
from 221,730 to 387,598 SF, and increase unit count from 112 to 201 units, 
located on 0.43 acres of land located at 4000 East Ontario Center Parkway, 
within the Mixed-Use land use district of the Piemonte Overlay of the 
Ontario Center Specific Plan (APNs: 0210-205-01); submitted by Adept 
Development.  

 
 

   The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time.  

   Standard Conditions of Approval apply, as stated below. 

 
 
SITE AND BUILDING FEATURES: 
 

A. 2019 CBC Type of Construction:  Not Listed 
 

B. Type of Roof Materials:  Ordinary 
 

C. Ground Floor Area(s):  89,825 Sq. Ft. 
 

D. Number of Stories:  5 
 

E. Total Square Footage:  387,598 Sq. Ft.  
 

F. 2019 CBC Occupancy Classification(s):  R2 
 
 
 

 

Item H - 33 of 43



 
2 of 5  

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 

1.0 GENERAL 
 

  1.1 The following are the Ontario Fire Department (“Fire Department”) requirements for this 
development project, based on the current edition of the California Fire Code (CFC), and the 
current versions of the Fire Prevention Standards (“Standards.”) It is recommended that the 
applicant or developer transmit a copy of these requirements to the on-site contractor(s) and 
that all questions or concerns be directed to the Bureau of Fire Prevention, at (909) 395-2029. 
For copies of Ontario Fire Department Standards please access the City of Ontario web site at 
www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention.  

 
  1.2 These Fire Department conditions of approval are to be included on any and all construction 

drawings.  
 
2.0 FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 
 

  2.1 Fire Department vehicle access roadways shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all portions of 
the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved. Roadways 
shall be paved with an all-weather surface and shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24) ft. wide. 
See Standard #B-004.   

 
  2.2 In order to allow for adequate turning radius for emergency fire apparatus, all turns shall be 

designed to meet the minimum twenty five feet (25’) inside and forty-five feet (45’) outside 
turning radius per Standard #B-005.   

 
  2.3 Fire Department access roadways that exceed one hundred and fifty feet (150’) in length shall 

have an approved turn-around per Standard #B-002.   
 

  2.4 Access drive aisles which cross property lines shall be provided with CC&Rs, access 
easements, or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected 
properties, and copies of same shall be provided at the time of building plan check. 

 
  2.5 "No Parking-Fire Lane" signs and /or red painted curbs with lettering are required to be instal-

led in interior access roadways, in locations where vehicle parking would obstruct the 
minimum clear width requirement. Installation shall be per Standard #B-001.  

 
  2.6 Security gates or other barriers on fire access roadways shall be provided with a Knox brand 

key switch or padlock to allow Fire Department access.  See Standards #B-003, B-004 and H-
001. 

 
  2.7 Any time PRIOR to on-site combustible construction and/or storage, a minimum twenty-four 

(24) ft. wide circulating all weather access roads shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all 
portions of the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved by 
fire department and other emergency services. 
 
 

 

Item H - 34 of 43

http://www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention


 
3 of 5  

 

3.0 WATER SUPPLY 
 

  3.1 The required fire flow per Fire Department standards, based on the 2019 California Fire Code, 
Appendix B, is 4000  gallons per minute (g.p.m.) for 4 hours at a minimum of 20 pounds per 
square inch (p.s.i.) residual operating pressure. 

 
  3.2 Off-site (public) fire hydrants are required to be installed on all frontage streets, at a minimum 

spacing of three hundred foot (300’) apart, per Engineering Department specifications.  
 

  3.3 Buildings that exceed 100,000 square feet in floor area shall provide an onsite looped fire 
protection water line around the building(s.) The loops shall be required to have two or more 
points of connection from a public circulating water main. 
 

  3.4 The water supply, including water mains and fire hydrants, shall be tested and approved by the 
Engineering Department and Fire Department prior to combustible construction to assure 
availability and reliability for firefighting purposes.  

 
4.0 FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS 
 

  4.1 On-site private fire hydrants are required per Standard #D-005, and identified in accordance 
with Standard #D-002.  Installation and locations(s) are subject to the approval of the Fire 
Department. An application with detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit 
shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work being done.    

 
  4.2 Underground fire mains which cross property lines shall be provided with CC & R, easements, 

or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected properties, and 
copies of same shall be provided at the time of fire department plan check. The shared use of 
private fire mains or fire pumps is allowable only between immediately adjacent properties 
and shall not cross any public street. 

 
  4.3 An automatic fire sprinkler system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with 

National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 13. All new fire sprinkler systems, 
except those in single family dwellings, which contain twenty (20) sprinkler heads or more 
shall be monitored by an approved listed supervising station. An application along with 
detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire 
Department, prior to any work being done.   

 
  4.4 Wood frame buildings that are to be sprinkled shall have these systems in service (but not 

necessarily finaled) before the building is enclosed.  
 

  4.5 Fire Department Connections (FDC) shall be located on the address side of the building within 
one hundred fifty feet (150’) of a public fire hydrant on the same side of the street.  Provide 
identification for all fire sprinkler control valves and fire department connections per Standard 
#D-007. Raised curbs adjacent to Fire Department connection(s) shall be painted red, five feet 
either side, per City standards. 

 
  4.6 A fire alarm system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 72. An application along with detailed plans shall be 

Item H - 35 of 43



 
4 of 5  

 

submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work 
being done.  

 
  4.7 Portable fire extinguishers are required to be installed prior to occupancy per Standard #C-001.  

Please contact the Fire Prevention Bureau to determine the exact number, type and placement 
required. 

 
  4.8 A fixed fire extinguishing system is required for the protection of hood, duct, plenum and 

cooking surfaces.  This system must comply with National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 
Standards 17A and 96. An application with detailed plans shall be submitted, and a 
construction permit shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work being done.  

 
5.0 BUILDING CONSTRUCTION FEATURES 
 

  5.1 The developer/general contractor is to be responsible for reasonable periodic cleanup of the 
development during construction to avoid hazardous accumulations of combustible trash and 
debris both on and off the site. 

 
  5.2 Approved numbers or addresses shall be placed on all new and existing buildings in such a 

position as to be plainly visible and legible from the street or road fronting the property.  Multi-
tenant or building projects shall have addresses and/or suite numbers provided on the rear of 
the building.  Address numbers shall contrast with their background. See Section 9-1 6.06 of 
the Ontario Municipal Code and Standards #H-003 and #H-002.  
 

  5.3 Single station smoke alarms and carbon monoxide alarms are required to be installed per the 
California Building Code and the California Fire Code.  
 

  5.4 Multiple unit building complexes shall have building directories provided at the main 
entrances.  The directories shall be designed to the requirements of the Fire Department, see 
Section 9-1 6.06 of the Ontario Municipal Code and Standard #H-003. .  
 

  5.5  All residential chimneys shall be equipped with an approved spark arrester meeting the 
requirements of the California Building Code. 

 
  5.6 Knox ® brand key-box(es) shall be installed in location(s) acceptable to the Fire Department. 

All Knox boxes shall be monitored for tamper by the building fire alarm system. See Standard 
#H-001 for specific requirements. 

 
  5.7  Placards shall be installed in acceptable locations on buildings that store, use or handle 

hazardous materials in excess of the quantities specified in the CFC. Placards shall meet the 
requirements of National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 704.  

 
6.0 OTHER SPECIAL USES 
 

  6.1 The storage, use, dispensing, or handling of any hazardous materials shall be approved by the 
Fire Department, and adequate fire protection features shall be required.  If hazardous materials 
are proposed, a Fire Department Hazardous Materials Information Packet, including 

Item H - 36 of 43



 
5 of 5  

 

Disclosure Form and Information Worksheet, shall be completed and submitted with Material 
Safety Data Sheets to the Fire Department along with building construction plans. 
 

7.0 PROJECT SPECIFIC CONDITIONS 
 
NOTE:    A private fire hydrant shall be required at the cul-de-sac to the West of Building B. Exact location can be worked   

out at a later date.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item H - 37 of 43



Item H - 38 of 43



Item H - 39 of 43



Item H - 40 of 43



Item H - 41 of 43



AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone Avigation Easement 
Dedication

Real Estate Transaction

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PDEV22-014 & PDEV23-038

4000 East Ontario Center Prkwy

210-205-01, 210-204-38 & 39

Vacant/Parking lot/Toyota Arena

Development Plan to construct a mixed use building totaling 387,598 SF & 201 
multi-family units

Site Acreage: 2.37 

ONT-IAC Project Review: n/a

ONT

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) and was
evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP)
for ONT.

✔

✔

✔

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Edmelynne Hutter

6/9/2022

2022-028 REV 1

n/a

75 ft

85 - 90 FT

✔

Item H - 42 of 43



CD No.:

PALU No.:
AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 2

PROJECT CONDITIONS

1. The applicant is required to meet the Real Estate Transaction Disclosure in accordance with California Codes
(Business and Professions Code Section 11010-11024). New residential subdivisions within an Airport Influence Area 
are required to file an application for a Public Report consisting of a Notice of Intention (NOI) and a completed 
questionnaire with the Department of Real Estate and include the following language within the NOI:

NOTICE OF AIRPORT IN VICINITY
This property is presently located in the vicinity of an airport, within what is known as an airport influence area. For 
that reason, the property may be subject to some of the annoyances or inconveniences associated with proximity to 
airport operations (for example: noise, vibration, or odors). Individual sensitivities to those annoyances can vary from 
person to person. You may wish to consider what airport annoyances, if any, are associated with the property before 
you complete your purchase and determine whether they are acceptable to you.

2. The maximum height limit for the project site is 85 to 90 feet and as such, any construction equipment such as cranes 
or any other equipment exceeding 80 feet in height will need a determination of "No Hazard" from the FAA. An FAA 
Form 7460-1 for any temporary objects will need be filed with the FAA and approved prior to operating such 
equipment on the project site during construction.

2022-028 REV 1

Item H - 43 of 43


	20231120 DAB Agenda
	AGENDA
	November 20, 2023
	Scott Murphy, Executive Director, Community Development Agency
	Jennifer McLain Hiramoto, Economic Development Director
	Fire Marshal Paul Ehrman, Fire Department


	20231120 Item A DAB Minutes
	BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT
	BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT
	STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT
	PUBLIC COMMENTS
	CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS

	20231120 Item B PDEV23-004
	20231120 File No. PDEV23-004^03 COA Depts.pdf
	PDEV23-004 Engineering Conditions of Approval 11-20-23
	PDEV23-004 Landscape Planning
	PDEV23-004 Fire COAs_03-06-23
	PDEV23-004 PD Standard COAs_03-01-23
	PDEV23-004 - Comm Improvement_02-23-23


	20231120 Item C PDEV23-023
	20231120 File No. PDEV23-023_Mathis Brothers ^01 AR
	20231120 File No. PDEV23-023_Mathis Brothers ^02 COAs
	ADPA40B.tmp
	CITY OF ONTARIO
	MEMORANDUM
	BRIEF DESCRIPTION
	CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: The Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) recommends this application for approval subject to the conditions outlined below and compliance with the City’s Design Development Guidelines, Specifications Design Criteria, and ...

	August 21, 2023
	DATE:
	Antonio Alejos, Engineering   
	TO:
	Lorena Mejia, Planning
	CC:
	Peter Tran, Utilities Engineering
	FROM:
	DPR #1 – Conditions of Approval - Utilties Comments (#8465)  
	SUBJECT:
	PDEV23-023 (A Development Plan to construct 51,000 sqft addition to existing Mathis Brothers at 4105 E. Inland Empire Boulevard)
	PROJECT NO.:



	20231120 Item D PDEV21-011
	20231120 Item E PDEV22-033
	20231120 Item F PDEV23-013
	20231120 File No. PDEV23-013_Brookfield Industrial ^01 AR
	20231120 File No. PDEV23-013_Brookfield Industrial ^02 Planning COAs
	20231120 File No. PDEV23-013_Brookfield Industrial ^03 Dept COAs

	20231120 Item G PDEV23-015
	File No. PDEV23-015^03_Other dept COA.pdf
	CD2023-007_PDEV23-015.pdf
	ADP2901.tmp
	Sheet1




	20231120 Item H PDEV23-038

	Only DAB action is required: Off
	Both DAB and Planning Commission actions are required: Off
	Only Planning Commission action is required: Off
	DAB Planning Commission and City Council actions are required: Off
	Only Zoning Administrator action is required: Off
	The plan does adequately address the departmental concerns at this time: On
	The plan does not adequately address the departmental concerns: Off
	No comments: On
	Report attached 1 copy and email 1 copy: Off
	Standard Conditions of Approval apply: Off
	The conditions contained in the attached report must be met prior to scheduling for: Off
	Department: ENG/ENV
	Title: Engineering Assistant
	Date: 8/21/23


